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Introduction
The eighteenth session of the ninth Parliament was the 
Budget Session of the Parliament, which started on 03 June 
2013 and ended on 16 July 2013. The Finance Minister 
placed the National Budget for financial year (FY) 2013-14 
on June 6, 2013 and passed on June 30, 2013. As a tradition 
the budget is placed on second Thursday of June (e.g., 2008-
09, 2009-10 and 2010-11 budgets placed on 11.06.2009, 
10.06.2010 and 09.06.2011 respectively), but from last year 
(2012-13), budget is being placed on first Thursday of June 
considering the potential delay if second Thursday is 
maintained. This year's budget placement is the fourth 
consecutive digital presentation of budget speech. The 
speech is a comprehensive printed document of 190 pages in 
English version and 197 pages in Bangla version. In FY 
2012-13, changes in Indirect Tax measures were made 
effective from July 1 in place of budget date; but this 
practice is not continued this year (FY 2013-14).

This year's overall budget has a size of Tk. 222,491 crore 
(18.72 percent of gross domestic product or GDP), which is 
2.6 percent higher than last year's revised budget (Tk. 
189,326 crore and 18.24 percent of GDP). Annual 
development program (ADP) consists of 29.6 percent of this 
year's budget (25.8 percent higher than last year's revised 
budget) and the remaining 70.4 percent is non-ADP 
expenditures (14.4 percent higher than last year's revised 
budget). Overall budget of FY 2013-14 will be financed by 
as follows: 63.5 percent from tax revenue and 11.8 percent 
from nontax revenue (61.7 percent and 12.1 percent 
respectively in last year's revised budget). Hence, the budget 
deficit (excluding foreign grant) is 24.7 percent of total 
expenditure or 4.6 percent of GDP (26.2 percent of total 
expenditure or 4.8 percent of GDP in last year's revised 

budget). However, the growing revenue surplus (Tk. 53,988 
crore in FY 2013-14 against Tk. 36,778 crore in revised 
budget of FY 2012-13 with a substantial increase of 46.8 
percent, vide GOB, 2013c) is a good progress towards self-
dependency. But this revenue surplus is also affected by the 
dependency on indirect taxes, which is slowly declining over 
the years (61.5 percent of total taxes being targeted to be 
collected from indirect taxes in FY 2013-14, which was 65.1 
percent in preceding year's revised budget). This paper 
mainly focuses on the income tax aspects of the National 
Budget 2013-14 and also gives an enumeration of salient 
amendments in the income tax laws by the Finance Act 2013 
and other relevant SROs (statutory rules and orders).

2.0 Objective and Methodology

The main purpose of the paper is to give a comprehensive 
enumeration of various changed aspects of income taxes 
relevant for assessment year 2013-14 and income year 
ending on a date in the financial year 2012-13. For this 
purpose, the Finance Bill 2013, the Finance Act 2013 to 
amend the Income Tax Ordinance 1984, SROs issued to 
amend the Income Tax Rules 1984, other various SROs 
issued to incorporate new provisions or withdraw/amend 
existing provisions and the circular (Paripatra) issued by the 
Direct Tax Wing of the National Board of Revenue (NBR) 
have been consulted to enumerate potential impacts of those 
changes. 

3.0  Income Tax Aspects within the National Budget 
2013-14

As shown in Table 1, total income tax revenue target for 
financial year (FY) 2013-14 is at Tk. 48,297 crore with 
36.82 percent increase over that of revised budget for FY 
2012-13. This amount is 34.20 percent of the total tax target 
of Tk. 141,219 crore, 35.49 percent of the NBR's tax target 
of Tk. 136,090 crore and 28.84 percent of the total revenue
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target of Tk. 167,459 crore. In FY 2013-14, income tax will 
finance 21.71 percent if total expenditure of Tk. 222,491 
crore. The income tax-GDP ratio was 3.40 percent in FY 
2012-13, and it is expected to be 4.06 percent in FY 2013-14 
(overall tax-GDP ratio expected to be 11.88 in FY 2013-14). 
In the revised budget of 2012-13, the corporate-non-
corporate income tax ratio was 62:38, which is expected to 
be 67:33 in FY 2013-14. Thus, corporate income tax is 
targeted to be increased by 47.99 percent, whereas non-
corporate income tax is targeted to be increased by 18.61 
percent.

Table 1: Income Tax Revenue Target in the Budget

Sources: Compiled from GOB (2012); GOB (2013c); GOB (2013d).

4.0 Structure of the Finance Act 2013

The Finance Minister placed the Finance Bill 2013 in the 
Parliament just after his budget speech on 6 June 2013 to 
effect the fiscal measures proposed in the national budget 
2013-14. The Finance Bill was passed on 29 June 2013 and 
Presidential assent was given to it on 30 June 2013 and 
published in the official Gazette on the same day as the 
Finance Act 2013 (Act No. 25 of 2013). The structures of the 
Finance Act 2013 (FA 13) are as follows:

Sources: GOB (2013b), The Finance Act 2012.

Thus, major changes have been made in the Income Tax 
Ordinance 1984 (ITO). Following sections have enumerated 
an analysis of these changes.

5.0 Amendments in the Income Tax Ordinance

Major structural and other changes in the income tax rates 
and other changes made in income tax laws have been stated 
below:

A.  Changes in Income Tax Rates:

Tax rate of Individual, Mobile Phone Operator Company 
and Cigarette manufacturing company has been changed 
while minimum tax for individual taxpayers has been re-
structured depending on taxpayer's locality. The details are 
as follows:

1.  Individual tax rate [Finance Act 2013]

2. Minimum tax for individual taxpayers based on their 
location [Finance Act 2013]: Minimum tax for individual 
taxpayer has been re-structured as under:

Minimum tax is payable only in case total income exceeds 
non taxable income ceiling. If the total income is below 
taxable then no minimum tax is payable.
3.  Surcharge for individual taxpayer [Finance Act 2013]: 
Surcharge for individual taxpayer has been re-structured as 
under:

Previously only 10% surcharge was applicable when net 
wealth exceeds Tk. 2 crore.
4.  Minimum tax for partnership firm [Section 16CCC]: 
Every partnership firm having gross receipts of more than 
Tk. 50,00,000/ will be required to pay minimum tax 
@0.50% on its gross receipt or tax calculated on the basis of 
total income whichever is higher.
5.  Tax rate of mobile phone operator (listed) company 
[Finance Act 2013]: Tax rate of listed mobile phone 
operator company has been raised from 35% to 40%. At 
present Grameen Phone is the only listed mobile phone 
Operator Company in Bangladesh.
6.  Tax rate of Cigarette manufacturing company [Finance 
Act 2013]: Tax rate of Cigarette manufacturing company has 
been re-fixed as under:

7.  New reduced tax rate on income from fisheries, 
hatchery etc. [S.R.O. No. 208 dated 01/7/2013]: Tax rate on 
income from fisheries, hatchery etc. has been further 
reduced from 5% to 3% effective for 2 years from the 
assessment year 2014-15. 
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Income Tax Parameters 
Revised Budget 

2012-13 

Budget  

2013-14 

% Increase 

over FY13 

Taxes on Income and Profit (crore taka) 35,300 48,297 36.82 

   Companies 21,886 32,388 47.99 

   Other than companies 13,414 15,910 18.61 

Taxes on Income and Profit as a percent of:    

Total NBR Tax Revenue 31.45 35.49 12.86 

Total Tax Revenue 30.22 34.20 13.18 

Total Revenue 25.27 28.84 14.11 

Total Expenditure 18.65 21.71 16.42 

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 3.40 4.06 19.46 

Chapter Coverage of the Tax Laws Finance Act 2013 

First Preliminaries (Short title and commencement) Section 1 01 section 

Second Stamp Act, 1899 (Act II of 1899) Sections 2-3 02 section 

Third Customs Act, 1969 (Act IV of 1969) Sections 4-7 04 sections 

Fourth Income-tax Ordinance, 1984 (Ord. No. 36 of 1984) Sections 8-36 29 sections 

Fifth VAT Act 1991 (Act No. 22 of 1991) Sections 37-43 07 sections 

Sixth Schedules -- -- 

Total  Sections 1-43 43 sections 

a General Tax Rate     

 Old   New  

 on first Tk.2,00,000 Nil  on first Tk. 2,20,000 Nil 

 on next Tk. 3,00,000 10%  on next Tk. 3,00,000 10% 

 on next Tk. 4,00,000 15%  on next Tk. 4,00,000 15% 

 on next Tk. 3,00,000 20%  on next Tk. 3,00,000 20% 

 on balance of total income 25%  on balance of total income 25% 

b Tax rate for women  and senior citizen (65 years & above) 

 Old   New  

 on first Tk. 2,25,000 Nil  on first Tk. 2,50,000 Nil 

 on next Tk. 3,00,000 10%  on next Tk. 3,00,000 10% 

 on next Tk. 4,00,000 15%  on next Tk. 4,00,000 15% 

 on next Tk. 3,00,000 20%  on next Tk. 3,00,000 20% 

 on balance of total income 25%  on balance of total income 25% 

c Tax rate for disabled person     

 Old   New  

 on first Tk. 2,75,000 Nil  on first Tk. 3,00,000 Nil 

 on next Tk. 3,00,000 10%  on next Tk. 3,00,000 10% 

 on next Tk. 4,00,000 15%  on next Tk. 4,00,000 15% 

 on next Tk. 3,00,000 20%  on next Tk. 3,00,000 20% 

 on balance of total income 25%  on balance of total income 25% 

Area Tax 

For City corporation area’s assessee Tk.3,000 

For Pourashava at district town’s assessee Tk.2,000 

For other area including upazila’s assessee Tk.1,000 

Net Wealth ceiling Rate of surcharge 

In case, net asset does not exceed Tk.2 crore Nil 

In case,net asset exceeds Tk.2 crore but does not exceed Tk. 10 crore 10% of tax 

In case, net asset exceeds Tk.10 crore 15% of tax 

Category Previous Tax Rate New Tax Rate 

Publicly traded company 35% 40% 

Non publicly traded company 42.5% 45% 



8.  New reduced tax rate on income from production of 
pelleted feed for fish, shrimp and cattle [S.R.O. No. 208 dated 
01/7/2013]: There was no reduced tax rate for income from 
production of pelleted feed for fish, shrimp and cattle. Naturally 
37.5% tax rate was applicable for companies producing pelleted 
feed for fish, shrimp and cattle. Reduced tax rate of 3% will also 
be applicable on such income effective for 2 years from the 
assessment year 2014-15. 
9.  Tax rate on income derived from production of jute goods 
[S.R.O. No. 206 dated 01/7/2013]: The deadline of 15% reduced 
tax rate facility is 30/6/2013. It is extended up to 30/6/2015.
10. Tax rate of textile industry [S.R.O.NO 207 dated 
01/7/2013]: The deadline of 15% reduced tax rate facility is 
30/6/2013. It is extended up to 30/6/2015.
11.  New tax rate of spot assessment [Rule-24]: New tax rate 
has been prescribed for spot assessment deleting the earlier one 
which is tabulated below:
In case of business:

12. Fifty percent (50%) extra tax to be paid if anybody owns 
more than 1 car [S.R.O. No. 209 dated 01/7/2013]: Fifty 
percent (50%) extra advance income tax to be paid at the time of 
registration or fitness if anybody owns individually or jointly 
more than 1 car or jeep or microbus. This extra 50% tax will be 
applicable for every extra car or jeep or microbus.
B.  Individual Tax Matters:
1.  Raising the monthly tax free cash house rent allowance of 
salaried person from Tk.15,000 to Tk.20,000.[Rule 33A]: Tax 
free monthly cash house rent allowance of salaried person has 
been raised from Tk.15,000 per month to Tk.20,000 per month.
2. Raising the tax free yearly cash conveyance allowance of 
salaried person from Tk.24,000 to Tk.30,000.[Rule 33C]: Tax 
free yearly cash conveyance allowance of salaried person has 
been raised from Tk.24,000 to Tk.30,000.
3.  A simple 2-page return form for individual taxpayers 
having income from salary and/or income not exceeding Tk. 
3,00,000/ from business/profession [Rule-24]: A simple 2 pages 
return form has been designed for individual taxpayers having 
income from salary and/or having income not exceeding Tk. 
3,00,000/ from business/profession.
4. Submission of life-style statement is now optional for 
individual taxpayers [Section 75(2)d(i), proviso]: Submission of 
life-style statement for individual taxpayer (other than 
shareholder director of a company) having income from salary 

and/or income not exceeding Tk. 3,00,000/ from 
business/profession has been made optional. Such person may or 
may not submit such statement.
5. Raising the maximum ceiling of investment allowance 
[Section 44(3)]: At present maximum ceiling of investment 
allowance is taka 1 crore. Now it has been raised to taka 1.5 
crore. Side by side admissible percentage of investment 
allowance has also been raised from 20% to 30% of total 
income.
6. Enhancement of tax rebate on Investment allowance 
[Section 44 (2) (b)]: Percentage of tax rebate on allowable 
investment allowance has been raised from 10% to 15%.
7. Employer will not deduct tax or will deduct tax at lower rate 
than average rate if employee can produce such certificate 
from the concerned DCT [Section 50]: Employer will not 
deduct tax at source or will deduct tax at a lower rate/amount in 
case an employee can produce a certificate issued by the DCT to 
do so.DCT will usually issue certificate of   non-deduction of tax 
at source upon an application is made to him by the employee 
and if the DCT is satisfied that tax has already been 
deducted/collected/withheld, will cover tax liability for rest of 
the year. DCT may also issue certificate to deduct lesser tax if he 
is satisfied that lesser rate of tax deduction will cover his tax 
liability for the remaining period after adjustment of tax already 
deducted/collected/withheld.
8. Tax free cash dividend ceiling raised from Tk.5,000/ to 
Tk.10,000/[6th schedule(part-A) Para 11A]: Tax free cash 
dividend ceiling has been raised from Tk.5,000 to Tk.10,000.
9. Special tax treatment for disclosure of undisclosed income 
for    investment in any residential building or apartment 
[Section 19BBBBB]: Any sum invested by any person, in the 
construction or purchase of any residential building  or 
apartment, shall be deemed to have been explained if the assessee 
pays tax at the following rate before the assessment for the 
relevant assessment year in which the investment is completed.

The rate of tax will be 20% higher in case where the assessee 
already owns a building or apartment in any city corporation 
area. However, this facility of special tax treatment for 
disclosure of undisclosed income will not be applicable if such 
income is not derived from any legitimate source of income or 
derived from any criminal activities under any other law.
C.  Investment Allowance
1.  Change in investment allowance [Section 44(3)]: At present 
the maximum ceiling of investment allowance is taka 1 crore. 
Now it has been raised to taka 1.5 crore. The admissible
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Initial capital  Tax rate Applicability 

Up to Tk 6 lakh 1,000/- For the assessee other than city corporation or any 
paurashava of district headquarters; 

Up to Tk 7 lakh 2,000/- For the assessee of Paurashava in district headquarters; 

Up to Tk 8 lakh 3,000/- For assessee of any area 

Up to Tk 10 lakh 5,000/- For assessee of any area 

Up to Tk 15 lakh 10,000 For assessee of any area 

Location of the property

 Rate per square meter if 

the house/ apartment/ flat 

does not exceed 200 

square meter 

Rate per square meter if 

the house/ apartment/ flat 

exceeds 200 square meter 

Ghulshan, Banani, Baridhara, Motijheel and 

Dilkusha of Dhaka. 

5,000/- 7,000/- 

Dhanmondi,DOHS, Mahakhali, Lalmatia, 

Uttara, Bashundhara, Dhaka Cantonment, 
Kawran Bazar, Bijaynagar, Segunbagicha, 

Nikunja of Dhaka; and Panchlaish, Khulshi, 

Agrabad and Nasirabad Area of Chitagong. 

4,000/- 5,000/- 

Other areas of City Corporation 2,000/- 3,000/- 

Paurasabha of any district headquarters 1,000/- 1,500/- 

Other Areas including Upazila 7,50/- 1,000/- 

In case of profession: 

Length of profession Tax rate Applicability 

Up to 3 years 1,000/- For the assessee other than city corporation or any 

paurashava of district headquarters 

Up to 4 years 2,000/- For the assessee located at Paurashava in district 

headquarters  

Up to 5 years 3,000/- For assessee of any area 

Up to 10 years 5,000/- For assessee of any area ; 
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percentage of investment has also been raised from 20% to 30% 
of one's total income.

2. Enhancement of tax rebate on Investment allowance 
[Section 44(2)(b)]: Percentage of tax rebate on allowable 
investment allowance has been raised from 10% to 15%.

D.  Deduction of Tax at Sources: Change in withholding tax 
rate, and introduction of new area of withholding tax 
[Sections 50 to 5FF]

The changes made for deduction/collection/withholding of tax at 
source are summarized below:

E.  Final Settlement of Tax 
Liability:

As the requirement of 
withholding tax on share 
premium has been withdrawn, 
the related sub-section of 
section 82C for treating it as 
final settlement of tax liability 
has been deleted. 

F.  Share Market:

1. Withdrawal of charging tax 
on share premium and 
accordingly withdrawal of 
withholding tax from share 
premium [Sections 16E and 
53L]: The provision of 
charging tax @3% on share 
premium is withdrawn and 
accordingly the system of 
collecting tax at source from 
share premium is also deleted. 
As the requirement of 
withholding tax on share 
premium has been withdrawn, 
the provision for treating such 
tax payment as final  
settlement of tax liability has 
been deleted from   82C. 

2. Withdrawal of withholding 
tax on sale and buy of bond 
[Section 53BBB]: No tax 
deduction will be applicable 
from sale and buy of bond 
with effect from 1st July, 
2013. Previously tax deduction 
at 0.05% by stock exchange 
from brokerage house on such 
transaction value was 
applicable.

3. Private Mutual Fund will 
also be eligible for investment 
allowance [Sixth Schedule 
(Part-B) para-10]: Private 
mutual fund (side by side ICB 
mutual fund) will be eligible 
for investment tax rebate.

Sl.

Head of deduction/ 

collection of tax at 

source 

Section 
Earlier rate of deduction/ 

provision 

New rate of  

deduction/provision 

1.  Salary 50 Employer will deduct tax at 

source from taxable salary at 

average rate. 

Employer will not deduct tax at 

source or will deduct tax at a 

lower rate/amount in case an 

employee can produce a 
certificate issued by the DCT to 

do so. 

DCT will usually issue certificate 

of non-deduction of tax at source 

upon an application is made to 

him by the employee and if the 

DCT is satisfied that tax has 

already been  deducted/collected/ 

withheld, will cover tax liability 

for rest of the year. 

 

DCT may also issue certificate to 
deduct lesser tax if he is satisfied 

that lesser rate of tax deduction 

will cover his tax liability for the 

remaining period after adjustment 

of tax already deducted/collected/ 

withheld. 

2.  Oil supplied by Oil 

Marketing Company 

Rule-16 0.75% 0.60% 

If the payee has TIN 10% 3.  Fees for professional 

or technical services 

52A(3) 10% 

 If the payee does not 

have any TIN 

15% 

4.  Stevedoring agency 

commission 

or 

Private security 

service 

52AA 10% 

 

Deducting authority will not 

deduct tax at source or will deduct 

tax at a lower rate/amount in case 

he produces a certificate issued by 

the NBR to do so. 

5.  Hand Made cigarette 52B 6% 10% 

6.  Soft Drinks 52S New The Security Printing 

Corporation(Bangladesh) Ltd. or 

any other authority responsible 

for delivery of banderols or 

stamps to soft drinks 
manufacturer shall collect tax 

@3% on the value ( as determined 

by the VAT Authority) of such 

soft drinks at the time of delivery 

of such banderols or stamps 

7.  Buy and sell of bond 

by the brokerage 

house on behalf of 

their client 

53BBB Deduction of tax is 

applicable by DSC & CSC 

from the brokerage house on 

transaction of Bond @ 

0.05%. 

nil 

(No deduction is required) 

8.  Tea auction Rule-

17D 

0.50% 1% 
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9.  Distributorship 

Commission 

53E Collection of tax was 

applicable @ 10% on 

distributorship commission 

If any company(other than oil 

marketing company) sells its 

products to its distributors at a 

price lower than MRP, then 5% 

tax on difference between the 

Dealer  Price(DP) and the 
Maximum Retail Price(MRP) is 

to be collected. 

On the other hand 10%tax 

deduction from distributorship 

commission will remain same as 

before. 

Area Tax rate per 

square miter 

Area Tax rate per square 

miter 

Residential 

Tk. 2,000/- 

Residential 

Tk.1,600/- 

Ghulshan, 

Banani, 

Baridhara, 

Motijheel and 

Dilkusha 

Commercial 

Tk. 8,ooo/- 

Same 

Commercial Tk. 

6,ooo/- 

Residential 

Tk. 1,800/- 

Residential Tk. 

1,500/- 

Dhanmondi, 

DOHS, 
Mohakhali, 

Lalmatia, 

Uttara, 

Bashundhara, 

Dhaka 

Commercial 

Tk. 6,000/- 

Same 

Commercial Tk. 

5,000/- 

Residential 

Tk. 1,800/- 

Residential Tk. 

1,800/- 

 Cantonment, 

Kawran 

Bazar of 

Dhaka and 

Panchlish, 

Khulshi, 

Agrabad and 
Nasirabad of 

Chittagong. 

Commercial 

Tk. 6,000/- 

Same 

Commercial Tk. 

5,000/- 

Residential 

Tk. 800/- 

Residential 

 Tk. 600/- 

10.  

 

Real Estate 

        & 

Land development 

business  

53FF 

Other Area 

Commercial 

Tk. 2,ooo/- 

Same 

Commercial Tk. 

1,6oo/- 

11.  Share premium 53L 3% nil 

 

Sl. 

Head of deduction/ 

collection of tax at 

source 

Section 
Earlier rate of deduction/ 

provision 

New rate of  

deduction/provision 

4. Tax free cash dividend ceiling raised from Tk.5,000/ to 
Tk.10,000/[ Sixth Schedule (Part-A) Para 11A]: Tax free cash 
dividend ceiling has been raised from Tk.5,000/ to Tk.10,000/.

G.  Corporate Tax Matters:
1. Amortization of License Fees [Section 29(1) (viiia) & Third 
Schedule (Para-10A)]: Any cellular/mobile phone operator shall 
be allowed to amortize year to year equally its license fee (here 
license fee means spectrum assignment fees) paid to BTRC, on 
or after 01-07-2012, for obtaining such license over the entire 
period during which the license shall remain valid. The license so 
granted shall have to be utilized wholly and exclusively for the 
purpose of running business.
2. Income from export of handicrafts will remain tax free up to 
30/6/2015 [Sixth Schedule (Part-A), para-35]: Income from 
export of handicrafts will remain tax free up to 30/6/2015. It  is 
tax free up to 30/6/2013.
3. Tax free turnover ceiling of SME raised from Tk. 24,00,000/ 
to Tk.30,00,000 [Sixth Schedule (Part-A), para-39]: Income 
derived by any Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) engaged in 
production of goods and having annual turnover not more than 
Tk. 30,00,000/ will remain tax free. At present the turnover 
ceiling is Tk. 24,00,000/.

4. Income from poultry will 
remain tax free up to 
30/6/2015 [Sixth Schedule 
(Part-A), para-42]: Income 
from poultry will remain tax 
free up to 30/6/2015 instead of 
up to 30/6/2013.
5. Income of Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry 
[S.R.O. No. 210 dated 
01/7/2013]: Any income other 
than income from business and 
income from interest will be tax 
free with effect from 01/7/2013.
6. Power of enquiry, physical 
presence, production of 
documents and providing 
information by any other 
person in relation to the 
assessee [Section 116(1)]: The 
power of tax authority has been 
extended to require of any other 
person who is related to the 
assessee to appear before him 
for providing information or to 
produce necessary documents, 
accounts or records including 
electronic records and systems.
7. Power to give written order 
by the concerned tax authority 
for not removing property 
[Section 116A]: When the 
DG(CIC) and Commissioner of 

Taxes  have definite information that a person has concealed 
income or investment, he may pass an order in writing requiring 
anybody who is in immediate possession or control of any money, 
bullion, jewellery, financial instrument, financial asset, valuable 
article or any other property not to remove, part with or otherwise 
deal with it without the prior permission from the concerned 
authority.
8. Prosecution for non-compliance of section116 (1) and section 
116A [Sections 164(ee) and 164(eee)]: If any person in relation to 
enquiry of the assessee fails to appear, provide information or 
produce accounts documents etc. as mentioned at section 116(1) or 
remove property of the assessee violating section 116A, he will be 
treated to have done punishable offence leading to imprisonment 
up to 1 year or with fine or both.
9. Extension of tax holiday facility for another 2 years [Sections 
46B and 46C]: Tax holiday for industrial undertaking and physical 
infrastructural facility has further been extended up to 30/6/2015.
10. Fifteen (15) years tax exemption of Private Power 
Generation Company if commercial production started within 
31/12/2014 [S.R.O. No. 211 dated 01/7/2013]: 15 years tax 
exemption facility is extended to those who will be able to start 
commercial production/operation within31/12/2014.
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11. Ten (10) years tax exemption of Private Power Generation 
Company if commercial production started on or after 
01/01/2015 [S.R.O. No. 212 dated 01/7/2013]: In case any Private 
Power Generation Company will start commercial production on 
or after 01/01/2015 then tax exemption schedule will be as 
follows:

12. Fifteen (15) years tax exemption of coal based Private Power 
Generation Company in case they signed agreement to establish 
power plant within 30/6/2020 and start commercial production 
within 30/6/2023[S.R.O. No. 213 dated 01/7/2013]: 15 years tax 
exemption facility is extended to only coal based Private Power 
Generation Company who will be able to sign agreement to 
establish power plant within 30/6/2020 and start commercial 
production/operation within30/6/2023.

13. Year-wise tax exemption percentage of tax holiday industrial 
undertaking [Section 46B]: Tax exemption percentage of tax 
holiday industrial undertaking has been re-designed which is 
tabulated below:

14. Year-wise tax exemption percentage of tax holiday physical 
infrastructural facility [Section 46C]: Tax exemption percentage 
of tax holiday physical infrastructural facility has been re-designed 
which is tabulated below:

H.  Income Tax Return:
1. A simple 2-page return form for individual having income 
from salary and /or income not exceeding Tk. 3,00,000/- from 
business/profession [Rule-24]: A simple 2-page return form has 
been designed for individual taxpayers having income from salary 
and/or having income not exceeding Tk. 3,00,000/ from 
business/profession.

2. Submission of life-style statement is now optional for 
individual taxpayers [Section 75(2)d(i), proviso]: Submission of 
life-style statement for individual taxpayer (other than shareholder 
director of a company) having income from salary and/or income 
not exceeding Tk. 3,00,000/ from business/profession has been 
made optional. One may or may not submit such statement.

I.  Taxpayer's Identification Number (TIN):
1. Computer generated TIN certificate [Section 184A]: Person(s) 
liable for production of TIN before any authority can use, with 
effect from 01-07- 2013, computer generated TIN certificate 
instead of manually prepared one. TIN certificate will be generated 
through NBR authorized computer system.

J.  Reference Application to the High Court 
Division of the Supreme Court:
1. Reducing the amount of requisite tax payment for filing 
reference application to High Court Division [Section 160(i)]: 
Requisite tax payment for filing reference application to High 
Court Division has been reduced as under:

6.0  Conclusion
There are huge changes in the income tax laws this year. 
Individual income taxpayers are expected to feel some comfort 
through higher tax rebate on investments which will encourage 
domestic capital formation. At the same time, application of 
'ability-to-pay' principle of taxation has been attempted in some 
new areas (e.g., surcharge based on net wealth; minimum tax 
for individual taxpayers based on their location). Introduction 
of amortization is also a new thing this year. It can cover the 
standard accounting practice for any intangible assets beyond 
'license fee'. New or extended tax holiday is expected to really 
contribute towards the country's industrialization, then it would 
be an effective fiscal instrument. Since the budget for 2013-14 
is to be implemented by three governments, we hope its 
successful implementation.
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 year-----------     10% 
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All areas in Bangladesh       10 

10th year................  10% 

Particulars Old Rate New Rate 

i.  If tax demand is 
Tk. 10,00,000 or 

less. 

25% of the difference between 
the tax as per Tribunal order 

and tax as per return 

15% of the difference between 
the tax as per Tribunal order 

and tax as per return 

ii.  If tax demand is 

more than Tk. 
10,00,000 

50% of the difference between 

the tax as per Tribunal order 
and tax as per return 

25% of the difference between 

the tax as per Tribunal order 
and tax as per return 
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Role of ERP Systems

Role of Enterprise Resource Planning Systems in Budgetary

Control of an Organization

Muhammad Mahbubur Rahman Bhuiyan, ACA, ACMA*
Mohammad Farooq Ali Tarafder **

Abstract:  In 21st century of rapid growing midsize and multinational business, human forces as well as information 

technology are becoming more important for the success or failure of an enterprise.Technology plays a key role in 

today's changing business environment. Most of the companies greatly rely on computers and software to provide 

accurate information to efficiently manage their business. As the methodology of Technology has become more 

popular, large software applications have been developed to help companies implement Enterprise Resource 

Planning (ERP) systems. By ERP systems, an organization can integrate planning, purchasing, manufacturing, 

inventory, sales, distribution, marketing, customers, suppliers, finance,  human resources and overall budgetary 

control across the organization. Though it is very useful to the organizations for rising but its use is still in elementary 

stage in Bangladesh. The study signifies why industries should adopt ERP to attain the business objectives efficiently.

Keywords: Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP), ERP Modules, Role of ERP Systems.  

Introduction
Currently with the fast developing of industries and the need 
for managing procedures and resources, it has become very 
important to have a device which can help the organizations 
coordinate several activities, and the best one is Enterprise 
Resource Planning (ERP). ERP is an enterprise-wide 
information system designed to coordinate all the resources, 
information, and activities needed to complete business 
processes such as order fulfilment or billing. An ERP system 
supports most of the business system that maintains the data 
needed for a variety of business functions such as 
manufacturing, supply chain management, strategic 
management, costing, management accounting, financials, 
projects, human resources, warehouse management, decision 
support system and customer relationship management in a 
single database.  The system can either reside on a centralized 
server or be distributed across modular hardware and software 
units that provide "services" and communicate on a local area 
network. The distributed design allows an organization to 
assemble modules from different vendors without the need for 
the placement of multiple copies of computer systems in areas 
which will not use their full capacity.

Rationale of the Study  
An effort has been made to survey related literature 
contributed on the topic, and introduce arguments for Role of 
ERP systems in an organization. This study aims at focus on 
the role of ERP systems in the organizations. This article also 
aims to assist in continuing future research on applications of 
ERP Software in business.

Objectives of the Study  
The paper is about the role of ERP systems in the different 
types organizations. Here it is also deemed to identify the 
organizations in which ERP systems can be used to 
accelerate the slow growth and ensure the corporate 
governance of the organizations. Finally, the paper is 
concluded by suggesting the potential organizations intend to 
adopt ERP systems.

Methodology of the Study 
This paper intends to figure out the role of ERP systems in 
the organizations. Primary and secondary information is used 
in the study. Secondary information from different 
publications is used to justify the usage of ERP software by 
different organizations. Thereby, convenient review of some 
books, journals, articles, and other related materials were 
conducted by the researchers. In addition, few websites of 
ERP software manufacturers, specifically SAP, Oracle and 
related web search engines have been tried in this connection.

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) Systems   
Information Technology has lent applications of ERP system 
to the world of business. Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
is the latest high end online-based software solution. An ERP 
software solution seeks to modernize and integrate 
operations, processes and information flows in an enterprise, 
to synergize the resources of an organization namely men, 
material, money and machine (Davenport, 1998). In other 
words, ERP systems integrate all the data and processes of an 
organization into a unified system. A typical ERP will use 
multiple components of computer software and hardware to 
achieve the integration. 
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Figure-1: Components of ERP Systems.

A key ingredient of most ERP systems is the use of a unified 
database to store data for the various system modules and most 
organizations across the world have realized that in a rapidly 
changing business environment, it is impossible to create and 
maintain a custom designed software package which will cater 
to all their requirements and also be up-to-date. Realizing these 
requirements of organizations, companies have designed and 
developed ERP software, which offer an integrated software 
solution to all the functional processes in an organization. 

Development of ERP Software  
At first Gartner Group employed the acronym ERP as an 
extension of material requirements planning (MRP) in 1990, 
later manufacturing resourcing planning and computer-
integrated manufacturing (Jacob and Ted, 2007). Without 
supplanting these terms, ERP came to represent a larger whole, 
reflecting the evolution of application integration beyond 
manufacturing. Not all ERP packages were developed from a 
manufacturing core. Vendors variously began with financial 
accounting, tax accounting, management accounting, cost 
accounting, maintenance and human resources. By the mid-
1990s ERP systems addressed all core functions of an 
enterprise. Beyond corporations, governments and non-profit 
organizations also began to employ ERP systems. These 
systems experienced rapid growth in the 1990s because of the 
year 2000 problem and introduction of the Euro disrupted 
legacy systems. Many companies around the world took this 
opportunity to replace such systems with ERP. "ERP II" was 
coined in the early 2000s. It describes web-based software that 
allows both employees and partners (such as suppliers and 
customers) real-time access to the systems. The role of ERP II 
expands from the resource optimization and transaction 
processing of traditional ERP to leveraging the information 
involving those resources in the enterprise's efforts to 
collaborate with other enterprises, not just to conduct e-
commerce buying and selling. Compared to the first generation 
ERP, ERP II is said to be more flexible. Rather than confining 
the capabilities of the ERP systems within the organization, it 

is designed to go beyond the corporate walls and interact with 
other systems. "Enterprise application suite" is an alternate 
name for such systems.

Although, in the initial stage ERP was originated in the 
manufacturing environment, now ERP software solutions 
usually cover all the basic business processes of any 
organization, regardless of the organization's business or 
charter. A typical ERP module include: Manufacturing, Supply 
Chain Management, Financials, Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM), Human Resources, Warehouse 
Management and Decision Support System (Ashwin Raj 2012). 
These solutions are often incorrectly quoted as back office 
solutions indicating that customers and the general public are 
not directly involved. This is contrasted with front office 
systems like Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 
systems that directly deal with customers, or e-business 
systems such as e-Commerce, e-Government, e-Telecom, and 
e-Finance, or Supplier Relationship Management (SRM) 
systems. In reality, ERP modules are cross-functional and 
enterprise wide software solutions. All functional departments 
that are involved in operations or production can be integrated 
in one system by using it. In addition to manufacturing, 
warehousing, logistics, and Information Technology, it also 
includes; accounting, human resources, marketing, and 
strategic management.  There are many different flavours of 
ERP that serve businesses' varying procedure types. An ERP 
solution has numerous benefits depending on the type of 
business that it serves; these are business solutions and industry 
solutions. The industry solutions are designed for people who 
are working in specific industries, like manufacturing, financial 
institutions, merchandising, communications, education, 
healthcare, transportation, service to name a few.

Features of an ERP System  
Some of the major features of ERP are as follows: 

ERP allows automatic introduction of latest 
technologies like Electronic Fund Transfer (EFT), 
Electronic Data Interchange (EDI), Internet, Intranet, 
Video conferencing, E-Commerce etc. 
ERP bridges the information gap across the 
organization. 
ERP eliminates the most of the business problems like 
Material shortages, Productivity enhancements, 
Customer service, Cash Management, Inventory 
problems, Quality problems, Prompt delivery etc., 
ERP facilitates company-wide Integrated Information 
System covering all functional areas like 
Manufacturing, Selling and Distribution, Payables, 
Receivables, Inventory, Accounts, Human Resources, 
Purchases etc., 
ERP is the only solution for better Project Management. 
ERP not only addresses the current requirements of the 
company but also provides the opportunity of 
continually improving and refining business processes. 

Role of ERP Systems
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ERP performs core corporate activities and increases 
customer service and thereby augmenting the Corporate 
Image. 

ERP provides business intelligence tools like Decision 
Support Systems (DSS), Executive Information System 
(EIS), Reporting, Data Mining and Early Warning Systems 
(Robots) for enabling people to make better decisions and 
thus improve their business processes.

ERP provides for complete integration of Systems not only 
across the departments in a company but also across the 
companies under the same management.

Business Applications of ERP Systems  
An ideal ERP system is a single database which utilizes and 
contains all data for various software modules. These 
software modules can include:

(1) Access Control:  

     Managing the user privileges for various processes

(2) Best Practices:

   Best practices are incorporated into most ERP systems. 
This means that the software reflects the vendor's 
interpretation of the most effective way to perform each 
business process. The systems vary in the convenience 
with which the customers can modify these practices. 
Organizations that implemented industry best practices 
reduce time, consuming project tasks such as 
configuration, documentation, testing and training. In 
addition, best practices can reduce risk by 70 percent 
when compared to other software implementations. The 
use of best practices eases compliance with requirements 
such as IFRSs, IASs, ISAs Sarbanes-Oxley, or Base II. 
They can also help comply with de facto industry 
standards, such as electronic funds transfer. This is 
because the procedure can be readily codified within the 
ERP software and replicated with confidence across 
multiple businesses who share that business requirement.

(3) Business Accelerators:
Available through approved partner channel   and consulting 
groups
Dramatically reduce the time and effort required for project 
scoping, solution design, configuration, and testing
Enable rapid software adoption
Flexible, reliable configuration in the cloud
Incorporate leading industry practices
Standard world-class business processes

(4) Business Intelligence: 

 Performance measurement, Quantitative analytics, 
Enterprise reporting, Collaboration platform, and 
Knowledge management

(5) Business Process Outsourcing:

     Hiring a third-party company or service provider to do IT 

related activities, application management, application    
development, data centre operations, testing and quality 
assurance.

(6) Business Operations: 

  ERP manages end-to-end procurement and logistics 
business processes for complete business cycles from   
self-service requisitioning to flexible invoicing and 
payment optimizing the flow of materials. ERP also help 
discrete and process manufacturers manage the entire life 
cycle of product development and manufacturing. The 
solution automates the entire manufacturing process and 
reduces costs by controlling and adapting the 
manufacturing process in real time and increases customer 
satisfaction by delivering higher-quality products.

(7) Connectivity to plant floor information:

     ERP systems connect to real-time data and transaction data 
in a variety of ways. These systems are typically 
configured by systems integrators, who bring unique 
knowledge on process, equipment, and vendor solutions.

   Custom-Integration Solutions-many system-integrators 
offer custom solutions. These systems tend to have the 
highest level of initial integration cost, and can have a 
higher long term maintenance and reliability costs. Long 
term costs can be minimized through careful system testing 
and thorough documentation. Custom-integrated solutions 
typically run on workstation or server class computers.

   Database Integration-ERP systems connect to plant 
floor data sources through staging tables in a database. 
Plant floor systems deposit the necessary information 
into the database. The ERP system reads the 
information in the table. The benefit of staging is that 
ERP vendors do not need to master the complexities of 
equipment integration. Connectivity becomes the 
responsibility of the systems integrator.

  Direct Integration-ERP systems have connectivity 
(communications to plant floor equipment) as part of 
their product offering. This requires the vendors to offer 
specific support for the plant floor equipment that their 
customers operate. ERP vendors must be expert in their 
own products, and connectivity to other vendor 
products,  including competi tors.

Enterprise Appliance Transaction Modules (EATM)-
these devices communicate directly with plant floor 
equipment and with the ERP system via methods 
supported by the ERP system. EATM can employ a 
staging table, Web Services, or system-specific program 
interfaces. The benefit of an EATM is that it offers an 
off-the-shelf solution.

(8)  Corporate Services: 
       ERP helps organizations manage their most cost-intensive

 



  corporate functions by supporting and streamlining 
administrative processes in the areas of real estate; 
enterprise assets; project portfolios; corporate travel; 
environment, health, and safety compliance; quality; and 
global trade services. ERP Corporate Services is a 
complete and integrated solution that maximizes 
transparency and control, while reducing financial and 
environmental risks and enhancing safety of employees.

(9) Corporate Governance, Risk and Compliance Management:

     ERP creates a consolidated view of compliance, risk and 
internal controls, performs by operating teams managing 
separate requirements, provides a common process and 
content foundation,  facilitates the holistic management , 
addresses individual's requirements with natively-built 
modules, promotes overall insight, shared practices, re-use 
of work, efficiency, and cost savings and tackles the 
problem.

(10)  Customer Relationship Management (CRM):  

    CRM is a term applied to processes implemented by a 
company to handle its contact with its customers. CRM 
software is used to support these processes, storing 
information on current and prospective customers. 
Information in the system can be accessed and entered by 
employees in different departments, such as sales, 
marketing, customer service, training, professional 
development, performance management, human resource 
development, and compensation. Details on any customer 
contacts can also be stored in the system. The rationale 
behind this approach is to improve services provided 
directly to customers and to use the information in the 
system for targeted marketing. While the term is generally 
used to refer to a software-based approach to handling 
customer relationships, most CRM software vendors 
stress that a successful CRM strategy requires a holistic 
approach. CRM initiatives often fail because 
implementation was limited to software installation 
without providing the appropriate motivations for 
employees to learn, provide input, and take full advantage 
of the information systems.

(11) Data Warehouse:   

   Usually this is a module that can be accessed by an 
organizations customers, suppliers and employees. Data 
warehouse is a repository of an organization's 
electronically stored data. Data warehouses are designed 
to facilitate reporting and analysis. This classic definition 
of the data warehouse focuses on data storage. However, 
the means to retrieve and analyze data, to extract, 
transform and load data, and to manage the data 
dictionary are also considered essential components of a 
data warehousing system. Many references to data 
warehousing use this broader context. Thus, an expanded 
definition for data warehousing includes business 
intelligence tools, tools to extract, transform, and load 

data into the repository, and tools to manage and retrieve 
metadata. In contrast to data warehouses, ERP System is 
operational systems which perform day-to-day transaction 
processing. The process of transforming data into 
information and making it available to the user in a timely 
enough manner to make a difference is known as data 
warehousing.

(12) Enterprise Performance Management (EPM):

    EPM applications support strategic planning and goal 
setting, financial and operational planning, the end-to-
end financial close and reporting process, profitability 
and cost management in a comprehensive and fully 
integrated suite.

(13) Financial Accounting:

    General ledger, cash management, accounts payable, 
accounts receivable, fixed assets. 

(14) Financial Management:

    ERP systems ensure compliance and predictability of 
business performance. The organization can gain a 
deeper financial insight across the enterprise and tighten 
control of finances such as financial reports, direct 
investment activities, and develop strategies and plans 
for the long-term financial goals of their organization. 
ERP Financials automates financial and management 
accounting and financial supply chain management. The 
solution also provides rigorous support for corporate-
governance mandates such as Basel II and Sarbanes-
Oxley.

 (15) Human Capital Management (HCM):  

       ERP optimizes HR processes with a complete, integrated, 
and global human capital management solution. ERP 
provides this HCM solution for organizations of all sizes 
and in all industries. It maximizes the potential of 
workforce, while supporting innovation, growth, and 
flexibility. The ERP HCM solution automates talent 
management, core HR processes, and workforce 
deployment- enabling increased efficiency and better 
compliance with changing global and local regulations. 
It also does-

analytical human capital data model
analyze workforce strengths and vulnerabilities
data management
information sharing and delivery
measure and improve workforce productivity
minimize risk by changing likely outcomes
pre-defined analysis
proactively plan for future workforce needs
strategic decision making
support enterprise performance improvement

(16) Human Resources Management:  

       Human resources, payroll, training, time and attendance, 
roistering, benefits.
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(17) Management Accounting:
    Budgeting, Costing, Cost Management and Activity Based 

Costing

(18) Manufacturing: 
   Engineering, bills of material, work orders, cost 

management, capacity, scheduling, workflow 
management, manufacturing flow, quality control, 
manufacturing process, manufacturing projects

(19) Master Data Management: 
     The processes and technology to produce and maintain a 

single clean copy of master data:  "Golden" record. An 
Application for creating and maintaining an authoritative 
view of master data including policies and procedures to 
access, update, modify, and view between systems across 
the enterprise:  

(a) Product master data:
      Product Information Management (PIM)
(b) Customer master data:
      Customer Data Integration (CDI)
(c) Analytical master data:
      Hierarchies used for reporting
(d) Other possible: 
      Employee master data
      Guidelines master data 
      Vendor master data

(20) Procurement:
      It is an act of obtaining or buying goods and services. The 

process includes preparation and processing of a demand as 
well as the end receipt and approval of payment. It often 
involves

purchase planning
standards determination
specifications development
supplier research and selection
value analysis
price negotiation
making the purchase
financing
supply contract administration
inventory control and stores and
disposals and other related functions

The process of procurement is often part of a company's strategy 
because the ability to purchase certain materials will determine if 
operations will continue. A business will not be able to survive if 
its price of procurement is more than the profit it makes on 
selling the actual product. 

(21) Projects Management:  
     Costing, billing, time and expense, performance units, 

activity management 

(22) Project Portfolio Management: 
    ERP delivers the world's leading project portfolio 

management solutions to help enterprises achieve and 
maintain strategic advantage. ERP supports the full 

lifecycle of project and portfolio management within a 
single, integrated, accurate view of all project-related 
activities. ERP 

offers a comprehensive scenario modelling and "what 
if" approach to portfolio alignment and optimization;

enables companies to run global projects and programs 
by supporting multiple currencies, languages and 
business units;

offers a single global project repository providing 
complete, secure and personalized project information 
for all team members;

offers efficient drill downs from summary information 
for deeper level analysis;

effectively controls project issues and changes to 
determine the impact of potential changes on cost and, 
schedule, so we can plan accordingly; and 

allows for sharing of project information anytime, 
anywhere, with a single instance view

(23) Modularity:
    Most systems are modular to permit automating some 

functions but not others. Some common modules, such as 
finance and accounting, are adopted by nearly all users; 
others such as human resource management are not. For 
example, a service company probably has no need for a 
manufacturing module. Other companies already have a 
system that they believe to be adequate. Generally 
speaking, the greater the number of modules selected, the 
greater the integration benefits, but also the greater the 
costs, risks and changes involved.

(24) Supply Chain Management: 

    Now most of the multinational companies depend on 
supply chain management activities for example order to 
cash, inventory, order entry, purchasing, Warehouse 
management system product configuration, 
manufacturing, supply chain planning, supplier 
scheduling, and inspection of goods, distribution, claim 
processing, and commission calculation 

(25) Transactional backbone: 

Theses are the transactional backbone of an ERP system in an 
organization.

        Distribution                     Financials       

        Human resources             Product lifecycle management

These 25 modules can exist in a system or can be utilized in an 
ad-hoc mode.
Goals Behind The Implementation of an ERP System 
The primary purpose of implementing ERP is to run the business 
far better than before, in a rapidly changing and highly 
competitive environment. In a manufacturing enterprise, change 
is not simply a possibility or even a probability. It's a certainty, 
the only constant, the only sure thing. In modern businesses, 
these four goals are identified behind the ERP implementation:

Role of ERP Systems
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Integration of financial data: When managers depend 
on their function's or unit's perspective of financial data, 
conflicting interpretations will arise (e.g., finance will 
have one set of sales figures, while marketing will have 
another). 

Standardization of manufacturing processes: A 
manufacturing company that has grown through 
acquisitions is likely to find that different units use 
different methods to build the same product. 
Standardizing processes and using an integrated computer 
system can save time, increase productivity, and reduce 
head count. 

Standardization of human resource information: This 
is especially useful in a multi-site company. A unified 
method for tracking employee time and communicating 
benefits is extremely beneficial, because it promotes a 
sense of fairness among the workforce as well as makes 
the company more efficient. 

Creating organizational value: An organization aims to 
creating business values using ERP. There are four major 
business values (O'Brian and Marakas 2007), these are: 
(a) Quality and Efficiency    (b) Decreased cost (c) 
Decision support and (d) Enterprise liveliness.

Business Process Reengineering for ERP   
Business processes within an organization falls into three levels-
strategic planning, management control and operational control. 
ERP has been promoted as solutions for sustaining or 
streamlining the processes at all levels of an organization. Much 
of ERP success is limited to the integration of various functional 
and operational departments. Business Process Re-engineering 

(BPR) is a pre-requisite for going ahead with a powerful 
planning tool, ERP. An "in depth BPR study" is to be done 
before taking up ERP systems (Hossain Hakim 2012). BPR 
brings out deficiencies of the existing system and attempts to 
maximize productivity through restructuring and re-organizing 
the human resources as well as divisions and departments in the 
organization. 

Business Process Engineering evolves the following seven 
chronological steps: 

1. Study the current system 

2. Design and develop new systems 

3. Define business process, organization structure and 
procedure 

4. Develop & customize the software 

5. Train people 

6. Implement new system

7. Follow up the implemented systems

Importance of ERP Systems for Business Growth 
ERP software solutions are designed for companies that work in 
a wide variety of areas. IT combines a large number of different 
elements into a single unit. Three of the most important ERP 
tools available today are: 

   Manufacturing   

   Human resources  

   Finance & Accounts
The financial tools allow companies to successfully maintain their 
financial information like that of the assets, accounts, budgets and 
cash. ERP can also assist a company in managing internal as well 
as external factors affecting it. A company that uses ERP 
financial products can save a great deal of money over the long 
term, the reason being, the productivity of the organization will be 
improved. Enterprise Resource Planning is instrumental in getting 
rid of time consuming activities as paper management. A 
company is able to study their processes, earnings, and 
performance by merging their operational information with their 
financial information. Once this information is connected 
together, a company can become more competitive and 
productive. Synergy is an important part of ERP solutions. The 
concept of combining multiple processes into a single whole will 
allow the company to become successful in the long term. In 
addition to finance, business and manufacturing process, it is also 
important to look at materials management. ERP allows a 
company to automate successfully the process of buying materials 
and maintaining them where Just in Time (JIT) systems followed 
(Ashwin Raj 2012). There are modules that track the supplies that 
are purchased and can also make calculations about how these 
materials should be distributed. It also becomes possible for a 
company to predict the demand of the market based on history, 
economic statistics, and data from their employees. 

Strategic Benefits from ERP Systems
Twenty five strategic benefits may be achieved from 
applying ERP systems in the organization. The following 
benefits are consolidated across five main dimensions:

Advantages of ERP Systems in Business
In the absence of an ERP system, a large manufacturer may 
find itself within many software applications that cannot 
communicate or interface effectively with one another. The 
fundamental advantage of ERP is that it integrates the

Dimensions Sub-dimensions Justification 

1. 

Operational 

1.   Product Cost reduction 

2.   Cycle time reduction 

3.   Productivity improvement 

4.   Quality improvement 

5.   Customer services improvement 

Because ERP systems automate business 

processes and enable process changes, one 

would expect ERP systems to offer all of these 

types of benefits. 

2. 

Managerial 

6.   Better resource management 

7.   Improved decision making and 
Planning  

8.   Performance improvement 

With a centralized database and built in data 

analysis capabilities, it seems likely that ERP 
systems will provide informational benefits to 

management. 

3. 

Strategic 

 

9.   Support business growth 

10. Support business alliance 

11. Build business innovations 

12. Build cost leadership 

13.Generate product differentiation  

14. Build external linkages  
15. Worldwide expansion 

16. Enabling e-commerce 

ERP systems, with their large-scale business 

involvement and internal and external 

integration capabilities, could assist in 

achieving these strategic benefits 

4.  

Information 

Technology  

Infrastructure 

17. Build business flexibility for current  

and future changes 

18. IT cost reduction 

19. Increased IT infrastructure capability 

ERP systems, with their integrated and 

standard application architecture, provide an 

infrastructure that could support this 

dimension 

5. 

Organizational 

 

20. Support organizational changes 

21. Facilitate business learning 

22. Empowerment 
23. Build common visions 

24. Change employee behaviour 

25. Better employee morale and 

Satisfaction 

The integrated information processing 

capabilities of ERP systems could affect the 

establishment of organizational capabilities 
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myriad processes by which businesses operation saves time and 
expenditures. Decisions can be made more quickly and with 
fewer errors. Data becomes visible across the organization. Tasks 
that benefit from ERP systems include:

Automatic adaption to new technologies.
Chronological history of every transaction through 
relevant data compilation in every area of operation.
Design engineering (how to best make the product) 
Easier global integration -barriers of currency exchange 
rates, language, and culture can be bridged 
automatically;
Easy enterprise-wide information sharing
ERP systems connect the necessary software in order 
for accurate forecasting to be done. This allows 
inventory levels to be kept at maximum efficiency and 
the company to be more profitable. 
Increases access to available data for decision making
Integration among different functional areas to ensure 
proper communication, productivity and efficiency 
Knowledge transfer between industries guarantees 
innovation  
Managing inter-dependencies of complex processes bill 
of materials
Matching purchase orders (what was ordered), 
inventory receipts (what arrived), and costing (what the 
vendor invoiced)
May create a more efficient work environment for  
employees;
Order tracking, from acceptance through fulfilment 
Provides real-time information, reducing the possibility 
of redundancy errors;
Readymade solutions for most of the problems
Revenue tracking, from invoice through cash receipts
Sales forecasting, this allows inventory optimization.
Suppliers and customers can be online communication.
The accounting for all of these tasks: tracking the 
revenue, cost and profit at a granular level.
Tracking the three-way match between purchase order 
(what was ordered), inventory receipts (what arrived), 
and costing (what the vendor invoiced) 
Updates only need to be done once to be implemented 
company-wide;
Vendors have past knowledge and expertise on how to 
best build and implement a system;

Role of ERP in Competitive Business World   
These days, we are living in a globalized world, where 
competition is not absent. This is why it is very essential for the 
business leaders of the enterprises to develop different strategies 
to satisfy client needs, many of which have become hard to see. 
They are trying to anticipate what clients will want or need, and 
in that way they work to offer customized products. Companies 
are looking for suitable software that can be capable of 
administrating every aspect of their business integrally. Many of 
them have been seeking new technological tools that can 

optimize their internal procedures and make them more efficient. 
The main consequence of this is the consolidation of the 
company and the satisfaction of their clients. ERP systems are a 
fundamental element for organizations these days. Companies 
must identify their needs in order to know which system can fit 
better with their inquiries. In this way we will avoid choosing 
software that is too sophisticated for the regular activities of the 
enterprise. We might choose a very simple system that will not 
satisfy our needs, making us lose money through too many 
updates.

The chances of success when implementing ERP lay in the 
ability of the organization to integrate and consolidate the 
functionality of the system. If the enterprise has a defined 
structure and the methods are well defined, they can get to 
progress from the selection phase to the operational one and 
reduce the risk, increasing the probability of success. Recent 
studies on industries in different countries show that many 
companies have achieved important benefits when implementing 
ERP systems. Some examples of world class ERP that are 
currently being used in business sector by different types of 
organizations:

For large companies

          SAP               Oracle            MatrixBaaN             

          (Acquired by Infor)             Epicor Finacol    

          JD Edwards (Acquired by Oracle)  

          People Soft (Acquired by Oracle)

For SMEs

         Microsoft Dynamics       Infor      Ebizframe     QAD

Other Options

         Open Bravo       xTuple         Compiere      Open Taps     

          Jfire           Ramco

Strategic Role of ERP Systems in Business   
As for the various functions, ERP system is an enterprise 
reconstruction resolution plan, used to make a thorough 
estimation and integration for enterprise management strategies, 
business process and organizational mechanism with the help of 
information technology. ERP system manufacturer supposes that 
ERP system is the optimal application practice and most 
organizations can adapt themselves to the organizational 
background of ERP system (Swan et al. 1999).  Investment in 
ERP systems is an important issue for both (Information 
Systems) IS practitioners and researchers since their 
implementation is a major financial and human investment for 
any organization. A recent US survey on 63 companies indicates 
that the average implementation cost approximately $11 
millions and takes 12 months to 23 months to complete: a 
second survey on executives shows that 65% of them believe 
that their ERP implementation has a moderate chance of 
damaging their businesses. Research to improve our ability to 
implement sound functioning ERP systems is vital because the
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impacts of poor implementation in any organization are far 
reaching. Current research, based on feedback from 117 
companies involved in ERP system implementation, provides the 
following indicators of the difficulties experienced by 
organizations as they implement their ERP systems: one in four 
ERP projects is over budget; approximately 20% of systems are 
terminated before implementation is completed; 40% of 
respondents confirm that their ERP project failed to achieve 
business objectives and ROI is often 6 months to years longer 
than expected.

ERP systems implementation may require:   
        Cost 

Consultants may need to be used for installation or to 
maintain the ERP.
Employees may need to be trained in ERP so they can fully 
utilize the system. Training times takes away from work 
time and can also cost additional funds.
ERP vendors can charge a license renewal fee annually 
which can also be costly for any business.
Implementing ERP is very expensive; price can range from 
$30,000 - $500,000, depending on the size of the company.

        Expertise
Enterprises view cutting training funds as a way to cut 
costs.
New employees must be trained  before they can properly 
start working because of the ERP system
Proper training of the workforce is dependent to success 
with ERP.
Smaller companies may even need to underfund training 
this means their ERP system is often operated by personnel 
with inadequate education in ERP and the ERP vendor 
package being used.
Success of ERP depends on the skill level and experience 
of the company's work force.

The claimed benefits from investing substantial financial and 
human resources in ERP implementation are the achieving 
strategic competitive advantage in three major areas of business 
activity:  accurate and timely information for strategic decision 
making, business process improvement and a strong client focus 
(Hsu et al, 2006). According to (Huang and Palvia, 2001), ERP 
technology faces additional  challenges in developing countries 
related to economic, cultural, and basic infrastructure issues 
(include both basic and IT infrastructure). They argued that 
sound economic background provides a solid foundation for 
IT/IS development as well as ERP implementation.  At present, 
midsize and large companies are using ERP software. It has 
become an increasing trend among the large companies. Some 
familiar companies in Bangladesh using ERPs are BOC Oxygen, 
Robi Telecom, Grameen Phone Telecom, Banglalink Telecom, 
Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Keya Cosmetics, Otobi Furniture, 
Expeditors Freight & Forwarding, Dhaka Bank, Abul Khair 
Group, Pedrollo, Unilever Bangladesh, Shwapna Ltd, Reckitt 
Benckiser, and Young one and so on. Others are still prepared to 
invest heavily in ERP systems.  

Conclusion  
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software is one of the 
inventions of Information Technology. It is an important part of 
modern business which accelerates the upward growth trend of 
organization. ERP plays a key role in today's business 
environment by ensuring stakeholders interests, corporate 
governance and total business process of an enterprise. It also 
enables interactions of purchasing, manufacturing, marketing, 
sales, quality control, products processes, supply lines, stocks 
and many other areas in a single database. It also integrates all 
departments and functions across a company in a single 
computer system that is able to serve all those different 
department's particular needs in the organizations. This 
eliminates the occasional loss and retyping errors. Midsize and 
large organizations should adopt the latest technology that is 
ERP software solutions for their fast growth in business. The 
interested organizations should select ERP software that is 
conformable to the organizational nature, so as to reduce the  
revolutionary confrontation the program risk during the 
introduction. Finally, when the organizational resistance is 
controlled, a highly suitable ERP system will help to gain a 
good venture performance. Accordingly, when introduce the 
ERP system, the enterprise can provide some trainings and 
establish reward and motivation system to reduce 
organizational resistance. Hence, in order to reduce the 
negative influence of organization conflict, before the 
introduction of ERP systems, the associated group should 
negotiate and communicate with each other to achieve a 
common desire and targe.
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Income Tax Measures under Finance Act 2013: An Assessment and Expectation
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Abstract:  Finance Bill for the fiscal year 2013-14 has been presented before the Parliament for approval and has 

already been approved as Finance Act 2013 with a minor change. This is a formal process of implementing the fiscal 

policy on part of the Government where the Ministry of Finance plays major role to accommodate the policy in 

numeric form after exchanging views with different relevant authorities usually during the last quarter (from March to 

June). This year is very important for the Government due to the last year of the tenure and people were waiting 

eagerly to observe the policy of the Government. This paper is an outcome of such analysis which covers only the 

income tax part of the bill. Most of the discussion is based on the budget speech of the finance minister, finance bill 

and finance act. The article covers only the income tax portion and evaluates the impact of Finance Act 2013 

critically. The accounting and finance professionals are expected to get benefitted from the article.

Keywords: Finance bill, budget, income tax, fiscal policy, ministry of finance.

Introduction
Budget for the fiscal year 2013-14 has been presented before the 
Parliament on June 6, 2013 for the discussion and ultimate approval. 
In about four hours of long budget speech, Finance Minister has 
proposed a total expenditure of Tk. 222,491 crore which is 16% 
higher as compared with the budget for the last fiscal year. In 
contrast, revenue is targeted at Tk. 167,459 crore which is around 
20% higher than last fiscal year. As a result, the budget deficit 
comes out as Tk. 55,032 crore with a financing plan of about 38% 
from foreign sources and the remaining 62% from local sources. 
Financing from local sources will mostly come from banking 
sources (about 77%). However, the scenario of the current fiscal 
year (2012-13) up to March 2013 is to some extent vague or 
confusing where most of the revenue (Tk. 91,607 crore out of Tk. 
139,670) has already been collected whereas a significant portion of 
total expenditure (Tk. 96,850 crore out of Tk. 191,738) is left yet to 
be expensed. The gap between the collection and expenditure is 
very important for analysis. If the expenditure at the end of the 
fiscal period could be checked, deficit financing on part of the 
government would be very easy. Government should come out from 
the norm of borrowing from local banks as a source of financing 
deficit budget as the banking sector is already in big trouble that the 
country is witnessing through last couple of months.

Table 1: Slow Pace of the Economy during Election Years

[Source: iBAS, Bangladesh Economic Review 2012 and different issues of Budget in Brief]

The budget for the fiscal year 2013-14 carries extra 
significance due to the coming election during this fiscal 
year and the budget is the last budget for the current term of 
the current government. The economy usually runs at slow 
pace during the election years as reflected in Table 1 above 
and thus, the current budget should address the philosophy 
of the current government addressing the upcoming election. 
One such philosophy is very much straightway i. e., the 
government will try to give some policy advantages to the 
country-mass for their positive consideration favoring the 
current government in upcoming election. And another 
philosophy is to make the budget a challenging one so that 
the next government faces some difficulties to achieve the 
targets. The scope of the paper is limited to the first 
philosophy, i.e., it will address the income tax policy as 
envisaged in the budget to motivate the tax-payers by 
reducing the tax liability as compared with the expected one.

A Glimpse of Finance Act 2013

Finance Act 2013 proposes a good number of changes relating to 
income tax. Probably, this is the first time in history where the 
Government has taken the pressure of individual taxpayers into 
consideration and has offered maximum benefits to them. It is 
expected that most of the individual salaried taxpayers has to pay 
nothing at the time of submitting return, rather may be they can 
claim refund as tax has already been deducted at sources 
considering the provisions of last assessment year. In case of tax 
of partnership firm, a new provision of paying minimum tax is 
incorporated modifying section 16CCC which is very logical and 
may be the Government can maximize its income from the firm. 
In corporate tax, the proposed bill proposes tax at a higher rate 
for publicly traded mobile phone operating companies and 
cigarette manufacturing company which seems to be rational. 
This time, a special part of the finance act is that it proposes 
some administrative simplification that may motivate the 
taxpayers to pay tax in time and it is also expected that due to the
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Fiscal 

Year 

GDP 

Growth (%) 

Revenue Expenditure 

(Billion Taka) 

Development Expenditure 

(Billion Taka) 

Deficit (Billion 

Taka) 

1989-90 5.9  67.4 57.17 56.79 

1990-91  3.3 73.10 52.69 47.57 

1994-95  4.9 103.00 103.03 63.93 

1995-96  4.6 118.14 100.16 63.18 

2000-01  5.3 206.62 161.51 126.40 

2001-02  4.4 226.92 140.90 91.12 

2007-08  6.2 579.22 184.55 158.38 

2008-09  5.7 676.03 196.68 180.91 

2011-12  6.23 1021.30 380.00 252.45 

2012-13  6.03 1369.60 523.70 496.60 

Income Tax
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simplification and rationalization, tax avoidance tendency among the 
taxpayers will be reduced greatly.   

Impact Assessment on Individual Taxpayers

Finance Act 2013 proposes maximum benefits to the individual 
salaried taxpayers. Due to the incentives, revenue of the Government 
will decrease significantly; however, the Government has a plan to 
bring new taxpayers in tax net. It is a wise decision taken by the 
government as the ratio of taxpayers as compared to active TIN 
numbers and the ratio of taxpayers as compared to individuals with 
the capability of paying tax is disappointing. It is unfair to the 
taxpayers as the burden of thousands falls on a few only. In this 
section, we have tried to present the benefits offered to the taxpayers 
and also we have brought some plans of the Government to capture 
new taxpayers so that they can compensate the Government enough 
for the loss of revenue from regular taxpayers.

a) Increasing non-assessable income limit: Non-assessable 
income limit of individual taxpayers has been increased by Tk. 
20,000 (for disables, woman and elderly citizens by Tk. 25,000) that 
will have a favorable impact on tax liability computation. However, 
five tiers of tax rates and limits in other tiers remain same. A 
comparative picture of tax rates and respective income slab is 
presented below for different types of assessee.

Table 2: Tax rates and respective income slabs

b) Minimum Tax for Individuals:

This is the first time after inserting a provision for minimum 
tax; the authority has rationalized the amount of minimum tax 
based on such a parameter which is related to income. Income 
level of people living in city area, paurashava and other areas 
differ significantly due to standard of living, opportunity of 
earning and lot of other issues. Thus people living outside City 
Corporation have received at least some incentive of saving 
some money by paying lower amount for minimum tax.

Table 3: Minimum tax as per areas

c) Surcharge:

Surcharge is the additional tax paid by the employee and thus it 
is an extra burden. It is properly rationalized when it is imposed 

on such individuals having additional capacity of payment. And 
finance bill proposes two tiers of surcharge based on the 
amount of net wealth owned by the respective assessee.

Table 4: Rate of Surcharge

d) Tax Adjustment / Exemption for Salaried Individual:
Finance Act 2013 for the first time proposes the opportunity 
of adjustment of tax payable on salary income against other 
tax deducted or collected at source explicitly. For example, 
any salaried employee can adjust the amount of tax paid on 
income from motor vehicle against the tax to be paid on 
salary. The bill also proposes to increase the tax exemption 
limit on two other allowances as stated below:

Table 5: Adjustability and Exemption

e) Change in Tax Rebate on Investment Allowance:
Another incentive offered to individual assessee is the increased 
rate of tax rebate on allowable investment allowance and 
increased rate for calculating allowable investment. Thus, 
individual assessees will enjoy double benefits, first, they can 
show higher amount of allowable investment, and second, they 
can claim higher amount of tax rebate. The comparative picture 
is shown below:

Table 6: Tax Rebate on Investment Allowance

f) Exclusion from Total Income (Sixth Schedule, Part A):
Some other changes have been proposed in sixth schedule for 
exclusion of some income from total income as shown below:

g) Exemptions and Allowances for Individual Assessee:
Exemptions is permitted to individual assessees for any sum 
invested in the purchase of unit certificates and mutual fund 
certificates issued by any financial institutions or the 
Investment corporation of Bangladesh and its subsidiaries (6th 
Schedule, Part B, (Para 10) (1) (b)). In previous year, it was 
allowed on the certificates issued by ICB and its subsidiaries 
only.

Income Tax

AY 2012-13 AY 2013-14 Types of Assessee 

Income 

Slab 

Tax 

Rate 

Income 

Slab 

Tax 

Rate

A. Resident / Non-resident Bangladeshi, Resident Foreigner, 

HUF, Firm, AOP, Other artificial judicial persons 

    

Tier 1:     

For disable/handicapped individual 275,000 0% 300,000 0% 

For women and elderly citizens being more than 65 

years of age 

225,000 0% 250,000 0% 

For others 200,000 0% 220,000 0% 

Tier 2:     

Next 300,000 10% 300,000 10% 

Tier 3:     

Next 400,000 15% 400,000 15% 

Tier 4:     

Next 300,000 20% 300,000 20% 

Tier 5:     

On Balance *** 25% *** 25% 

B. Non-resident Foreigner  all 25% all 25% 

Area
 

2012-13
 

2013-14
 

Within City Corporation 
 

3,000
 

3,000
 

Paurashava at District Town
 

3,000
 

2,000
 

Other places including  Upazillas 
 

3,000
 

1,000
 

Any individual assessee having net wealth as per the statement of assets 

From Tk. 20,000,000 to Tk. 100,000,000 10% 

Exceeding Tk. 100,000,000 15% 

Particulars AY 2012-13 AY 2013-14 

Adjustment of tax payable on salary income with other tax 
deducted/collected at Source 

not adjustable adjustable 

House Rent Allowance 180,000 240,000 

Conveyance Allowance 24,000 30,000 

 Particulars AY 2012-13 AY 2013-14 

A. Tax rebate on allowable investment allowance   
Lower one of -   

(i) Actual investment Or  *** *** 

(ii) a fixed % of total taxable income allowable as investment  20% 30% 

Provided that it doesn’t exceed the maximum allowable 
investment limit of  

10,000,000 15,000,000 

% of tax rebate on allowable investment as computed above 10% 15% 

B. Tax rebate on investment in mutual funds n/a 15% 

Para Heads Exclusion limits and periods 

Para 11A Income from Dividend Exemption amount has been increased from Tk. 5,000 to Tk. 
10,000. 

Para 35 Income from export of 

handicraft 

Any income derived from the export of handicrafts has been 

excluded from total income for a period up to June 30, 2015.  

39 Income from SME Income derived from any Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) 
engaged in production of any goods and having an annual 

turnover of not more than Tk. 3,000,000. Previously such 

amount was Tk. 2,400,000.  

42 Income from Poultry The period of exclusion for any income derived from poultry 
has been extended up to June 30, 2015. 
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An Example: Based on the incentives proposed in Finance Act 
2013, an example is given below which compares the tax liability 
between two consecutive assessment years.  The result shows that 
the individual assessee will get significant tax savings due to the 
incentives. In this example, we have assumed an individual with 
annual income of Tk. 1,500,000 and we have considered the new 
measures of finance act 2013 only for a comparative picture.

Table 7: Impact of Finance Act 2013 on Tax Calculation

Administrative Simplifications

Some administrative simplifications are proposed to ease the 
return submission process and resolve the disputes arising from 
tax related issues. Some of such proposals are as follows:
a) An individual (other than a shareholder director of a company), 

having income from salary or income not exceeding Tk. 
300,000 from business or profession, is not required to submit a 
statement of life style.

b) Introduction of an easy and separate income tax return form for 
(a) salaried employee of any income level and (b) businessman 
with the income level of maximum Tk. 300,000. In both of the 
cases, a separate wealth statement is proposed to be attached 
along with the return. 

c) To receive TIN, it is made mandatory to submit NID number or a 
copy of passport.

d) Submission of TIN for new taxpayers and a certificate of 
resolving any case relating to income tax during last income 
year for existing taxpayers are made compulsory. 

e) Consideration of the computer generated certificate or certificate 
supplied to the taxpayers through computer system.

Impact Assessment on Firms

Income tax rates for individual assessee and partnership firm is 
same. Thus, the amount of non-assessable income for 
partnership firm will be Tk. 220,000 like individual assessee. 
However, Finance Act 2013 brings a change in minimum tax 
requirement for the firms. Every firm having gross receipts of 
more than Tk. 5,000,000, will be liable to pay minimum tax at 
the rate of 0.50% of the amount representing such firm's gross 
receipts from all sources for that year (U/s 16CCC). Due to such 
inclusion, firms will not pay high tax rather some firms who 
haven't paid tax with the excuse of losses have to pay minimum 
tax. So the revenue of the Government is expected to be 
increased. This inclusion is justified due to the existence of 
minimum tax provision for both corporate and even for 
individuals.

Impact Assessment on Companies

Corporate tax rates are proposed to be same with some 
exceptions. For publicly traded mobile phone operator 
company, the tax rate is proposed to be 40% in place of 35% for 
the AY 2013-14. And for cigarette manufacturing company, the 
rates have been changed to 45% from 42.5% and 40% from 
35% for non-publicly and publicly traded company respectively 
as per the new act. Tax rates for other companies remain same 
as shown in the table below:

Table 8: Corporate Tax Rates

Tax-Holiday Period and Tax Exempted Income
Tax holiday periods for some businesses at reducing rate has been 
extended for two more years up to June 30, 2015 provided that 
these undertakings can go for investment and commercial 
production within the period. In addition, it is proposed to offer 
tax holiday benefits to industrial undertakings for 5-7 years based 
on developed or underdeveloped area and 10 years to physical 
infrastructure facilities. In both of the cases, tax holiday rate for 
first two years will be 100% and then the rate will be gradually 
reduced.  In some other cases, period for collection of tax at a 
lower rate (15%) has also been extended up to June 30, 2015. Tax 
exemption in poultry sector has been extended for two more years 
and tax rate has been reduced in some other cases. A summary of 
tax holiday period, exempted income and reduction of rates and 
collecting tax at lower rate is given in the table below:

Table 10: Tax Holiday Period and Tax Exempted Income
Tax Rebate on Investment
Some change has been proposed in investment related issues 
like premium, sale proceeds of bond, private mutual fund, 

 AY 2012-13 AY 2013-14 

Annual Income   1,500,000   1,500,000 
Less: Allowable 

expenditure: 

      

House Rent Allowance  180,000   240,000  

Conveyance Allowance    24,000    204,000    30,000    270,000 
Net Taxable Income   1,296,000   1,230,000 

Computing Tax:       

On first 200,000 0% 0 220,000 0% 0 
Next 300,000 10% 30,000 300,000 10% 30,000 

Next 400,000 15% 60,000 400,000 15% 60,000 

Next 300,000 20% 60,000 300,000 20% 60,000 

On balance 96,000 25%   24,000 30,000 25%     7,500 
Gross tax   174,000   157,500 

Investment Allowance:       

Maximum 10,000,000   15,000,000   
20% of Taxable Income 259,200      

30% of Taxable Income    369,000   

Rebate on Lower one 259,200 10%   25,920 369,000 15%   55,350 
Net Tax Payable   148,080   102,150 

Tax rates for AY Types of 

Company 
Types of Income 

2012-13 2013-14

Transfer of stocks and shares of 
any company registered under 

Companies Act, 1994. [SRO No. – 

269-Law/Income Tax/2010] 

10% 10% 

(1) Capital gain 
arising out of 

Transfer of other capital assets 15% 15% 

(2) Dividend income Dividend declared by any 

company registered under 

companies act 1913 or 1994 or 

any foreign company  

20% 20% 

Bank, 
Insurance, 

Financial 

Institutions  

(3) Other income Both for publicly and not publicly 

traded company 
42.5% 42.5% 

Merchant 

Bank 

Taxable Income Both for Publicly and not Publicly 

Traded Company 
37.5% 37.5% 

(1) Taxable Income Private Limited Company 45% 45% Mobile Phone 

Operator 

Company 
(2) Taxable Income If converted into public limited 

company by issuing minimum 

10% (pre-initial public offering 
placement should not exceed 5%) 

of shares through IPO 

 

35% 

 

40% 

(1) Taxable Income Non-publicly Traded Company 42.5% 45% Cigarette 

Manufacturing 
Company 

(1) Taxable Income Publicly Traded Company 
35% 40% 

Transfer of stocks and shares of 

any company registered under 

Companies Act, 1994. [SRO No. – 
269-Law/Income Tax/2010] 

10% 10% 

(1) Capital gain 

arising out of 

Transfer of other capital assets 15% 15% 

(2) Dividend income Dividend declared by any 

company registered under 

companies act 1913 or 1994 or 
any foreign company 

20% 20% 

For publicly Traded Company:    

If dividend declared less than 10% 

or no dividend within the SEC 

stipulated time 

37.5% 37.5% 

dividend declared @ more than  24.75% 24.75% 

-Other situation 27.5% 27.5% 

For Non-publicly traded company, 

local authority and private limited 
company and other companies as 

per sec 2(20). 

37.5% 37.5% 

Other 

Company 

(3) Other income 

If at least 20% of paid-up capital of a non-publicly 

traded company is exchanged through IPO, can claim 
10% tax rebate on tax payable during the year when such 

exchange is made 

But minimum tax for companies will be zero point five zero (0.50%) per cent of the amount 

representing such company's gross receipts from all sources for that year. 

 AY 2012-13 AY 2013-14 

Tax-Holiday  for 17  Industrial Undertakings 30 June, 2013 30 June, 2015 
Tax-Holiday for 17 Physical Infrastructure Facilities 30 June, 2013 30 June, 2015 

15% Tax on Income Derived from Production of Jute Goods 30 June, 2013 30 June, 2015 

15% Tax on Income from Fabric, Dying industry etc. 30 June, 2013 30 June, 2015 

Tax Exemption on income from Export of Handicrafts 30 June, 2013 30 June, 2015 
Tax Exemption in Poultry Sector 30 June, 2013 30 June, 2015 

Tax  Rate on Income from Fisheries, Hatchery etc. 5% 3% 

Tax Rate on the Income from Production of Peletted Feed 
for  Fish, Shrimp and Cattles 

37.5% 3% 
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Other Pertinent Issues
a) Amortization of License Fees
A new Para (Para 10A) is added to Third Schedule that is related to 
license fees. Here, license fees refer to spectrum assignment fees 
paid by a cellular mobile phone operator. Amortization of License 
Fees is only admissible if a resident company pays such fees on or 
after 1st July 2012 wholly and exclusively for the purpose of 
obtaining permission from any authority authorized by the 
government applicable for two or more years to run a business. The 
assessee shall be allowed a deduction of an amount proportionate 
to such years and such deduction shall continue till the last year of 
the period for which the license was granted.

b) Reduce Appeal Fee to Honorable High Court (Sec. 160)

To submit an application with High Court Division for any 
question of law arising from the order of the Appellate Tribunal, an 
assessee is required to deposit a certain percentage of tax on the 
difference between the tax as determined on the basis of the order 
of the Taxes Appellate Tribunal and the tax payable under section 
74. Such percentage has been reduced by significant percentage as 
mentioned below:

c) Tax Deducted at Sources
Finance Act has proposed some changes in TDS rates and heads of 
income applicable to TDS. An existing head of income where TDS 
was applicable (premium on share) has been relieved from TDS. At 
the same time some new heads are brought under TDS, for 
example, manufacturer of soft drinks. Newly inserted heads subject 
to TDS and change of TDS rates through finance act is presented 
below:

d) Investment proposal in buying and constructing  building 
and apartment 

Source of any sum invested by any person in the construction or 
purchase of any residential building or apartment cannot be 
questioned by income tax authority; provided that tax is paid at 
prescribed rate before the assessment for the relevant assessment 
year in which the investment is completed. This benefit will not be 

applicable for non-residential building or apartment. However, a 
provision of 20% additional tax is proposed for having more than 
one building or apartment. For the purpose of tax, the whole 
country is strategically divided into five areas and tax rate is 
proposed for different sizes as given below:

However, in both of the case, the benefits cannot be enjoyed if the 
invested amount is derived through any criminal activities or not 
derived from any legitimate source (Sec. 19BBBBB).
Conclusion 
The fiscal policy of the government of Bangladesh for the year 
2013-14 has some notable features. While the government is trying 
to mobilize internal resources for the development work like the 
construction of Padma Bridge, the Finance Act 2013 doesn't 
provide any new sources for raising extra revenue for the 
government.  The suspension of generalized system of preference 
(GSP) by US may cause a significant tool on the export of 
Bangladeshi goods in US market causing a downturn in 
government revenue.  However, the apparel industry in general will 
not be harmed by the recent suspension from the GSP imposed by 
USA, as it has been exporting apparels without any such advantage.
The good side of the budget is that the budget deficit is estimated 
to be Tk. 55,032 million which is only Tk. 5,376 million higher 
than the previous year. Targeting a huge expenditure may make 
this deficit much higher. Thus the budget may be considered as a 
balanced budget if the expected revenue may be realized. Here, we 
may be very positive as the government has already shown its 
efficiency in collecting revenue in line with the budgeted one.
This time, the Finance Act 2013 has devised in such a way that 
establishes some cannons of taxation like certainty, capability, 
equality and economy. Burden of individual tax liability has been 
reduced by a handsome amount whereas government is trying to 
extend the tax net so that new taxpayers may fill-up the reduced 
amount of collection. Such policy is very effective and the 
government deserves credit for it. Some simplifications are 
proposed that will reduce the unusual hassle and complexity of 
paying tax. From this year, firms are subject to minimum tax 
to make it at par with individual and corporate tax-payers. 
From an overall analysis of the Act, it can be concluded that 
the proposed changes to tax laws have economic substance 
and justification, some election manifestation may be 
materialized here, however, it will not sacrifice the 
economic well-being and solvency of the country.
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Income Tax

 AY 2012-13 AY 2013-14 

Tax deductible at source on the premium over face value of 
share of a company 

3% 0% 

Tax deductible at source on bond sale 0.05% 0% 

Tax rebate on the investment in private mutual fund 0% 15% 

Tax exempted dividend income threshold 5,000 10,000 

 AY 2012-13 AY 2013-14 

If tax demand does not exceed Tk. 1,000,000 25% 15% 
If tax demand exceeds Tk. 1,000,000 50% 25% 

Section-52A(3)    

10% - if the recipient furnishes his TIN to the payer Fees for professional or 

technical services 15% - if the recipient fails to furnish his TIN to the payer 

Section 52B    

Cigarettes manufacturing  10% of the value of the banderols 

Section 52S    

Manufacturer of soft drink The Security Printing Corporation (Bangladesh) Limited, or 

any other person responsible for delivery of banderols or 

stamps, shall collect, at the time of delivery of such banderols 

or stamps to any manufacturer of soft drinks, 3% of the value of 

soft drinks as determined for the purpose of the Value Added 

Tax (VAT) 
Section 53FF Areas For 

Residential 
Purpose 

For Non-

residential 
Purpose 

Gulshan Model Town, Banani, 

Baridhara, Motijeel Commercial Area 

and Dilkusha Commercial Area 

Tk. 1,600 Tk. 6,500 

Dhanmondi Residential Area, Defense 

Officers Housing Society (DOHS), 

Mahakhali, Lalmatia Housing Society, 

Uttara Model Town, Bashundhara 
Residential Area, Dhaka Cantonment 

Area, Karwan Bazar Commercial Area of 

Dhaka and Panchlaish Residential Area, 
Khulshi Resindential Area, Agrabad and 

Nasirabad of Chittagong 

Tk. 1,500 Tk. 5,000 

Collection of tax from 

persons engaged in real 

estate or land development 
business @ per square meter 

in areas other than areas mentioned 

above 

Tk. 600 Tk. 1,600 

Tax rate on per Square Meter Location of the Property 

Up to 200 
Square Meter 

Above 200 
Square Meter 

A. In case of purchase of residential building and apartment    

Gulshan Model Town, Banani, Baridhara, Motijheel 

Commercial Area and Dilkusha Commercial Area of Dhaka 

5,000 7,000 

Dhanmondi Residential Area, Defence Officers Housing Society 
(DOHS), Mahakhali, Lalmatia Housing Society, Uttara Model 

Town, Bashundhara Residential Area, Dhaka Cantonment, 

Kawran Bazar, Bijaynagar, Segunbagicha,   Nikunja  of  Dhaka 
 and Panchlaish,  Khulshi,  Agrabad  and  Nasirabad Area of 

Chittagong 

4,000 5,000 

Other areas of  City Corporation 2,000 3,000 

Paurasabha of any district headquarters 1,000 1,500 

Other Areas including Upazilla 700 1,000 

More than one house/flat Extra 20% Extra 20% 
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National Budget Deficit and its' Burden on Financial Sector: 

Bangladesh Perspective

Ishter Mahal*
Benazir Rahman** 

Abstract: The journey of Bangladesh as a country from being an underdeveloped country to be a developing country 

was not so easy and still is struggling to maintain such status along with the efforts of the government. The economic 

development is essential for a country and to ensure such development a country needs to create a balance between 

public and private sector development as a whole. The national budget reflects the governmental revenue and 

expenditure for a particular fiscal year. The deficit balance in national budget indicates that the government needs to 

finance the deficit balance in excess of revenue through national and foreign debts or aids. The study reveals that the 

more deficit balance will create more pressure on financial institutions as a domestic source of budget financing 

especially on the banking sector which ultimately create liquidity crisis in the long run and affect adversely to the 

private sector investment.  

 Keywords: Budget Deficit, National Budget, Deficit Financing, Regression Analysis.

Introduction

Bangladesh is one of the developing countries of the world 
today. It is an independent democratic country for which we 
had to sacrifice a lot of life in the liberation war. To justify 
the sacrifice we must concentrate on the prosperity of the 
country. Without the economic progress it is impossible. The 
journey from underdeveloped country to developing country 
has become possible by the assistance of economic 
prosperity. The national budget is the most significant part 
of economy. Already 43rd national budget has declared in 
June, 2013. But still the country deals with deficit budget. It 
creates heavy pressure on the private borrowing as due to 
public borrowing loanable funds for private sector every 
year facing the bearish trend. To become a developed 
country we must focus on diminishing the deficit figure year 
by year to create opportunity for private sector to get more 
financing and increase business activities.

2. Objectives of the study
2.1. Broad Objective

The broad objective of the study is to focus on the impact of 
national budget deficit over the lending capability of 
financial sectors of Bangladesh especially the banking 
industry.

2.2. Specific Objective
The specific objectives of the study deal with as follows;

  To find out the impact of budget deficit over the public 
borrowing of Bangladesh

  To find out the impact of budget deficit over the private 
borrowing of Bangladesh

  To find out the possibility to overcome the hindrance of 
private sector borrowing

  To focus on the deficit budget is one of the reason of 
increasing crowding-out effect as well as  liquidity crisis

  To focus on the recommendation on overcoming the 
scenario.

3. Literature Review

H. Remolona (2002) did a research on Philippines budget 
deficit financing of 12-year period from 1970-1981 titled 
where an attempt is made to get at those elasticities by 
estimating demand functions for money and for future 
wealth. The resulting calculations show that even with credit 
liberalization, there would still be no room for the inflation 
tax. The budget deficit at its present levels should be 
financed entirely by open-market borrowing. This means the 
Philippines relied too much on domestic open-market 
borrowing and foreign borrowing, and too little on raising 
reserve requirements in the 12-year period of the study. 
Khan et al (2008) critically analyzed the effect of budget 
deficit on private and public investment based on the annual 
data for the period 1960-2005, taken from Economic Survey 
of Pakistan and International Financial Statistic. The study 
revealed that bank credit to private sector, government 
domestic bank borrowing, and foreign reserves have positive 
significant effect on money supply. Both domestic bank
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** Benazir Rahman, Lecturer, Department of Business Administration, Northern University 

Bangladesh (NUB).
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borrowing and foreign borrowing to finance budget deficit 
crowded-in private and public investment with same 
elasticity, but foreign borrowing encourage foreign reserve 
outflow. Imam (2012) examined the impact of government 
expenditures on private investment and also how the 
financing of budget deficit have not only affected the 
performance of private investment but also how it crowds 
out private investment in Nigeria. The findings revealed a 
negative relationship between deficit financing and 
investment in the period under review i.e deficit financing in 
Nigeria crowds out private investment. 

Ramzan et al (2013) explored the impact of budget deficit on 
economic growth in Pakistan through their research for the 
period of 1980 to 2010 using Regression Analysis. The 
analysis reveals that the Model is good fit. Gross domestic 
product and inflation is normally distributed. Investment 
domestic credit and budget deficit is positively skewed. 
There is a non-linear relationship between dependent 
variable GDP and independent variables inflation and 
investment. Linear relationship exists between GDP, budget 
deficit and domestic credit. Regression results show that 
model is a good fit. Correlation between inflation and 
investment is weak and correlation between credit and 
investment is also weak while correlation between budget 
deficit and investment is moderate.

George et al (2013) did a research on evaluating economic 
strategies in reducing budget deficit in Kenya. On the issue 
of government expenditure it was recommended that the 
numerous austerity measures that have over the years been 
proposed by the various Finance Bills be strictly adhered to 
cut down on the avoidable public expenditures and equally 
the government to utilize concessional loans that have zero 
interest rates so as to cut down on interest repayments on its 
loans. Moreover the researcher found out that inflation was 
heavily contributing to the budget deficit in Kenya hence 
recommendable that the government initiates various fiscal 
and monetary policies to contain inflation to manageable 
levels.

4. Background of the National Budget of 
Bangladesh

Bangladesh is an independent country since the liberation 
war of 1971. Each and every fiscal year the ministry of 
finance of the People's Republic of Bangladesh has to 
declare an annual budget. Government budget contains the 
strategies for mobilization, allocation and disbursement of 
public money by means of fiscal and monetary operations 
with due consideration of political, economic, and 
bureaucratic decision-making process. Constitutionally, 
Bangladesh uses the term 'Annual Financial Statement', 
which shows the estimated receipts and expenditures of the 
government for a particular financial year. 

Some Characteristics of Budget in Bangladesh are as follows-  

It is effective during a financial year starting from July 
1 and ending on June 30, next year 

Budget is divided into Revenue Budget, Capital Budget 
and Development Budget

The government budgeting is done on a cash basis. Both 
receipts and expenditures are shown in cash terms

Foreign loans are reflected on a gross receipt basis 
showing total disbursement

Budget is prepared on incremental basis, on the basis of 
upward adjustment of expenditure as against 
performance budgeting

   The journey of this budget process began on the Fiscal 
year 1972-73.

4.1. First Financial Budget of Bangladesh- Fiscal Year 
1972-73

First financial budget of the fiscal year 1972-73 was 
proposed by Tajuddin Ahmed (first Finance and planning 
minister of Bangladesh) on 7th July 1972. There was no 
deficit in the budget rather there was surplus in the first 
fiscal budget of newly independent Bangladesh. There was 
no new tax in the budget which was one of the most 
significant aspects the first budget. The first budget consists 
of following issues -

Source- The Annual Plan 1972-73 Planning Commission, Government of 

Bangladesh 1972 

4.2.  Latest budget of Bangladesh for the Fiscal year 
2013-14

Recently the 43rd budget has declared. The 43rd budget 
reveals following issues -

4.3.    Current scenario

Though the starting budget had surplus balance but today we 
can see that every year the budget incur deficit balance and 
the trend of deficit figure is increasing. We start with budget 
surplus of TK.66.95 crore but today on FY2013-14 the 
deficit budget amount is TK.48,362 crore. The first budget 
had backed by heavy foreign financial assistances of around 
70%. So as a developing country it is natural to face deficit 
budget. But the problem is it is increasing day by day which
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National Budget o FY1972-73 at a glimpse 

• Total amount of expenditures in the budget is 501 crore Bangladeshi taka. 

• Total surplus in the budget is 66.95 crore Bangladeshi taka. 

• Total amount of taka 317 crore was allocated for the development projects all over the 

country. 

• Total amount of foreign aid was taka 375 crore . 

National Budget o FY2013-14 at a glimpse 

• 43
rd

 budget of Bangladesh 

• Declared by the finance minister Abul Maal Abdul Muhith 

• Total expenditure is TK. 2,22,491 crore 

• To revenue 1,74,129 crore 

• Foreign donation is TK. 6,670 crore 

• Budget deficit with grants is TK.48,362 crore and without grants is TK. 55,032 crore 

• Total Financing needed of TK. 48,362 crore 

• Foreign Financing of TK. 14,398 crore 

• Domestic Fnancing of TK. 33,964 crore 

• Real GDP growth is estimated 7.2% and inflation is 7% 



ultimately create pressure on banking industry as well as the 
private sector borrowing as a whole. Budget deficit and its 
financing in Bangladesh, like in many other developing 
countries, is very important parameters for scrutinizing 
monetary and the fiscal impacts on the country's overall 
economic development.

4.3.1. Sources of Deficit financing

There are two ways used by the country govt. to finance the 
deficit amount for each fiscal year.

1. Domestic financing

2. Foreign financing

4.3.1.1. Domestic Financing

Domestic financing deals with borrowing from Deposit 
Money Banks (DMBs) include banks, Non-bank Financial 
Institutions (NBFIs) and other financial institutions. 
Generally most of the domestic financing and in fact a large 
portion of deficit amount has financed by the borrowing 
from central and commercial banks. Economic theory tells 
that if debt financing is inflationary when met by borrowing 
from central bank whereas there is a possibility of crowding 
out of private sector investment if the borrowing conducted 
from the scheduled banks.

4.3.1.2. Foreign Financing

Foreign financing consists of foreign loans, grants and aids. 
Many foreign donations also help to recover he deficit figure 
a lot in each fiscal year.

4.4. Domestic financing to ensure debt sustainability

To ensure debt requirement, govt. generally depends on 
domestic sources especially on the banks. Debt sustainability 
is an essential condition for macroeconomic stability and 
sustainable economic growth. Debt sustainability is whether 
a country can meet its current and future debt service 
obligations in full, without recourse to debt relief, 
rescheduling or accumulation of arrears.

5. Analysis of Data and Findings

Each and every year we face deficit national budget and to 
cover that government needs to finance from different 
sectors domestically and globally. The following table 
shows that with the increment of deficit amount in budget 
the need for financing has also increased.
Table -1: Total financing and budget deficit of Bangladesh

(TK. In Billion)

Sources: Bangladesh bank, BBS, Finance division

5.1. Sources of financing

Generally government needs to finance the deficit figure 
from various sources. Mainly two sources are available. One 
is domestic financing and other is foreign financing.

Sources: Bangladesh bank, BBS, Finance division

In year 2008-09 it is found that loans from banking sector 
including central bank is the highest as a percentage of total 
financing. It can be said that it definitely create pressure on 
private borrowing as even central bank need to finance a lot.

In year 2009-10 the bank borrowing shows the second 
highest percentage of total financing after foreign loans.

The pie chart of year 2010-11 shows almost more than half 
of the total financing covered by bank borrowing which 
created ultimate pressure over the loan able funds for the 
private sectors and industries and thus created liquidity 
crisis.

5.2. Financing from banking sector

The Term Banking system covers two areas such as central 
bank and commercial banks. The following chart shows 
overall financing from banking sector from 1999-00 to 
2010-11.

Table-2: Financing from banks                 (TK. In Billion)

Sources: Bangladesh bank, BBS, Finance division
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 1999-

00 

2000-

01 

2001-

02 

2002-

03 

2003-

04 

2004

-05 

2005-

06 

2006-

07 

2007-

08 

2008

-09 

2009-

10 

2010-

11 

Budget deficit 

with grants 
107.7 103.4 101.1 101.4 113 137.9 137.1 152.1 286.8 200.3 273 306 

Budget deficit 

without grants 
107.7 103.4 101.1 101.4 113 137.9 137.1 152.1 286.8 200.3 273 306 

Total 

Financing 
126.9 122.7 130.7 108.1 153.2 154.5 163.9 166.9 241.2 249.6 310.4 348.2 

 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 

Total Financing 249.6 310.4 348.2 

Net Foreign Financing 

Grants  49.3 37.4 42.2 

Loans 102.2 144.9 109.2 

Domestic Financing 

Bank loan(Including 
Central Bank) 

107 86.6 183.8 

Non-Bank loan(Net)  35 86.6 64.4 

Financing from different Sources as % of total financing in 2008-09
19.75%

40.95%
42.87%

14.02%
Grants 
Foreign Loans
Bank loan(Including Central Bank)
Non-Bank loan(Net) 

Financing from different Sources as % of total financing in 2009-10

12.05%

46.68%
27.90%

27.90% Grants 
Foreign Loans
Bank loan(Including Central Bank)
Non-Bank loan(Net) 

Financing from different Sources as % of total financing In 2010-11
12.12%

52.79%

18.50%

31.36%

Grants 
Foreign Loans
Bank loan(Including Central Bank)
Non-Bank loan(Net) 

 1999-

00 

2000-

01 

2001-

02 

2002-

03 

2003-

04 

2004-

05 

2005-

06 

2006-

07 

2007-

08 

2008-

09 

2009-

10 

2010-

11 

Financing 

from 

banks 

35.2 29 25.7 -9.8 26.7 36.9 60.4 44.2 109.6 107 86.6 183.8 

Financing 
of banks 

as a % of 

total 

financing 

22.74 23.64 19.66 -9.07 17.43 23.88 36.85 26.48 45.44 42.87 27.90 52.79 
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The trend line shows that the financing from banking sector 
is consistent among the fiscal years except 2002-03. It shows 
every national budget with deficit balance leads to create 
pressure on banking sector as banks need to finance public 
sector first which create liquidity crisis over the long run. 
Specifically it can be seen that after 2002-03 fiscal year the 
trend of govt. borrowing from banks is indicating bullish 
trend except fiscal year of 2006-07 and 2009-10.

In accordance to the budget deficit increment in each fiscal 
year, the bank borrowing has also increased. It shows that 
more deficits will create more pressure over the banking 
sector which ultimately leads to liquidity crisis.

Table-3: Financing from central and commercial banks 
separately                                                                 (TK. In Billion)

Sources: Bangladesh bank, BBS, Finance division

It can be seen that borrowing from both central and 
commercial banks used to increase with budget deficit 
except a few exception fiscal year such as in 2003-04 central 
bank borrowing shows negative percentage which means 
repayments from govt. side was made. In 2004-05 and 2005-
06 the borrowing from commercial banks also shown 
negative percentage which means repayment had made from 
govt. side. But in the most cases it is seen that with the 
deficit increment, the amount of financing needed has 
increased as well as the bank borrowing. The central bank is 
called the lender of the last resort. But for the govt. 
borrowing it also face difficult situations to maintain such 
role.

5.3. Financing from financial institutions other than 
banks (NBFIs)

Budget deficit creates pressure not only on the banking 
sectors but also to the other financial institutions as well.

Table-4: Financing from NBFIs                          (TK. In Billion)

Sources: Bangladesh bank, BBS, Finance division

The trend also shows consistent in case of financing deficit 
scenarios as like banks.

5.4. Net borrowing of the Government from banking 
sector

 Net (Borrowing - Repayment) of the govt. from the banking 
sector has furnished as follows -

Table-5: Net borrowing of Govt. from the banking system  

(Taka in Crore)

Source: National Accounts Statistics, BBS

The negative figure implies that a repayment by the govt. to 
the banking system. It can be seen that in the most cases 
almost half of the deficit balance had covered by the bank 
borrowing. It indicates that more govt. borrowing from 
banks will create crowding out effect which means fewer 
funds will be available for private sector investment which 
definitely hinders the development of the country.

5.5.  Regression analysis

To justify the study two regression analysis in between 
different variables have shown.

5.5.1. Regression analysis of Public sector borrowing from 
financial sectors and budget deficit

For the regression analysis we have selected following 
variables -
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 1999-

00 

2000-

01 

2001-

02 

2002-

03 

2003-

04 

2004-

05 

2005-

06 

2006-

07 

2007-

08 

Loans from Commercial 

banks 
17.9 9 -1.6 16.1 10.2 -1.4 -33.1 35.1 108.9 

Loans from Central bank 17.4 20.1 27.3 -25.9 16.5 38.3 93.5 9.1 0.7 

 

 1999-

00 

2000-

01 

2001-

02 

2002-

03 

2003-

04 

2004-

05 

2005-

06 

2006-

07 

2007-

08 

2008-

09 

2009-

10 

2010-

11 

Financing 

from 

NBFIs  

32.3 42.1 47.1 47.9 46.6 29.3 31 46.8 31.4 35 86.6 64.4 

Financing 
from 

NBFIs as 

% of total 

financing 

25.45 34.31 36.04 44.31 30.42 18.96 18.91 28.04 13.02 14.02 27.90 18.50 
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2007-08 28680 11531.50 

2008-09 20030 10527.40 

2009-10 27300 -4376 

2010-11 30600 19384.10 

2011-12 45204 18753.90 
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Public sector borrowing from DMBs- Dependent 
Variable (Y)

Budget deficit - Independent variable (X1)

a. Predictors: (Constant), Budget Deficit

b. Dependent Variable: Advances to Public Sector

Coefficient of correlation (R)- It measures the relationship 
degree of relationship between the dependent and 
independent variables. Here, R = 0.827 indicates that there is 
a positive correlation between the variables. If the 
independent variable increases then this will result the 
dependent variable increase accordingly.

Coefficient of Determination (R2)- R2 shows the proportion 
of the variability in the dependent variable that can be 
explained by the estimated multiple regression equation. 
Here R2 is equal to 0.684 (68.40% expressed in percentage) 
indicates 68.40% of the variability in Advances to public 
sector is explained by the estimated by the Budget deficit 
volume.

Adjusted R2

Here Adj. R2= 0.652. R square shows the proportion of 
variability in the dependent variable that can be explained by 
multiple regressions. Adjusted R Square is the actual 
variability which is adjusted for both the independent 
variables. It is actual R2 needed when we add the second 
independent variable. It is found after the analysis that the 
proportion is 0.652 or 65.20%.

Standard Error of Estimate

Standard error of estimate denotes the error of overall 
estimation of the multiple correlations. Here the error is   
1522.08625 which indicate the variability between the 
expected and actual value.

a. Predictors: (Constant), Budget Deficit
b. Dependent Variable: Advances to Public Sector
Here,
    Sum of squares due to regression, (SSR) = 50144313
    Sum of square due to error, (SSE) = 23167466
    Total sum of square (SST) = 73311778

F-Test

The F Test is used to determine whether a significant 
relationship prevails between the dependent variable and 
independent variables. It is considered as the test for overall 
significance. Here the hypothesis for the F test is deemed as 
there is no significant relationship between dependent and 
independent variables. The alternative hypothesis is vice 
versa. 

Therefore the null hypothesis is:

Ho: ß1 = 0

Ha: one of the parameters is not equal to zero

If null hypothesis is rejected we can conclude that the 
overall relationship between Y (Advances to public sector) 
and independent variable X1 (Budget deficit volume) is 
significant.

Test Statistic, F= MSR/MSE

                         = 21.644

And the given table value is 4.90 with the level of 
significance,    = 0.10 

As 21.644 is higher than table value so we certainly derive 
that the null hypothesis is rejected. So the overall 
relationship is significant.

a. Dependent Variable: Advances to Public Sector

t-Test

t- Test is used to determine whether each of the independent 
variable is significant. We refer to each of the separate t- 
Test for each of the independent variable as a test for 
individual significance. 

t values of our variable is 4.652 and using  = 0.05, t  
/2=0.025, df=11 = 2.201

Since 4.652>0.816, we reject   H0: ß1 = 0

Hence there is a significant relationship between advances to 
public sector and budget deficit at significance level of 0.50.

Regression Analysis

Here

Dependable Variable- Advances to public sector (Y) 

Independent Variable- Budget Deficit (X1)

Findings

From the output above we can bring out an equation that is 
like: 
                            Y=  ß0+ß1X1

Advances to public sector =3032.977+ 0.273 Budget Deficit

Descriptive Statistics 

 Mean Std. Deviation N 

Advances to Public Sector 7632.8667 2581.60940 12 

Budget Deficit 16829.17 7811.41526 12 

Model Summary 
b
 

 
Model R 

R 
Square 

Adjusted 
R Square 

Std. Error of 
the Estimate 

R Square 
Change 

F 
Change 

df1 df2 
Sig. F 

Change 

Durbin-  
Watson 

1 .827 
a
 .684 .652 1522.08625 .684 21.644 1 10 .001 2.103 

ANOVA 
b
 

Model 
Sum of 

Squares 
df 

Mean 

Square 

 

F Sig. 

1 Regression 

Residual 

Total 

50144313 

23167466 

73311778 

1 

10 

11 

50144312.64 

2316746.561 

21.644 
.001 

a
 

 

Coefficients 
a
 

Unstandardized 

Coefficients 

Standardized 

Coefficients Model 

B Std. Error Beta 

t Sig. 

(Constant) 3032.977 1081.961  2.803 .019 
1 

Budget Deficit         .273        .059 .827 4.652 .001 

o

o
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Here 0.273 represent an estimate of the changes 
corresponding to single quantity changes in deficit volume 
which is in positive relation that for 1 increasing or 
decreasing arrangement with deficit volume results 7.799 
increase or decrease the Advances to public sector. 3032.977 
represent the value of ß0 which is constant coefficient that 
shows the reduction of Advances to public sector when 
independent variable is zero(0).

If we calculate regression from different samples we can get 
the following standard errors of Y intercept ß0, and ß1 for 
deficit volume are 1081.961 & 0.059.

5.5.2. Regression analysis of financing from banking 
sector and budget deficit

For the regression analysis we have selected following 
variables - 

Financing from banks - Dependent Variable (Y)

Budget deficit - Independent variable (X1)

a. Predictors: (Constant), Budget Deficit
b. Dependent Variable: Financing from banks

Coefficient of correlation (R)- It measures the relationship 
degree of relationship between the dependent and 
independent variables. Here, R = 0.90 indicates that there is 
a positive correlation between the variables. If the 
independent variable increases then this will result the 
dependent variable increase accordingly.

Coefficient of Determination (R2)- R2 shows the 
proportion of the variability in the dependent variable that 
can be explained by the estimated multiple regression 
equation. Here R2 is equal to 0.809 (80.9% expressed in 
percentage) indicates 80.9% of the variability in financing 
from banks is explained by the estimated by the budget 
deficit.

Adjusted R2

Here Adj. R2= 0.790. R-square shows the proportion of 
variability in the dependent variable that can be explained by 
regressions. Adjusted R Square is the actual variability 
which is adjusted for both the independent variables. It is 
actual R2 needed when we add the second independent 
variable. It is found after the analysis that the proportion is 
0.790 or 79%.

Standard Error of Estimate

Standard error of estimate denotes the error of overall 

estimation of the multiple correlations. Here the error is 
24.00210 which indicate the variability between the 
expected and actual value.

Durbin-Watson d test

The d test verifies the degree of autocorrelation between 
error terms of two observations.

Here, Ho: no positive autocorrelation exists

Here, d = 2.815 and so we can accept the null hypothesis as 
the value is close to 2.

So, the coefficient of autocorrelation,  (Rho) is 0.

a. Predictors: (Constant), Budget Deficit

b. Dependent Variable: Financing from banks

Here,

    Sum of squares due to regression,(SSR) = 24439.512

    Sum of square due to error, (SSE) = 5761.010

    Total sum of square (SST) = 30200.523

F-Test

The F Test is used to determine whether a significant 
relationship prevails between the dependent variable and 
independent variables. It is considered as the test for overall 
significance. Here the hypothesis for the F test is deemed as 
there is no significant relationship between dependent and 
independent variables. The alternative hypothesis is vice 
versa. 

Therefore the null hypothesis is:

                   Ho: ß1 = 0

                   Ha: one of the parameters is not equal to zero

If null hypothesis is rejected we can conclude that the 
overall relationship between Y (Financing from banks) and 
independent variable X1(Budget Deficit) is significant.

                 Test Statistic, F= MSR/MSE

                                          = 42.422

And the given table value is 4.90 with the level of 
significance,   = 0.10

As 42.422 is higher than table value so we certainly derive 
that the null hypothesis is rejected. So, the overall 
relationship is significant.

Descriptive Statistics 

 Mean Std. Deviation N 

Financing from banks 61.2750 52.39754 12 

Budget deficit 168.3200 78.09012 12 

Model Summary 
b
 

 
Model R 

R 
Square 

Adjusted 
R Square 

Std. Error of 
the Estimate 

R Square 
Change 

F 
Change 

df1 df2 
Sig. F 

Change 

Durbin-  
Watson 

1 .900 
a
 .809 .790 24.00210 .809 42.422 1 10 .000 2.815 

ANOVA 
b
 

Model 
Sum of 

Squares 
df 

Mean 

Square 

 

F Sig. 

1 Regression 

Residual 

Total 

24439.512 

5761.010 

30200.523 

1 

10 

11 

24439.512 

576.101 

42.422 
.000 

a
 

Coefficients 
a
 

Unstandardized 

Coefficients 

Standardized 

Coefficients 

Collinearity 

Statistics Model 

B Std. Error Beta 

t Sig. 

Tolerance VIF 

(Constant) -40.324 17.068  -2.362 .040   
1 

Budget Deficit      .604     .093 .900 6.513 .000 1.000 1.000 

o
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Already 43rd national budget has declared in June, 
2013. But still the country deals with deficit budget. 
It creates heavy pressure on the private borrowing 

as due to public borrowing loanable funds for 
private sector every year facing the bearish trend. 
To become a developed country we must focus on 

diminishing the deficit figure year by year to create 
opportunity for private sector to get more financing 

and increase business activities.

t-Test

t- Test is used to determine whether each of the independent 

variable is significant. We refer to each of the separate t-Test 

for each of the independent variable as a test for individual 

significance. 

All the t value of our variable is 6.513 and using     = 0.05, t

    /2=0.025,df=11 = 2.201

Since 6.513>2.201 we reject   H0: ß
1
 = 0

Hence there is a significant relationship between Financing 

from banks and Budget deficit at significance level of 0.05.

Regression Analysis

Here,

Dependable Variable-Financing from banks (Y) 

Independent Variables- Budget Deficit (X
1
)

Findings

From the output above we can bring out an equation that is 

like: 

     Y= ß
0
+ß

1
X

1

     Financing from banks =-40.324+0.604 Budget deficit

Here 0.604 represent an estimate of the changes 

corresponding to single quantity changes in deficit volume 

which is in positive relation that for 1 increasing or 

decreasing arrangement with deficit volume results 0.604 

increase or decrease the Financing from banks. (-40.324) 

represent the value of ?0 which is constant coefficient that 

shows the reduction of Financing from banks for the public 

sector when independent variable is zero (0).

If we calculate regression from different samples we can get 

the following standard errors of Y intercept ?0, and ?1 for 

budget deficit are 17.068 & 0.093.

6. Concluding Remarks

The analysis of data reveals the following scenarios - 

Bank loan has become the prime source of govt. 

borrowing from domestic part. The ratio of govt. 

borrowing from banks is increasing day by day as we 

found that in Fiscal Year 2012-13 in the last nine days 

of this year, govt. has taken TK.41.20 billion from 

banking system- TK.4.6 billion per day on an average.  

As amount of bank loan by govt. increases, it is also 

fuelling inflation.

Specifically govt. borrowing from the commercial 

banks increased to TK. 25,306.84 crore in the form of 

investment in the govt. securities in FY2012-13 

according to Bangladesh Bank data of which TK. 

13,117 crore was invested in Treasury bills and TK. 

12,189.36 crore in Treasury bonds.

The increasing budget deficit amount will increase the 

bank borrowing from the govt. which will lead the 

liquidity crisis in the long run. 

The loan requirement of the private sector is reducing 

now-a-days. Though country's banking sector is now 

enjoying a balanced liquidity situation due to a lower 

credit demand from the private sector. One Bangladesh 

bank official said that the private sector has recently 

adopted a "Wait and See" approach due to the due to the 

recent spates of political crisis. (Uddin Z., June 12, 

2013).

Because of the huge government borrowing from the 

local banking system, the per capita credit burden of the 

country's population has increased. As per central bank 

statistics, the per capita debt burden is now reached at 

TK. 28,000 which means that even a slum-dweller is 

under such burden of credit.

The increased volume of borrowing from the banking 

system to meet its budget deficit will create crowding-out 

effect which means creating a panic situation due to over 

lending of govt. sector which leads to a scenario where less 

fund is available or left for the private borrowing and 

investment. Due to the excessive borrowing of the govt. 

from the banks, banks will face additional pressure on their 

liquidity position. Without private sector development, a 

country can't think about its overall development. But if the 

govt. borrowing increases in accordance to the increased 

deficit figure each year, the situation will lead to crowding-

out effect which will definitely create pressure on the private 

sector development. At present time, the country is still not 

facing any crisis from the private sector perspective. But it 

can be said that the flow of credit to the private sector is 

likely to decline due to the government's dependence on 

bank loans to meet the budget deficit. However, the deficit 

budget still not creates any negative impact on the overall 

banking sector yet. But if the trend increases over the future

Economic theory tells that if debt financing is 
inflationary when met by borrowing from central 
bank whereas there is a possibility of crowding 

out of private sector investment if the borrowing 
conducted from the scheduled banks.
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Deficit balance in 

national budget 

increase debt 

burden 

Excess lending 

from banking 

sector will push 

the liquidity crisis 

Private sector investment 

falls due to crowding out 

effect caused by excess 

government borrowing 

 National Budget 

deficit 
TK. In Crore 

DMBs
1
 Advances to 

Public sector 
TK. In crore 

DMBs advances to Private 

sector except banks 
TK. In crore 

1999-00 10740 5093.1 52823.5 

2000-01 10340 5537.1 61553.8 

2001-02 10110 5696 70258 

2002-03 10140 5720 78850.8 

2003-04 11300 6230.2 88774.7 

2004-05 13790 6740.2 104730.8 

2005-06 13710 7606.1 122042 

2006-07 15210 7653.6 140776.2 

2007-08 28680 7117.1 175997.3 

2008-09 20030 9644 204574.6 

2009-10 27300 10726.3 253455.9 

2010-11 30600 13830.7 312803.5 

 1999-

00 

2000-

01 

2001-

02 

2002-

03 

2003-

04 

2004-

05 

2005-

06 

2006-

07 

2007-

08 

2008-

09 

2009-

10 

2010-

11 

Budget 

deficit 

with 

grants 

107.74 103.4 101.1 101.4 113 137.9 137.1 152.1 286.8 200.3 273 306 

Financing 

from 

banks 

35.2 29 25.7 -9.8 26.7 36.9 60.4 44.2 109.6 107 86.6 183.8 

 

The proposed budget for FY2013-14 has 
shown that govt. would be taken TK. 25,993 
from the banking sector to meet the budget 
deficit. As a result of the consequences, the 
flow of the credit to the private sector may 

go down. Lastly, the govt. can take 
following initiatives to curb the deficit 

volume for future years.   

periods, then it will definitely create impact on the banking 

industry. The declining loan disbursement will reduce the 

profit of the banking sector. The proposed budget for 

FY2013-14 has shown that govt. would be taken TK. 25,993 

from the banking sector to meet the budget deficit. As a 

result of the consequences, the flow of the credit to the 

private sector may go down. Lastly, the govt. can take 

following initiatives to curb the deficit volume for future 

years.   

Govt. should try to take more and more foreign loans to cover 

the pressure of banking sector.

The govt. needs to concern about the reduction of spending in 

each fiscal year. By taking initiatives of cutting spending in 

budget, the deficit figure may reduce.

Govt. should try to control the increased ratio of budget 

deficit.

Govt. should encourage private sector to invest more and 

increase loan transactions.

For the betterment of the banking industry of Bangladesh 

govt. should avoid lending from banks as much as possible.

Govt. should try to avoid creating too much pressure 

over the central bank as it has to provide needed funds 

to the scheduled banks in time of liquidity crisis. 

To conclude the paper, it can be said that -
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Annexure - I

Data used in the regression analysis of Advances from 

DMBs and budget deficit;

Source: Monthly Economic Trend, Bangladesh Bank

1 DMBs- Deposit Money Banks includes  OFIs, NBFIs, 

NFIs and banks

Annexure - II

Data used in the regression analysis of financing from banks 

and budget deficit. 
(Taka in Billion)

Source: Bangladesh bank, BBS, Finance division
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Hedging of Foreign Currency: A Potential Source of Revenue

Saiful Islam ACMA *

Abstract:  The risk is always attaching with the foreign exchange (FX) products. The dealing officer can minimize the 

risk through hedging of foreign currency. This is very important especially in the developing country like Bangladesh 

where the borrowing rate of financial market is very high. Different methods, tools and techniques are required for 

minimizing this FX risk which may lead to the company a huge potential source of revenue. For an example during the 

period from Oct-2012 to July-2013 Envoy Textiles Limited realized net gain of BDT 72.20 million through financial 

engineering with different hedge product. This study is an attempt to highlight the mechanism of doing hedging in the 

corporate world.

Keywords: Hedging, Foreign Currency, Dealing Process.

Introduction

Bangladesh is the largest manpower exporter and the second 
largest Garmenting exporter in the world which lead to our 
main sources of foreign exchange earnings. The fluctuation 
of FX is very frequent in Bangladesh because of the 
volatility of the country reserve which is direct or indirect 
intervene by the regulatory through major decisions where 
there is largely involvement of FX. Any corporate body in 
Bangladesh who has foreign currency transaction like export 
or other earnings, payment against import or any other mode 
in foreign currency (FC) can generate potential revenue, 
playing with foreign currency (Forward / Future contract). 
The above Forward / Future contract must confirm through 
authorized dealer Bank.

The Concept of Hedging 

Hedging means an investment decision to reduce the risk of 
adverse price movements in a currency or any assets. 
Normally, a hedge consists of taking an offsetting position in 
a related security, such as forward or futures contract.  Type 
of forward / future contracts include: Fixed forward 
[much popular], Per forward, Floating forward, Correlated 
Forward, Range forward, Cross currency forward etc.

1. Fixed forward:

Two parties agree to buy/sell a currency against another 
currency at an agreed exchange rate at an agreed future date 
with some optional payment period. All the forwards are 
used to hedge against prediction of future exchange rate 
movement / volatility.

Advantages and disadvantages:
        Hedge Exchange risk exposure reduce exchange losses.

   Advance knowledge of transaction price helps in 
forecasting balance sheet.

  Contract must be closed out at or before maturity date.

  Market rate may be against forward rate at maturity of the 
forward price.

2. Par Forward:

A series of forward contracts at the same agreed exchange 
rate with different maturity date in the future. Par Forwards 
are generally used to hedge a stream of future cash?flows.

Example PAR Forward against Export:

A 6- month USD / BDT forward contract which matures at 
the beginning of each month

Deal date                                   : 01 January 2013
Option Start dates                     : Aug-13, Sep-13, Oct-13, Nov-13, Dec-13, 
Jan-14
Deal date TT Clean spot rate    : 77.20
Forward rate                              : 82.20
Company to sell                        : $100,000 in total every month
Company to buy / receive         : BDT 8,220,000 in total every month.

Advantages and disadvantages:
-   Hedge Exchange risk exposure
-   Avoid price fluctuation
-   Gain advantage of a significantly higher premium
- Advance knowledge of transaction price helps in 

forecasting balance sheet
-  Spot market rate may be better than the forward rate at 

maturity.
-   Contract must be closed out at or before maturity date.

3. Floating Forward:
A series of outright forward contracts with fixed term done 
continuously after a certain interval from the previous one.*  Saiful Islam, ACMA (A- 0913), Chief Financial Officer, Envoy Textiles Limited, Bangladesh.
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Advantages and disadvantages:

- Hedge Exchange risk exposure

- Flexibility to gain on favorable spot movement

- Gain advantage of a significantly higher premium

- Spot market rate may be better than the forward rate at 
maturity.

- Contract must be closed out at or before maturity date.

4. Correlated Forward:

A fixed/option forward purchase contract linked to the 
spot/near leg deals in the sale side. This product is very 
useful for the FC hedges and suitable for the company to pay 
import obligations through proceed of export collection at 
different dates.

Advantages and disadvantages:

- Hedge Exchange risk exposure and reduce exchange losses.

- Advance knowledge of transaction price helps in forecasting 
balance sheet.

- At present sell/buy preference is provided only for same date 
transactions. With this product, client will gain advantage of 
narrower spreads despite having mismatched flows.

- Spot market rate may be better than the forward rate at 
maturity.

- Contract must be closed out at or before maturity date.

5. Range Forward:
A zero premium combination of a call and put option which 
protects against unfavorable rate movements but limits the 
profits which can be made from favorable price movements. 
If company is an importer then he buys a call and sells a put 
for the same amount and same expiry with different strike 
rates. If company is an exporter then he buys a put and sells 
a call for the same amount and same expiry with different 
strike rates.

For Importer:

- If EUR/USD on expiry is above Cap, Client buys at Cap.

- If EUR/USD on expiry is below Floor, Client buys at 
Floor.

- If EUR/USD on expiry is between Floor and Cap, Client 
buys at spot.

For exporter:

- If EUR/USD on expiry is below Floor, Client sells at Floor.

- If EUR/USD on expiry is above Cap, Client sells at Cap.

- If EUR/USD on expiry is between Floor and Cap, Client 
sells at spot.

Advantages and disadvantages:
- Fully hedged at cap (importer)/ floor (exporter)

- No upfront Premium

- No hedge in between two strikes

- Gain is limited to floor (importer)/ cap (exporter)

6. Cross currency forward:

In a cross-currency swap, the companies exchange a stream 
of payments in one currency for a stream of cash flows in 
another. The cross-currency swap can fully cover the 
currency risk transaction. Conceptually, cross-currency 
swaps can be viewed as a series of forward contracts 
packaged together.

Example: Company X needs to settle 1.00 million EURO at 
25th June- 2014 which is due against import of capital 
machinery under deferred letter of credit. Assume the 
company functional currency is BDT and today 01-09-2013 
the company wants to fix the payment of 1.00 million EURO 
at maturity into USD as it is predict the EURO is more 
volatile than USD and fixed forward under EURO Vs BDT 
is more costly than cross currency forward.

Deal confirmation: Assume today BC rate of EURO and 
USD into BDT is Tk. 104.25 and Tk. 78.20 respectively. 
The cross currency deal will settle at [(EURO BC / USD 
BC) X forward premium rate X forward tenor / 365 days].

Finance
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Historical overview of USD Vs BDT for last 12 years

Historical overview of USD Vs EURO for last 12 years

Dealing process:

a)  An amount of limit need to be sanction with any schedule 
authorized dealer bank for any of the above future contract 
specially any foreign bank like SCB or HSBC. [SCB 
provides 10 times and HSBC provides 3 times of the limit 
sanctioned]. There some specific guarantee or mortgage 
needs to be provided to the bank against the limit.

b) In case of forward deal more than one 365 days an additional 
ISDA Master Agreement needs to be signed with the bank.

c) In the case of forward selling and buying of Foreign 
Currency, the company dealing officer shall choose a fixed 
future date (maximum tenor 365 days for SCB and 730 days 
for HSBC) with some optional payment period (for each 
forward deal), at a fixed future exchange rate. The dealing 
officer shall maintain a favorable spot exchange rate so that 
the maximum premium for future period is maintained.

d) The dealing officer shall choose any of the six methods 
mentioned above for a specific deal with a fixed tenor and 
optional conversion period. In the present market in 
Bangladesh maximum optional period is 3.00 months. This 
optional conversion period is a safety majors to avoid 
penalty from non delivery or nonpayment of foreign 
currency.

e) There shall be an underling instrument (Export or import) for 
each transaction of forward deal.

f) When the deal is matured the company will deliver amount 
of one currency against desired amount of another 
currency. For an example: In case of forward sale the 
exporter will deliver the FC to receive BDT at a fixed rate, 
hedge earlier.

g) As per earlier point the dealer bank shall credit the equivalent 
amount of BDT to the account maintained by the company 
or shall draw a Bangladesh Bank cheque in favor of the 
company as desired by the company time to time.

Due care is required on dealing with FC: The person who 
is responsible for dealing with foreign currency hedging 
must be well acquainted with the foreign currency, previous 
statistical data of the dealing currency, present price position 
of the FC, Present and future two years demand and supply 
of the dealing FC, major government decision relating to 
dealing FC like foreign borrowing, massive investment or 
expenditure decision which require large amount of FC. The 
dealing officer needs to know the present and future 
availability of FC in the company and the reason for major 
price movement in previous 10 years of the transact FC.

Skills required for FX deal:  A dealing officer / financial 
engineer shall be the most dynamic professional person 
having knowledge, experiences, and expertise in different 
fields including the socio-economy of the country. A 
financial engineer shall have a basic degree in



accounting and finance with good knowledge bases in other 
business, economies, statistics, mathematics, and 
communication. In other words, a financial engineer shall 
have to be versatile in knowledge and a good 
communicator. It can be drawn that a financial engineer 
being a professional person in the field of business should 
have following skills:

a) Knowledge of Financial Instruments : Unlike traditional 
products, financial instrument is applied for hedging risk 
and exploiting profit opportunity. Therefore, it can be said 
that a financial engineer should have knowledge of financial 
instruments, their applications, merits & demerits, their 
valuation, and risk hedging.

b) Knowledge Base in Theories of Finance : Theories of 
finance work for valuation and construction of need based 
hedged products in order to cope with the changes in prices 
being traded in the market. A financial engineer involve in 
constructing hedge products shall have strong theoretical 
background and better understanding of theories of finance. 
Unlike other traditional market, there is a laundry list of 
derivative products across derivative markets of the world. 
So, it is very difficult on the part of financial engineer to 
construct financial product without better understanding of 
finance.

c) Background in Mathematics, Statistics and  Econometrics : 
Every model and methodology being use in the valuation, 
pricing, portfolio construction & optimization, and 
calculation of hedge parameters requires application of 
mathematics, Statistics and Econometrics. Therefore, a 
financial engineer should have strong background in 
Mathematics Statistics and Economics.

d) Computer literacy: Financial engineering is almost not 
possible to perform unless a dealing officer is not good at it. 
In almost every role in quantitative financial analysis, 
computer program is essential. The better you are, the easier 
it will be for you to perform in the construction, valuation, 
and pricing of derivative products for hedging price risk.

e) Knowledge of Domestic and international General and Tax 
Laws : Financial instrument and financial derivative markets 
are influenced by national and International laws and 
regulations. So, a financial engineer having knowledge of 
national and internal laws can contribute better for 
construction of marketable derivative products in line with 
the acceptable regulatory practices across global markets.

f) Communication and negotiation Skill : Probably the most 
overlooked need beyond the technical skill required in this 
field is the need for communication, specifically 
communication in the English language and negotiation 
skill. A dealing officer either he is representing the 
company or the bank cannot get the better pricing in 
hedging without a very good communication and 
negotiation skill.

g) Continuing Education : There is a word, need to train your 
brain or be obsolete. A dealing officer shall be in 
continuation of updating his knowledge in the field of 
financial and money market. There are many different 
quantitative groups, conferences, and symposiums in every 
financial market to keep you engaged in the latest trends 
and ideas, and also-the ability to network not only with your 
peers, but the level of successful professional that you all 
strive to be. Change is the crux of the issues in the 
derivative market. Therefore, a financial engineer has to 
keep himself/herself abreast with the changes going on in 
the market through continuing education. 

h) An Inquisitive Mind and Interest in Solving Puzzles : This 
makes a financial engineer most dynamic professional and 
successful. A financial engineer shall look into the issues 
and cases with inquisitive mind and interest. This enables 
him to come out with solution to the problem.

Conclusion

Financial Engineering is a process of developing innovative 
product. This development requires application of methods, 
techniques, and tools. The objective of this development is 
to prevent hedger from the exposition to the price risk. 
Unlike other traditional products, development of derivative 
products through application of financial engineering is a 
very top and complicated job. Therefore, a financial 
engineer should be the most dynamic professional and 
knowledgeable person in this field and this can lead to 
adding huge extra revenue for the company.
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Compliance of Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards (BFRSs) in 

Corporate Financial Reporting to Ensure Stakeholders' Confidence

Md. Monowar Hossain FCMA*

1. Introduction
Financial statements are important reports. They show how a 
business is doing and are very useful internally for a 
company's stockholders and to its board of directors, its 
managers and some employees, including labor unions. 
Externally, they are important to prospective investors, to 
government agencies responsible for taxing and regulating, 
to lenders such as banks and credit rating agencies, and to 
investment analysts and stockbrokers.

Financial reporting plays a vital role in all aspects of an 
organisation.  To ensure accountability and transparency in 
the corporate sector, preparation and presentation of 
financial reporting in line with the applicable accounting 
standards and appropriate methods are indispensable. 
Financial reporting is assumed to give true and fair view of 
the financial picture of the organisation. In fact, it would be 
no exaggeration to state that financial reporting forms the 
informational infrastructure for the organisation. As such, 
financial reporting is of interest not only to accountants and 
auditors but also to anyone responsible for financial decision 
making regarding the entity.

In a common parlance, the role of financial reporting by 
companies is to provide information about a company's 
performance, financial position and changes in financial 
position that is useful to a wide range of users in making 
economic decisions. In addition, the role of financial 
statement analysis is to use financial reports prepared by 
companies, combined with other information, to evaluate the 
past, current and potential performance and financial 
position of a company for the purpose of making investment, 
credit and other economic decisions.

Financial statements are useful, because they show the 
financial condition of a company at a given period. There 
are many types of financial statements uses and purposes, 
measuring different financial aspects of the company. They 
can be used for both internal-, and external uses

Entities listed with the Stock Exchanges have to mandatorily 
follow Bangladesh Accounting Standards (BAS), 

Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards (BFRS), 
Companies Act 1994, Securities Rules and other applicable 

rules and regulations.  Based on accounting methods, 
estimates and assumptions outcome in financial reporting 
may vary from company to company both in sector and 
within the same industry. From the financial reporting 
standpoint, it seems logical that accounting policies should 
be appropriate and estimates should be reasonable. 

In a closed-sealed minded entrepreneurship, reluctant to 
share business venture with public or institution, corporate 
financial reporting is very much vital. With the 
psychological standpoint, changing, financial reporting may 
usher in a new era gradually to establish participatory 
investment process in the profitable ventures. In fine, it may 
be stated that financial reporting play catalyst role in bring 
transparency and accountability through presenting financial 
statements for different users.

2. Financial Reporting Framework in Bangladesh

Legal framework:   The Companies Act of 1994 provides 
basic requirements for financial reporting by all companies 
in Bangladesh. It is silent about either Bangladesh Financial 
Reporting Standards (BFRS/BAS) or International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IASs/IFRSs).

Requirement to produce financial statements :  As 
financial globalization proceeds, applicable international 
financial reporting and auditing standards are increasingly 
becoming important instruments of integration.

Limited liability companies are required by law to prepare 
and publish financial statements annually.  In Bangladesh, 
all companies must comply with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 1994. 

The key impact of this is as follows:

Every registered company is required to prepare a 
balance sheet and profit and loss account for each 
financial year which gives a true and fair view.

The financial statements must comply with Schedule 
XI to Companies Act 1994 as regards format and 
additional information provided by way of notes. 

Specialized entities, such as financial institutions, 
insurance companies, co-operatives, NGOs and public 
sector entities must comply with the rules, 
requirements of the relevant regulatory bodies.
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Listed companies. The Bangladesh Securities and 
Exchange Commission (BSEC) regulates financial 
reporting by listed companies. 

Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Rules, 1987 requires 
compliance with IASs/IFRSs as adopted in Bangladesh 
(these are known as Bangladesh Financial Reporting 
Standards and include Bangladesh Accounting Standards).

Sub Rules 12(2) of Bangladesh Securities and Exchange 
Rules, 1987: "The financial statements of an issuer of a 
listed security shall be prepared in accordance with the 
requirements laid down in the Schedule and the International 
Accounting Standards as adopted by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh".

Sub Rules 12(3) of Bangladesh Securities and Exchange 
Rules, 1987: "The financial statements of an issuer of a 
listed security shall be audited by a partnership firm of 
chartered accountants …………… consisting of not less 
than two partners in practice for a minimum of seven years 
…… in accordance with the International Standards on 
Auditing applicable in Bangladesh…………… ".

Sub Rules 12(3A) of Bangladesh Securities and Exchange 
Rules, 1987: "The financial statements… shall be audited 
within one hundred and twenty days from the date on which 
the issuer's financial year ends and a copy of such audited 
financial statements shall be submitted to the Commission 
and the Stock Exchange within fourteen days thereof…… ".

Sub Rules 12(4) of Bangladesh Securities and Exchange 
Rules, 1987: "Every issuer shall furnish the annual report 
……… to the shareholders at least fourteen days before the 
general meeting of the shareholders ……".

Objective of financial statements:  The objective of financial 
statements is to provide information about the reporting 
entity's financial position and financial performance that is 
useful to a wide range of users in making economic 
decisions.

This objective can usually be met by focusing exclusively on 
the information needs of present and potential investors. 
This is because much of the financial information that is 
relevant to investors will also be relevant to other users.

BFRS Framework identifies the following users of financial 
statements: 

Present and potential investors
General public
Governments and their agencies
Suppliers and other trade payables of the company
Lenders of the company
Customers of the company, etc. 

Users and their information needs :  The form and content of 
financial statements must be influenced by the use to which 
they are put. Nearly everybody using them does so when 
making economic decisions such as those to:

-  Decide when to buy, hold or sell shares.
- Assess the stewardship or accountability of 

management.
- Assess an entity's ability to provide benefits to 

employees.
- Assess security for amounts lent to the entity.

Much of the information needed for these different decisions 
is in fact common to them all. Financial statements aimed at 
meeting these common needs of a wide range of users are 
known as 'general purpose' financial statements.

3. Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards 
(BFRS): 

The Financial Reporting Standards prescribed by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB) 
are known as Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards 
(BFRS, including Bangladesh Accounting Standards, BAS).  
BFRS and are closely modeled on International Accounting 
Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

BFRS developed by the ICAB were originally based on 
older International Accounting Standards (IASs) - generally 
those developed by the IASC rather than the improved IASs 
and new IFRSs developed by the IASB. In more recent 
times, the ICAB has adopted the updated IASB standards as 
BFRS.

4. Adaptation Status of Bangladesh Accounting 
Standards:  

Adaptation Status of International Accounting Standards 
(IASs) and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs)  by ICAB as Bangladesh Accounting Standards 
(BASs) and Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards 
(BFRSs) respectively  as of 1 January 2013.

Adaptation status of 
Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards (BFRSs)

Adaptation status of 

Bangladesh Accounting Standards (BASs)

BFRS

BFRS Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards  (BFRSs)  Title  BFRS Effective Date  
BFRS-1 First-time adoption of International financial Reporting 

Standards  
on or after 01-Jan-2009 

BFRS-2 Share-based Payment  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BFRS-3 Business Combinations  on or after 01-Jan-2010 
BFRS-4 Insurance Contracts  on or after 01-Jan-2010 
BFRS-5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BFRS-6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BFRS-7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures  on or after 01-Jan-2010 
BFRS-8 Operating Segments  on or after 01-Jan-2010 

BFRS-10 Consolidated Financial Statements  on or after 01-Jan-2013 
BFRS-11 Joint Arrangements  on or after 01-Jan-2013 
BFRS-12 Disclosure of Interests in other Entities  on or after 01-Jan-2013 
BFRS-13 Fair Value Measurement  on or after 01-Jan-2013 

BAS  Bangladesh Accounting Standards (BASs)  Title  BAS Effective Date  
BAS-1 Presentation of Financial Statements on or after 01-Jan-2010 
BAS-2 Inventories  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-7 Statement of Cash Flows  on or after 01-Jan-1999 
BAS-8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors on or after 01-Jan-2007 

BAS-10 Events after the Reporting Period on or after 01-Jan-1999 
BAS-11 Construction Contracts  on or after 01-Jan-1999 
BAS-12 Income Taxes  on or after 01-Jan-1999 



BFRS

5. Financial Reporting Compliance with Bangladesh 
Financial Reporting Standards (BFRSs)
The major compliance of Bangladesh Financial 
Reporting Standards (BFRSs) by the Limited Liability 
Companies in Bangladesh as stated bellow: 
BAS -1: Presentation of Financial Statements

Complete set of Financial Statements i.e. five 
statements (Para-10) 

A complete set of financial statements comprises:
 (a) a statement of financial position as at the end of the 

period (balance  sheet);
 (b) a statement of comprehensive income for the period 

(income statement);
 (c) a statement of changes in equity (another statement of 

financial performance);
 (d) a statement of cash flows(statement of changes in 

financial position);
 (e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes; and
a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period when an entity applies on 
accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it 
reclassifies items in its financial statements.
An entity may use titles for the statements other than those 
used in the standard.
The notes to the financial statements include:

-  Accounting policies, i.e. the specific principles, 
conventions, rules and practices applied in order to 
reflect the effects of transactions and other events in 
the financial statements.

-    Detailed financial and narrative information supporting 
the information in the primary financial statements.

-  Other information not reflected in the financial 
statements, but which is important to users in making 
their assessments.

Inappropriate accounting policies (Para-18)
Going Concern Issues (Para-25)

Comparative information (Para-38)
Consistency of presentation (para-45)
Information to be presented to the Financial 
Statements  of Financial Position (Para-54)
Presentation of Current and non-current assets 
separately (Para-60)
Information to be presented in the Statement  of 
Comprehensive Income (Para-82)
Information to be presented in the Statement  of 
Changes in Equity (Para-106)
Disclosure of accounting policies (Para-117)

BAS -2: Inventories 
Inventories shall be measured at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value (Para-9)
Need to show formula for cost of inventories (Para-
25)

BAS -7: Statement of Cash Flows 
Presentation of Statement of cash flow (Para-10)
Use the Direct Method to prepare the cash flow 
(Para-19)

BAS- 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors 

Consistency of accounting policy (Para-13)
Conditions for changes in accounting policies & its 
Retrospective application (Para -14 & 22)
Errors and its retrospective effect (Para 41 & 42 )

BAS- 10: Events after the Reporting Period 
Adjusting and non-adjusting events (Para-8 & 10)

BAS- 12: Income Tax 
Recognition & Measurement of current tax (Para-
12 & 46 )
Recognition of  deferred tax liability/assets for all 
taxable temporary differences (Para-15)

BAS-16: Property, Plant & Equipment
Transfer/treatment/recognition of Revaluation 
surplus properly (Para-39, 40 & 41)
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available 
for use (Para -55)

BAS-17: Leases 
Finance Lease & recognition of finance lease (Para-
20 & 25)
Operating lease treatment (Para-33)

BAS-18: Revenue 
Satisfying conditions for revenue recognition (Para-
14  & 20)                   
Detailed Breakdown/composition/category of 
Revenue ( Para -35 B)
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BAS-16 Property, Plant & Equipment  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-17 Leases  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-18 Revenue  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-19 Employee Benefits  on or after 01-Jan-2013 
BAS-20 Accounting of Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance 
on or after 01-Jan-1999 

BAS-21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-23 Borrowing Costs  on or after 01-Jan-2010 
BAS-24 Related Party Disclosures  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-27  Separate Financial Statements  on or after 01-Jan-2013 
BAS-28  Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  on or after 01-Jan-2013 
BAS-31 Interest in Joint Ventures  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-32 Financial Instruments: Presentation on or after 01-Jan-2010 
BAS-33 Earnings per Share  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-34 Interim Financial Reporting on or after 01-Jan-1999 
BAS-36 Impairment of Assets  on or after 01-Jan-2005 
BAS-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-38 Intangible Assets on or after 01-Jan-2005 
BAS-39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  on or after 01-Jan-2010 
BAS-40 Investment Property  on or after 01-Jan-2007 
BAS-41 Agriculture  on or after 01-Jan-2007 



BAS -19: Employee Benefits 
Profit Sharing (Para 17 )

Required full disclosure (Para-120A)

Recognition & measurement of defined benefit 
plans (Para-49 & 50)

BAS - 21:  The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 
Rates 

"Foreign currency transaction shall be recorded 
applying the spot exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction and subsequent reporting period (Para 
21 & 23 A)"

Non-recognition of exchange difference results 
from foreign currency transaction (Para 28)

BAS -23: Borrowing Costs
Capitalization of borrowing cost and accounting 
treatments (Para-8)

BAS-24: Related Party Disclosures
Disclosures regarding related parties (Para -17)

BAS-27: Separate Financial Statements 
Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Para 9 & 12)

Presentation of Non-controlling interest (Para -27)

BAS-28:Investments in Associates 
Recognition of Investment in Associates  through 
Equity Method (Para 13)

BAS-31:Interest in Joint Ventures 
Recognition of interest in joint ventures (Para 13)

BAS-32:Financial Instruments: Presentation 
Presentation of Financial Instruments (Para 15)

Equity Issue Expenses will be deducted from equity 
(Para 37)

BAS-33: Earnings per Share 
Requirements/Conditions for calculating Basic EPS 
(Para 10, 12, 19)

Non-restatement of Earnings per Share (Para 64)

An entity shall present in the statement of 
comprehensive income basic and diluted earnings 
per share (Para 66)

BAS-34:Interim Financial Reporting 
Presentation of interim Financial Statements (Para 
20)

Form and content of interim financial statements 
(Para 10)

 BAS-36:Impairment of Assets 
Impairment test in every reporting period (Para 9)

BAS-38:Intangible Assets 
An intangible asset shall be measured initially at 

cost (Para 24)

Recognition of research and development phase 
(Para 54 & 57)

Examples of expenditure that is recognized as an 
expense like preliminary expenses (Para 69)

Revaluation of intangible assets (Para 75)

BAS-39:Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets (Para 
45 & 46)

Subsequent measurement of financial Liabilities 
(Para 47)

Initial Measurement of financial assets and 
liabilities (Para 43)

Recognition of gain or loss form financial assets 
and liabilities (Para 55)

BAS-40:Investment Property 
Recognition and Measurement of Investment 
Property (Para 16 & 20)

Subsequent Measurement of Investment Property 
(Para 30)

BFRS-5:Non-Current Assets held for sale & 
discontinued operations 

Measurement of non-current asset held for sale 
(Para 15  & 15A)

Presentation & Disclosure of non-current asset held 
for sale (Para 30)

BFRS-7: Financial Instrument: Disclosures 
Disclose information that enables users of its 
financial statements to evaluate the nature and 
extent of risks arising from financial instruments 
(Para 31).

6. Financial Reporting Compliance other than 
BFRS:

BSA 700: The Independent Auditor's Report on 
Complete Set of General Purpose Financial Statements 

Title of the Audit Report (Para A15)

Auditor's Opinion (Para 34)

Signature of audit report (Para A37)

BSEC Rules 1987  
Cash-flow statements in Direct method [ Part III (1) 
(A)] 

The Companies Act -1994 
Minimum number of Board meeting (Section 96)

Boards Report in the annual report (Section 184)

Signature of Audit Report etc. (Section 215)

Disclosure of number of employees (Schedule XI 
Part II Note 5 of Para 3)
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Income Tax Ordinance -1984
Minimum tax requirement on operational receipt 
(Section 16CCC)

Labour Law 2006 (WPPF) 
Provision against contribution to WPPF (Section 
232), etc. 

BFRS
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Impact on the Financial Statements for non-compliance of 

Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards (BFRSs):
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

BAS / BFRS  
Impact on the Financial Statements for non-compliance of 

BFRS 
BAS -1 : Presentation of Financial Statements  

Complete set of Financial 
Statements i.e. five 
statements (Para-10)  

If the complete set of financial statements are not presented, 
the investors will not be informed the actual position, 
performance, cash flow status, net worth and the details of 
the accounting policies and procedures, rules and 
regulations required for preparing the financial statements 
for their investment, credit and economic  decisions. 

Inappropriate accounting 
policies (Para-18) 

If inappropriate accounting policies are applied, the
treatment of accounting transactions will be misleading and
the preparation of financial statements will not be in line with 
the BFRS and Rules & Regulations. For an example, capital 
expenditure may be treated as a revenue expense in the Profit
and Loss account, which will understate both the profit and 
non-current assets. 

Going Concern  
(Para-25) 

If the company is unable to continue its business operation
for the foreseeable future i.e. the next  12 months from the 
end of the reporting period, the preparation and presentation
of financial statements would be at a break-up basis. If the 
company does not do this, the financial statements would not 
give true and fair view, which will mislead users of the stated 
financial statements.   

Comparative information  
(Para-38) 

In the absence of comparative information, users 
(shareholders, creditors, tax authority etc.) of the financial 
statements will not be able to compare the position, 
performance and the consistency of accounting policies. 

Consistency of presentation 
(Para-45) 

Inconsistent presentation of financial statements would 
provide inaccurate information to the stakeholders. 

Information to be presented 
to the Financial Statements  
of Financial Position (Para-54) 

Prescribed form of information is needed to ensure 
understanding of the shareholders, creditors, employees and
the related parties. 

Presentation of Current and 
non-current assets separately 
 (Para-60) 

Segregation of current assets and non-current assets will 
provide the operating capacity of the business entity.
Otherwise it may be wrongly presented and mislead the users
of the information.  

Information to be presented 
in the Statement  of 
Comprehensive Income  
(Para-82) 

If items of the statement of compressive income are not 
presented correctly, the investors are not informed actual 
performance of the company. Such as operating, non-
operating and unrealized gains or losses. 

Information to be presented 
in the Statement  of Changes 
in Equity (Para-106) 

Inappropriate presentation of statement of changes in equity
may not reflect the real picture of the net worth of the 
shareholders. 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Disclosure of accounting 
policies (Para-117) 

In the absence of adequate disclosures regarding the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements the 
general understanding will be reflected to the stakeholders. 

BAS -2  : Inventories  

Inventories shall be measured 
at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value (Para-9) 

Inappropriate valuation of inventories may overstate or 
understate the closing value of the inventories and profit 
for the respective accounting period and prudence 
concept may be over-ridden. 

  

Disclosed the formula for cost 
of inventories (Para-25) 

In the absence of absolute formula used in calculating the 
closing value of inventories, the readers and the users 
would not be able to understand the what method which 
is followed such as FIFO, Weighted Average or  at Actual. 

BAS -7 :Statement of Cash Flows 

Presentation of Statement of 
Cash flow (Para-10) 

Non-compliance of BAS-7 for preparation and 
presentation of cash flow statement, the investors will not 
get the systematic information from operating, investing 
and financing activities. The investors may be given 
inaccurate cash inflow or outflow. 

  
  

Used Direct Method to prepare 
Cash flow (Para-19) 

If direct method is not used in presentation of operating 
cash inflow and outflow, the users of the cash flow 
statements would not be able to know real cash received 
from customers and paid to supplies. 

BAS- 8 :  Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

Consistency of accounting 
policy (Para-13) 

Inconsistent accounting policies may provide inaccurate 
information. 

Conditions for changes in 
accounting policies & its 
Retrospective application   
(Para -14 & 22)  

Effect of changes in accounting policy may not be applied 
retrospectively; as a result recognition, measurement and 
presentation may be manipulated. 

  
  
  

Errors and its retrospective 
effect (Para 41 & 42 )  

Effect of fundamental may not be applied retrospectively; 
as result recognition, measurement and presentation may 
be manipulated. 

BAS -10 : Events after the Repor ting Period 

  Adjusting and non-adjusting 
events (Para-8 & 10)  

If subsequent events after the reporting period are not 
taken into consideration financial statements may be 
wrongly prepared. For instance, declaration of proposed 
dividend may be treated as a liability which is actually a 
non-adjusting event and required a full disclosure only. On 
the other hand inventories are sold at very lower than the 
cost after the reporting period before the signing of the 
auditors, so the valuation of inventories may be wrongly 
done and this an adjusting event. Therefore, the value 
would be written down at the net realizable value and loss 
should be charged in the profit and loss account. 

 : Income Tax 

Recognition & Measurement of 
current tax (Para-12 & 46 ) 

Current tax may not be accounted for accurately. 
Therefore, both profit and current liability may over or 
understated. 

BAS 12 
  
  

Recognition of  deferred tax 
liability/assets for all taxable 
temporary differences  
(Para-15) 

Non-recognition of deferred tax may overstate or 
understate the profit or loss and the non-current assets & 
liabilities. 

BAS- 16  : Property, Plant & Equipment  

Transfer/treatment/recognition 
of Revaluation surplus properly 
(Para-39, 40 & 41)  

Revaluation reserve may be overstated and retained 
earnings may be understated. 
 

  
  

Depreciation of an asset begins 
when it is available for use  
(Para -55) 

Appropriate depreciation expense may not be charged in 
the income statement which may overstate and 
understate both profit and carrying value of the non-
current assets. 
 
 

 
 

BAS-17 :Leases 

Finance Lease & recognition of 
finance lease  
(Para-20 & 25)  

Substance over-form may be wrongly treated. Real picture 
of the position of assets and liabilities may not be 
reflected in the statement of financial position. On the 
other hand, finance expense and depreciation or 
amortization expense may not be charged in the profit and
loss account. 

  
  

Operating lease treatment  
(Para-33) 

 If operating lease is shown as a finance lease there may 
be substance over-form problem and both assets and 
liabilities may be overstated. Lease rent expense may be 
understated. 

BAS-18  :Revenue 

Satisfying conditions for 
revenue recognition  
(Para-14  & 20)                    

Revenue may be overstated or understated which will not 
reflect appropriate performance of the entity. 

  
  

Detailed Breakdown 
/composition /category of 
Revenue ( Para -35 B)                     

In the absence of break-down the investors would not be 
able to know sector, regional or product-wise revenue 
earned by the company.  

BAS-19 : Employee Benefits  

Profit Sharing (Para 17 )  Non-recognition profit sharing expense for the eligible of 
company may be overstated the profit and understated 
the liability.  

Whether there is full disclosure 
or Not (Para-120A) 

Investors will not get the actual information. 

  
  
  

Recognition & measurement of 
defined benefit plans  
(Para-49 & 50)  

Actuarial gain or losses may not be accurately accounted 
for. 

BAS -21 :The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

Foreign currency 
transaction shall be 
recorded applying the 
spot exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction 
and subsequent 
reporting period  
(Para 21 & 23 A)  

Exchange fluctuation gain or loss may not be accounted 
accurately. 

  
  

Non-recognition of 
exchange difference 
results from foreign 
currency transaction 
(Para 28)  

Other comprehensive income may overstated or understated.  
 

BAS -23  :Borrowing Costs 

  Whether borrowing cost 
is capitalized or not 
(Para-8) 

Qualifying assets value may be understated and finance expense 
may be overstated. 

BAS- 24 :  Related Party Disclosures 

  Disclosures regarding 
related parties (Para -17) 

Investors may be given insufficient information regarding the 
related parties. 

BAS -27  :Separate Financial Statements 

Presentation of 
Consolidated Financial 
Statements  
(Para 9 & 12)  

In the absence of consolidated financial statements the investors
are informed actual position and performance of the company. 
 

  
  

Presentation of Non-
controlling interest (Para 
-27) 

Value of non-controlling interest may be wrongly recognized and
presented. 

BAS -28  :Investments in Associates 

  Recognition of 
Investment in Associates  
through Equity Method 
(Para 13)  

Investment in associate may not be accounted appropriately and
value of investment in associate may be overstated or 
understated. 

BAS-32  : Financial Instruments: Presentation  

Presentation of Financial 
Instruments (Para 15)  

Financial instruments may not be presented accurately.   
  

Equity Issue Expenses will 
be deducted from equity  
(Para 37) 

Both asset and equity would be overstated. 

BAS-33  : Earnings per Share 

Requirements/Conditions 
for calculating Basic EPS  
(Para 10, 12, 19)  

Actual EPS would not be given. 

Non-restatement of 
Earnings per Share (Para 
64)  

Comparative EPS may be overstated. Comparison may not be 
possible between two accounting periods.  

  
  
  

An entity shall present in 
the statement of 
comprehensive income 
basic and diluted 

Earnings per share may be overstated. 

earnings per share (Para 66)
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Compliance on submission of Financial Statements by the 
listed companies in Bangladesh:

7. Conclusion: 

Professional accountants continue to exercise relentless 
efforts focused on developing awareness, credibility and 
quality assurance in financial reporting and auditing 
practices, ensuring the highest standards of knowledge, 
technical skills, professional competence, independence and 
ethics. 

Financial reporting in the form of preparation and 
presentation of financial statements helps establish 
transparency and accountability in the corporate world. To 
ensure the good health in corporate earnings through 
meticulously articulated financial statements financial policy 
markers serve the purpose of both investors and relevant 
stakeholders. Crystal clear disclosures giving true and fair 
view of the financial health of the company depict the 
authentic picture and sophisticated investors can take 
informed decision. Symmetric flow of information truly 
reflects the fundamental materiality in prices of securities 
and company.

From the authentic perspective of proper regulatory 
compliance it may be put on place that when financial 
statements are prepared and presented giving true and fair 
view, it heightens the level of confidence of investors in 
capital market. It is an axiom that securities market is based 
on the solid foundation on trust and creditworthiness. From 
the ethical perspective it has appeared to us that trust is hard-
earned but lost easily. Keeping these vital issues into 
consideration it comes to mind that timely and fashionable 
compliance in case of financial reporting surely plays 
inevitable role in augmenting the confidence of relevant 
stakeholders.

Goal of presenting useful information to financial statement 
users so that proper decisions can be made. Data presented 
should be comprehensive so that a good understanding of the 
entity's activities is possible. Financial information should 
aid in the evaluation of the amounts, timing, and 
uncertainties of cash flows. Also, financial reporting should 
furnish information about the company's economic 
resources, claims against those resources, owners' equity, 
and changes in resources and claims.

Financial reporting should provide information about 
financial performance during a period and management's 
discharge of its stewardship responsibility to owners. It 
should likewise be useful to the managers and directors 
themselves in making decisions on behalf of the owners.
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BAS- 34  : Interim Financia l Reporting 

Presentation of interim 
financial statements   
(Para 20)  

Interim financial position and performance may not be accurate.    
  

Form and content of 
interim financial 
statements (Para 10)  

Form and contents are not consistent with the annual audited 
financial statements. 

BAS -36  : Impairment of Assets  

  Impairment test in every 
reporting period (Para 9)  

Carrying value may be overstated. 

BAS-38 :  Intangible Assets 

An intangible asset shall 
be measured initially at 
cost  
(Para 24)  

Recognition and measurement may be not be accounted for 
correctly. 

Recognition of research 
and development phase  
(Para 54 & 57)  

There is a possibility of overstatement of intangible assets by 
recognizing research expenses as an intangible asset. 

Examples of expenditure 
that is recognized as an 
expense like preliminary 
expenses (Para 69)  

Assets may be overstated and expense of the respective period 
understated. Therefore profit may be overstated. 

  
  
  
  

Revaluation of intangible 
assets (Para 75)  

Accounting policy may not be applied consistently and the 
carrying value may be overstated or understated. 

BAS-39  : Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  

Subsequent 
measurement of financial 
assets (Para 45 & 46)  

Subsequent may measurement of asset may not be accurate. 

 Subsequent 
measurement of financial 
Liabilities (Para 47)  

Subsequent may measurement of liability may not be accurate. 
 

Initial Measurement of 
financial assets and 
liabilities (Para 43)  

Initial measurement may not be consistent 

  
  
  
  

Recognition of gain or 
loss form financial assets 
and liabilities (Para 55)  

Financial assets and liabilities may not be valued correctly and 
the gain or loss may not be accurately accounted in profit & loss 
or other comprehensive income. 

BAS- 40  : Investment Property 

Recognition and 
Measurement of 
Investment Property  
(Para 16 & 20)  

Inappropriate recognition and measurement of may overstated 
or understated the investment property. 
 

  
  

Subsequent 
Measurement of 
Investment Property 
(Para 30)  

Subsequent measurement may be at cost or fair value. Gain or 
loss may not accurately recognized, measured and presented in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 

BFRS- 5 :  Non-Current Assets held for sale & discontinued operations  

Measurement of non-
current asset held for 
sale  
(Para 15  & 15A)  

Inappropriate valuation and presentation in the financial 
statements. 

  
  

Presentation & 
Disclosure of non-current 
asset held for sale (Para 
30) 

May be wrongly presented as a non-current asset. 

BFRS -7  : Financial Instrument: Disclosures 

  Disclose information that 
enables users of its 
financial statements to 
evaluate the nature and 
extent of risks arising 
from financial 
instruments (Para 31)  

Insufficient information may mislead the investors. 

Type of Financial 
Reports 

First Quarter  
(Q1) 

Half yearly  
Third Quarter  

(Q3) 

Audited 
Financial 
Statements  / 
Annual Report 
 

 

Submission time 
(after period 
ending) 

45 days  (60 days 
for Life Insurance 
Company) 

1 Month 30 days 

 
120 days  plus  14 
days 
 

 
 

Securities Rules /  
Notifications 

BSEC Notification  
No. SEC/CMRRCD 
/2008-183/Admin/- 
dated September 
27, 2009 

Rule 13 of 
Bangladesh 
‘Securities and 
Exchange  Rules, 
1987’ 

BSEC Notification  
No. SEC/CMRRCD 
/2008-183/Admin/- 
dated September 
27, 2009 

Rule 12(3A, 4) of 
Bangladesh 
‘Securities and 
Exchange  Rules, 
1987’ 
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1. Introduction

Companies in different countries are operating in different 
cultural, legal, social and economic environments. 
Consequently, each country has developed its own corporate 
governance system that serves its business operations best. 
As the globalization of business speeds up in recent years, it 
is unknown whether there exists one best corporate 
governance system for all countries. The purpose of this 
study is to compare the corporate governance component 
factors in Bangladesh, India, Pakistan, China and Malaysia. 
The purpose of choosing these four countries i.e. India, 
Pakistan, China and Malaysia is that they are all situated in 
Asia and they are also emerging country like Bangladesh 
regarding this issue. So, this is a study to compare the 
Bangladesh corporate governance guidelines with some 
other countries' guidelines. This study may contribute to 
understanding the corporate governance systems in countries 
under very different corporation laws and adopting very 
different board models. This study starts with a brief review 
of the prior research on the corporate governance systems in 
a variety of different countries. It then analyzes the 
structures of corporate governance guidelines of different 
countries. From these analyses, this study attempts to 

identify the key features of these structures that may make 
the monitoring functions of the boards more successful.

2. Methodology of the Study

This study is basically exploratory in nature. The study was 
aimed at identification corporate governance scenario in 
Bangladesh and four other countries and comparison among 
them. The data has been collected both from primary and 
secondary sources. The primary data were collected through 
a face-to-face conversation with the official of Dhaka Stock 
Exchange (DSE). The data also collected also secondary 
sources in pursuit of the study. The major source of 
secondary data includes, BSEC guidelines of different 
countries including Bangladesh, relevant books, 
publications, journals, periodicals, research paper, 
newspaper clippings, articles and internet.

3. Review of Literature 

Corporate governance consists of rules that direct the roles 
and actions of key people rather than processes. Unlike 
simple policies and procedures, such as a dress code or 
expense reimbursement procedure, corporate governance 
rules focus on creating better management and fewer ethical 
or legal problems. Examples of corporate governance 
include setting rules for using business funds for personal 
use; serving on a board of directors; hiring family members; 
conflicts of interest; notifying owners, investors and partners
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of key meetings and decisions; and disbursing profits. The 
concept of corporate governance has been attracting public 
attention for quite some time. It has been finding wide 
acceptance for its relevance and importance to the industry 
and economy. It contributes not only to the efficiency of a 
business enterprise, but also, to the growth and progress of a 
country's economy. Progressively, firms have voluntarily put 
in place systems of good corporate governance.

Adams (2002) perceives creation of the registered company 
to be the real starting point for any discussion on corporate 
governance. The Joint Stock Companies Act 1844 (UK) 
supported the registration of companies. The rise of modern 
corporations led to a separation of control from ownership 
((Berle & Means, 1967). This separation meant that owners 
of firms no longer controlled the firms' actions because that 
was the role of professional managers (Kiel & Nicholson, 
2003). This gave rise to the need for corporate governance 
frameworks to protect owners of firms from the actions of 
professional managers. As a matter of fact, the Limited 
Liability Act 1855 (UK) was passed to protect shareholders 
from debt beyond their investment.

According to Francis (2000) the concept of corporate 
governance gained prominence in the 1980s because this 
period was characterized by stock market crashes in 
different parts of the world and failure of some corporations 
due to poor governance practices. Corporate collapse was 
the predominant driver for change to corporate governance 
codes (United Nations, 1999). As more corporate entities in 
different parts of the world collapsed in 1980s, there was a 
change of attitude with much higher performance 
expectations being placed on management boards of firms. 
There was also a growing realization that managers are to 
run firms while boards are to ensure that firms are run 
effectively and in the right direction (Adams, 2002). 
Directors and managers require different sets of skills and 
managers do not necessarily make good directors.

Prevention of corporate failure was not the only reason that 
led to adoption of the corporate governance ideals. On a 
positive note, there was a growing acknowledgement that 
improved corporate governance was crucial for the growth 
and development of the whole economy of a country 
(Clarke, 2004; Department of Treasury, 1997). Other studies 
established strong links between the performance of 
corporations and the governance practices of their boards 
(Gregg, 2001; Hilmer, 1998; Kiel & Nicholson, 2002; 
OECD, 1998).

Sarkar, J. B. and Mannan, M. A. compared critically the 
code of corporate governance of Bangladesh and Malaysia 
and found that "Bangladesh basically follows the findings of 
the Cadbury and Greenbury reports with certain conditional 
rule- comply or explain basis. The strongest point in this 
Code is that companies need to explain in case of non-

compliance with any rule, otherwise, the regulator can adopt 
any legal action upon the respective company.  Unlike the 
rule-based approach, Malaysia follows the Hampel 
Committee recommendations, which is basically the 
combination of rule-based approach and principle-based 
approach." But they suggested that "Corporate governance is 
not about rules and regulations, principles and procedures. It 
is about the spirit in which the business is operated in the 
best interest of stockholders and others. Neither rule-based 
approach nor principle-based approach of corporate 
governance works better if there is no constant awareness on 
the part of key players of corporate governance- board of 
directors, corporate shareholders and auditors. Despite the 
fact it is experienced that principle-based approach of 
corporate governance is better than rule-based approach over 
the world to ensure good governance in the corporate 
sectors. The hybrid approach (combination of rule-based 
approach and principle-based approach) is best suited in 
most of the cases. The regulators have to prescribe Codes on 
corporate governance so that companies will comply with 
rules in some cases where regulation seems to work and at 
the same time they will be encouraged to develop and 
disclose their own corporate governance practice. On the 
other hand, key players in ensuring corporate governance 
should also be constantly watchful of such practice. 
Stakeholders particularly auditors and investment 
community have to enhance their role to have better 
governance in the corporate sectors in context of 
Bangladesh. This is how; Bangladesh can go a long way to 
achieve good governance in the corporate sectors."

4. Overview of Corporate Governance Guidelines 

The structures of corporate governance present in companies 
operating in different national, legal and cultural contexts are 
different in nature. This has induced attitudes of deep 
mistrust in information and company behavior with evident 
and consequences in terms of relations between the company 
and its social interlocutors, and modifications in the 
processes for obtaining consent and resources. To make 
comparison of different country's corporate governance 
guidelines with Bangladesh corporate governance 
guidelines, we have selected the corporate governance 
guidelines of India, Pakistan, China and Malaysia. The 
reason for choosing these corporate governance guidelines is 
that the countries are regionally closer. But the corporate 
governance guidelines vary significantly which leads one 
country to go far ahead than the other. Among the countries, 
Bangladesh corporate governance guidelines emerged in 
2006 based on suggested  by the Taskforce on Corporate 
Governance (2004) convened and supported by Bangladesh 
Enterprise Institute (BEI) and amended in 2012. In India, in 
1998 the Confederation of Indian Industry issued "Desirable 
Corporate Governance - A Code" followed by another code 
titled "Corporate Governance Voluntary Guidelines-2009"

Corporate Governance



promulgated by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, 
Government of India. In Pakistan, the code was initially 
passed in 2002 by the Securities & Exchange Commission of 
Pakistan which was later amended in 2013 by issuing "The 
public sector companies (Corporate Governance) Rules-
2013" The China Securities Regulatory Commission 
("CSRC") and the State Economic and Trade Commission 
issued "Code of Corporate Governance for Listed 
Companies in China" in January 2002 which was amended 
later in time to time through notification. At last, The 
Malaysian "Code on Corporate Governance" was developed 
by the Working Group on Best Practices in Corporate 
Governance ("JPK I") and subsequently approved by the 
High Level Finance Committee on Corporate Governance in 
March 2002 which was later issued in 2012 with a major 
amendment. We noticed that the corporate governance 
guidelines have been amended time to time to be best suited 
with the circumstances. But to preserve the original motto of 
evolution of the corporate governance guidelines, every 
guideline should have some basic characteristics absence of 
which cause to much weak to accomplish the transparency in 
the practice of corporate governance. Before going to 
specific comparison we need to know some key aspects of 
corporate governance guidelines.

Perceptions of the elements that constitute good corporate 
governance guidelines vary from country to country since 
the business environment is not uniform in all countries. 
Nevertheless, some insights of key elements of good 
corporate governance are provided by different authorities.

According to the Cadbury report, good corporate governance 
must encompass four key aspects namely:

1. Establishing a board of directors that has clear 
responsibilities and whose role of directing or governing 
is different from that of the firm's managers.

2. Establishing checks and balances in governance 
structures with no one person having unfettered power.

3. Having a well balanced board team composed of 
executive and non executive directors.

4. Ensuring transparency of a board in directing and 
controlling an organization.

Following the collapse of Enron and WorldCom, the US 
Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) in the year 
2002. The SOX Act makes some substantive corporate 
governance provisions such as:

1. The need for an independent audit committee (section 
301).

2.  A firm's principal executive and financial officers signing 
a statement that they have sufficient internal controls in 
place to ensure that financial statements do not contain 
any material misstatements (section 302).

3.  Independence of external auditors (sections 201-209).

4. The SOX Act also requires listed companies to have a 
majority of independent directors. The reasoning is that 
the board, acting as a representative of shareholders, 
cannot be seen to be objective in the oversight of 
management if the majority of the directors are from 
management (Colley et al., 2004).

The Business Roundtable (2002), an association of chief 
executive officers of American corporations, summarizes the 
principles of good corporate governance as follows:

a.  A board has a paramount duty of selecting and overseeing 
a competent CEO and other senior managers.

b. A firm's management has a responsibility to act in an 
effective and ethical manner in the process of increasing 
shareholder value.

c.  There is need for accurate and timely financial reporting.

d. A firm must deal with its employees in a fair and 
equitable manner.

e. A firm should have a corporate governance committee 
which comprises independent directors and which 
addresses issues such as nomination of directors, 
provision of information to a board and evaluation of a 
board's effectiveness.

f.   Independent directors should have an opportunity to meet 
outside the presence of a CEO and other management 
directors.

g. A firm has a responsibility to communicate effectively 
with its shareholders and other stakeholders.

Another set of five good corporate governance principles is 
offered by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (OECD, 1999). The five principles are:

1. Protection of shareholders' rights;

2. Equitable treatment of all shareholders, including  
effective redress;

3.  Recognition of the rights of stakeholders;

4. Timely and accurate disclosure of all matters that are 
regarded by a firm as being material. These may include 
financial, performance, ownership and governance 
matters;

5. Effective monitoring of management and accountability 
of a board.

5. Comparison of Corporate Governance 
Guidelines of different Countries 

5.1 Board of Directors
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No. Criteria Bangladesh India Pakistan China Malaysia 

01. Accountability to 

shareholders 

Not covered Covered Covered Covered Covered 

02. Board responsibility Not covered Covered Covered Covered Covered 

03. Board membership 

criteria 

Not covered Competent 

& 

Committed 

National 

taxpayer but 

not loan 

defaulter or 

brokerage 

owner 

Professional 

knowledge 

& work 

experience 

Skill & 

experience 



No. Criteria Bangladesh India Pakistan China Malaysia 

01. Director 

compensation 

Not covered Fixed 

contractual for 

NEDs 

Attractive Attractive Sufficient 

and 

attractive 

02. Director stock option Not covered Stock must be 

held at least 3 

yrs after exit 

from the 

board 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

03. Remuneration 

Committee 

No Yes No Yes Yes 

04. Member of 

remuneration 

committee 

Not covered 3 at least 1 

independent 

Not covered Not 
specified 

Mainly 

non-

executive 

05. Can director involve 

in deciding his own 

remuneration? 

Not clearly 
mentioned 

Not clearly 

mentioned 

No Not clearly 

mentioned 

No 

06. Appraisal committee 

for evaluating 

performance 

Not covered Not covered Not covered Yes Not covered 

07. Number of board 

meeting during a 

year 

Not specified At least 4 

times; 

Maximum 

time gap 4 

months 

between two 

meetings 

At least once 

in every 

quarter 

Periodically Regularly 

08. Board meeting 

notice provided 

Not 

mentioned 

Not mentioned At least 7 

days earlier 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

09. Dissemination of 

minutes 

Not 
mentioned 

Not mentioned Not later 

than 30 days 

Not 
mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

5.2. Independent Director

5.3. Director Compensation, Audit Committee & Other 
Committee

5.4. Shareholders' rights, disclosure & others

6. Findings
After comparing and analyzing the comparison, we have 
found some strength and some weakness of Bangladesh 
Corporate Governance Guidelines compared to other 
countries. The strengths and weaknesses are the following-
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04. Nomination 

committee to appoint 

director 

Not covered Yes Yes Yes Yes 

05. Minimum number of 

independent director 

in BOD 

1/5
th

 1/3
rd

 if non-

executive  

chairman, ½ 

if  executive  

chairman 

Majority 1/3
rd

 but at 

least 2 

(two) 

person 

1/3
rd

 

06. Number of  non-

executive director 

Not 
mentioned 

Not less than 

50% 

For Bank: Not 

less than 75%. 

For others: 

Not less than 

25% 

Not 
mentioned 

Balanced 

so that no 

one can 

dominate 

07. CEO & Chairman Different 

individual 

Different or 

same if no 

option 

Separate  

individual or 

same 

Not covered Accepted  

division 

08. Selection of chairman From director Not 

mentioned 

Non-executive 

director 

Not covered Not 

mentioned 

09. Who will be 

responsible to define 

the roles & 

responsibility of CEO 

& Chairman 

BOD Not 
mentioned 

BOD Not covered Not 
mentioned 

10. Board size 5 to 20 Not specified Not specified As per law Effective 

No. Criteria Bangladesh India Pakistan China Malaysia 

01. Minimum number of 

independent director 

in BOD 

1/5
th

 1/3
rd

 if non-

executive 

chairman, ½ 

if executive 

chairman 

Majority 

(Initially 1 

person after 

notification) 

1/3
rd

 but at 

least 2 (two) 

person 

1/3
rd

 

02. Professional 

experience for 

independent director 

At least 12 

yrs. 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

03. Shareholding of 

independent director 

Less than 1% Not 

mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

04. Restriction to be 

independent director 

Sponsor, loan 

defaulter, 

stock 

exchange 

member 

Pecuniary  

relationship 

with the 

company  or 

subsidiary 

Connection 

or family 

relationship 

with the 

company 

Major 

shareholding 

and any 

other 

position 

Not 

covered 

05. Tenure of 

independent director 

Maximum 3 

yrs 

Maximum 6 

yrs 

Maximum 3 

yrs 

Not covered Maximum 

3 yrs 

06. Maximum number of 

listed companies 

where one person can 

be independent 

director 

3 7 5 Not 
mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

07. Vacancy of 

independent director 

Not more 

than 90 days 

Not 

mentioned 

Not more 

than 90 

days 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

08. Time gap to re-elect 

one as independent 

director 

Not 
mentioned 

3 yrs Not 
mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

09 Number of tenure one 

person can become 

independent director 

Maximum 2 

(two) tenures 

Maximum 3 

(three) 

tenures 

Not 
mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

Not 
mentioned 

10. Minimum Audit 

committee member 

3 3 3 3 3 

11. Minimum number of 

independent member 

in AC 

1 Majority Majority Majority Not 
mentioned 

12. Fill up the vacancy 

of audit committee 

Within 1 

month 

Not mentioned Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

13. Quality of audit 

committee members 

Business 

background 

with at least 1 

(one) with 

accounting 

professional 

or financial 

management 

experience 

At least 1 

(one) with 

accounting 

professional 

or financial 

management 

experience 

Not 

mentioned 

At least 1 

(one) with 

accounting 

professional 

Financially 

literate with 

at least 1 

(one) with 

accounting 

professional 

14. Chairman of the 

audit committee 

independent Independent non-

executive 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

15. Number of meeting 

of audit committee 

Not 

mentioned 

At least 3 a 

year 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

Regularly; 

at least 

twice with 

external 

auditor in a 

year 

16. Member of 

remuneration 

committee 

Not 

mentioned 

At least 3 

(three) 

Not 

mentioned 

At least 3 

(three) 

Not 

mentioned 

17. Other committee No Board 

committee 

Risk 

management 

committee, 

Human 

resource 

committee, 

Procurement 

committee 

Supervisory 

committee, 

Corporate 

appraisal 

committee 

Board 

committee 

18. Rule of audit 

committee 

covered Covered covered covered Covered 

19. Criteria to be 

external auditor 

Independent; 

no 

shareholding 

Not specified; 

depends on 

shareholders 

Independent; 

no 

shareholding 

Not 

specified; 

depends on 

AC & 

shareholders 

Independent 

No. Criteria Bangladesh India Pakistan China Malaysia 

01. Voting right Not covered Yes Not 

covered 

yes Not 

covered 

02. Proxy voting Not covered Yes yes yes Not 

covered 

03. Venue of AGM Not covered Not remote Not 

covered 

convenient Not 

covered 

04. Disclosure 

regarding 

compensation 

yes Yes Not 

covered 

yes yes 

05. Disclosure 

regarding 

corporate 

governance 

yes Yes yes yes yes 

06. Obtaining 

certificate of 

compliance 

yes Yes Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

07. Explanation of non-

compliance 

yes Yes Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

yes 

08. Management and 

directors’ report 

yes Yes yes Not 

covered 

Not 

mentioned 

09. Summary of key 

operating & 

financial activities 

in directors’ report 

At least 5 yrs Not mentioned Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

Not 

mentioned 

10. Subsidiary 

company 

Covered Not covered Not 

covered 

Not 

covered 

Not 

covered 

11. Whistle blowing & 

security provision 

Not covered Yes Not 

covered 

Not 

covered 

Not 

covered 

12. Legal basis and 

compliance 

Both 

compliance 

and reporting 

of compliance 

is mandatory. 

Mandatory as to 

specified 

recommendations. 

Disclosure 

(comply or 

explain) as 

to 

mandatory 

provisions 

Disclosure 

(complies 

or 

explains). 

Disclosure 

(complies 

or 

explains). 
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Perceptions of the elements that constitute good 
corporate governance guidelines vary from 

country to country since the business 
environment is not uniform in all countries. 

Nevertheless, some insights of key elements of 
good corporate governance are provided by 

different authorities.
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6.1. Strengths of Bangladesh Corporate Governance Guidelines 

a) The CEO and Chairman must be different individual.

b) The chairman of BOD and Audit Committee must be selected 

from the independent director.

c) The BOD is responsible to define the role and responsibility of 

the chairman & CEO.

d) The minimum member of the board is specifically defined.

e) The independent director must have at least 12 (twelve) years 

professional experience which is specifically defined in the 

guidelines.

f) The shareholding position of independent director must be less 

than 1%.

g) The vacancy of the independent director must be filled within 90 

(ninety) days and one person can become an independent 

director for maximum 2 (two) tenures and the vacancy of audit 

committee member must be filled within 1 (one) month.

h) The disclosure regarding compensation and corporate 

governance must be disclosed.

i) The listed company must obtain a certificate of compliance 

certificate   from   a practicing Professional Accountant/Secretary 

(Chartered Accountant/Cost and        Management 

Accountant/Chartered Secretary) and must disclose the same in 

annual report.

j) The management and directors report must be disclose in the 

annual report with summary of key financial and operating 

activities at least last 5 (five) years.

k) Only Bangladesh Corporate Governance Guidelines cover the 

clause of subsidiary company.

6.2. Weaknesses of Bangladesh Corporate Governance 

Guidelines

a) The guideline doesn't define the responsibility of the board and 

criteria to be the board member except independent members.

b) The tenure of the board member and re-election condition is not 

defined. 

c) There is no indication of having a nomination committee to 

appoint the director.

d) The minimum number of independent director is 1/5th of the 

total director which is not enough in our country's mainly family 

dominated business.

e) The maximum number of board size should not be definite; it 

should be based on the nature of the business.

f) There is no clear indication of director compensation and stock 

option policy.

g) There is no obligatory option to form remuneration and appraisal 

committee.

h) The minimum number of board meeting and audit committee 

meeting and time gap between two meeting is not specified in 

the guidelines.

i) The restricted time period to disseminate notice of meeting and 

board minutes is not specified.

j) There is nothing about shareholding voting right, proxy right and 

venue of AGM.

k) The whistle blowing option and the security of the whistle 

blower is not covered.

l) There is no instruction for the regulatory authority on their rules 

and responsibility to monitor the proper implementation of 

corporate governance guidelines.

m) The implementation of the corporate governance guidelines is 

not as much expected in our country due to some variables like 

family dominated business, lack of institution shareholders 

association, lack of ordinary shareholders activism etc.

n) The corporate governance guideline is not as much convergent 

with the existing laws and regulations. 

o) Though the listed company must get a compliance certificate, 

but the auditor of our country is not as transparent as expected. 

Again the regulatory body doesn't monitor on a continuing basis 

the compliance level.

l) The primary obstacles to good corporate governance 

implementation in Bangladesh are: 

1. boards and management tend to avoid disclosure; 

2. closely-held family ownership leads to limited transparency 

and accountability;

3. bank finance is the primary source of financing; 

4. a lack of independent directors and skilled audit committee 

members; 

5. a weak regulatory framework and inefficient bureaucracy;

6. low audit fees for external auditors and a dearth of qualified 

internal auditors; 

7. the absence of sufficient institutional investors; and 

8. a lack of active minority shareholder groups

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

At present the need of strengthening corporate governance in 

Bangladesh arises with a global demand for a sound and 

transparent corporate world system. This process ensures 

accountability of those who matter most in the process and 

maximizes the value for the shareholders in a fully transparent 

manner. Failure in institutions, legal enforcement and market 

behavior still resulted in weak corporate governance in Bangladesh. 

A large number of companies listed in the stock exchange in 

Bangladesh pay inadequate attention to follow the 'rules of 

businesses' and full disclosure of information and demonstrate lack 

of corporate norms and responsibility. It is seen that in many areas, 

system did not provide adequate incentives and motivations in 

terms of legal, institutional or economic, for the shareholders to 

encourage and enforce good corporate governance. As a result, 

there were hardly any rewards for the companies that instituted 

good corporate governance practices and no penalties for failing to 

do so. However, the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange 

Commission notified certain further conditions for the public listed
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On the other hand, key players in ensuring 
corporate governance should also be constantly 

watchful of such practice. Stakeholders 
particularly auditors and investment community 

have to enhance their role to have better 
governance in the corporate sectors in context of 
Bangladesh. This is how; Bangladesh can go a 

long way to achieve good governance in the 
corporate sectors."

companies with any stock exchange in Bangladesh, on mandatory 

basis, in order to improve corporate governance in the interest of 

investors and the capital market. The most recent notification 

(August 18, 2013) issued by BSEC to mandate the full compliance 

of corporate governance guidelines for the company which wants 

to issue right share indicates that the authority will play its 

respective role to ensure good governance and show us new hope 

for good corporate practice and better performance. To conclude, 

government cannot legislate the personal integrity of key players 

and no amount of legislation can substitute trust, faith and 

confidence necessary for good corporate governance practice. But 

as the lead regulatory body overseeing corporate accounting and 

reporting, the BSEC has a critical role to ensure that public 

company boards are properly structured and organized and have the 

resources to accomplish the objectives of adding value to 

shareholders, minimize risk of key shareholders and hold 

management responsible for corporate results. Ruthless monitoring 

of compliance and severe punishment of transgressors can ensure 

good corporate governance. This was hopeful that there was no 

serious scandal in respect of corporate governance in Bangladesh. 

But recently, some scandal in the business sector like Hallmark, 

Basic bank are matter of concern for the respective body to think 

about the amendments of the corporate governance guidelines 

again and strengthening the monitoring and supervising activities. 

The comparison of the five countries corporate governance 

guidelines also provides hints of further improvement of 

Bangladesh Corporate Governance Guidelines.

The above analysis of the corporate governance guidelines indicate 

that the corporate governance guidelines should strengthen further 

for ensuring better practice of corporate governance. The following 

clause should be included in the corporate governance guidelines 

and the respective authority should take the necessary steps- 

1) There should be a clear identification of the powers, roles, 

responsibilities and accountabilities of the Board and CEO.

2) The terms of the relationships between the key participants 

should be formally recorded.

3)  The Board should collectively have a mix of the operational or 

technical, financial, legal expertise, skill and experience and 

knowledge of government and regulatory requirements.

4) Appointment processes should ensure that all statutory and 

administrative requirements are met and a wide range of 

suitable people are considered. For this purpose a Nomination 

Committee should be made.

5)  The board member should appoint for a specific period say 3 

(three) years and necessary procedures should be defined.

6) The majority of the Board member should be independent 

instead of 1/5th.

7)  Directors should be actually involved in the development of the 

agenda for Board meetings, and not just management and the 

CEO.

8)   The independent members of the Board should meet separately 

of the CEO and executive directors periodically.

9)  The Board should meet regularly; say at least every two 

months. 

10) Directors should be given adequate notice of meetings.

11) Agenda items, including availability of discussion material, 

should be provided prior to Board meetings to enable informed 

discussion by directors.

12) Minutes of meetings should accurately record decisions taken 

by the Board and disseminate within one week.

13) An independent corporate governance committee can be made 

in the listed company which will continuously monitor and 

oversee the Corporate Governance affairs inside the 

organizations. The Committee should include at least one 

member appointed by the regulatory body. 

14) The board should be held responsible and accountable to the 

Corporate Governance Committee in case of Corporate 

Governance affairs. The Committee can also suggest any 

change or direct the board of directors regarding how the 

entities comply with and implement the Corporate Governance 

guidelines. Finally, this will submit a report on corporate 

governance on bi-annually or yearly basis to the regulatory 

body.

15) A separate Corporate Governance Department should also be 

made in the regulatory authority i. e. DSE, BSEC to monitor 

the good practice of the guidelines.

16) The costs of supporting the Board, i. e. compensation and 

stock option, should be transparent and reported to the 

shareholders.

17) Appropriate and clearly defined performance measures, 

financial and non-financial, should be established which 

enable the efficiency and effectiveness of the organization to 

be assessed. For this purpose a Remuneration and Appraisal 

committee should be made.

A large number of companies listed in the stock 
exchange in Bangladesh pay inadequate attention 

to follow the 'rules of businesses' and full 
disclosure of information and demonstrate lack of 
corporate norms and responsibility. It is seen that 
in many areas, system did not provide adequate 

incentives and motivations in terms of legal, 
institutional or economic, for the shareholders to 

encourage and enforce good corporate 
governance. 
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18) The Board should adopt a written statement of its own 

governance principles and regularly evaluate them.

19) The Audit Committee should comprise Board members the 

majority of whom are independent of management.

20) Meeting frequency should usually be quarterly but can be more 

frequent in some circumstances.

21) The external auditor should attend at least one, preferably two, 

committee meetings each financial year.

22) The shareholder voting right, proxy right and voting procedure 

should be clearly defined.

23) The whistle blowing option should be included in the corporate 

governance guidelines and the guidelines should protect the 

whistle blower.

24) As corruption has mushroomed in all the sectors of Bangladesh 

and there is no or low moral or ethical standards in business 

practice, the regulators should go for rigorous standards for 

corporate governance. That's why the guideline should be 

made mandatory and severe punishment should be ensured for 

non-compliance.

25) The regulators can take necessary steps to critically monitor 

and check the compliance status of listed companies. If such 

monitoring is carried out by the regulators even on sample 

basis, this will give a message to those companies, where 

directors tend to unscrupulously play the game.

26) Corporate governance is a continuous process in which many 

can contribute. Everybody, who is a part of it, should play their 

role in the way they are expected of. Stockholders, auditors, 

directors and regulators should contribute to the working of 

good governance in the corporate sectors. 

27) SEC has also shortage of manpower and to some extent lacks 

skill. Compensation package of SEC staff members is similar 

to government servants. Capacity of SEC should be enhanced 

so that effectively exercise oversight on companies and 

contribute towards elevation of good corporate governance.

28) Local governments and regulators need to establish education 

programs so that good governance becomes a common 

practice in the investment community.

29) A "high powered committee" including members from 

government, regulatory agencies, companies, and ICAB 

should write a code for CG in Bangladesh.

30) Academic and professional institutions should include CG 

principles in their syllabi.
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Proposed New Guidance Aims to Improve Public Sector Governance

IFAC and CIPFA Issue Good Governance in the Public Sector-Consultation Draft for 

an International Framework

by Vincent Tophoff

Senior Technical Manager, IFAC 

Introduction

The public sector, including national, regional, and local 
governments and related governmental entities,plays a major 
role in society. In most economies, public expenditure forms 
a significant part of gross domestic product (GDP) and public 
sector entities are substantial employers and major capital 
market participants. The public sector determines, usually 
through a political process, the outcomes it wants to achieve 
and how it wants to achieve them. These include enacting 
legislation or regulations; delivering goods and services; 
redistributing income through mechanisms, such as taxation 
or social security payments; and the ownership of assets or 
entities, such as state-owned enterprises. Governments also 
play a role in promoting fairness, peace and order, and sound 
international relations.

Effective governance in the public sector leads to better 
decision making and the efficient use of resources, and 
strengthens accountability for the stewardship of those 
resources. Effective governance is characterized by robust 
scrutiny, which provides important pressuresfor improving 
public sector performance and tackling corruption. Effective 
governance can improve management, leading to more 
effective implementation of the chosen interventions, better 
service delivery, and, ultimately, better outcomes. People's 
lives are thereby improved.

The International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) and the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) recently issued a Consultation Draft for an 
International Framework on good governance in the public 
sector. Good Governance in the Public Sectorfollows an 
initial review of relevant governance literature and includes 
input from public sector governance experts.1 

This proposed Frameworkwill be important to public sector 
entities, and their stakeholders, who want to improve their 
governance at all levels across the globe. It offers a set of core 

principles for good governance in public sector entities, 
supplemented by practical implementation guidance.

The proposedFramework is not intended to replace national 
and sectoral public sector governance codes. Instead, it was 
designed as a reference for those who develop and set 
national governance codes for the public sector when 
updating and reviewing their own codes. Where codes and 
guidance do not exist, the Framework provides a shared 
understanding of what constitutes good governance in the 
public sector and a powerful stimulus for positive action.

Definition and Key Principles

In the Framework, governance is defined as the arrangements, 
including political, economic, social, environmental, 
administrative, legal, and other arrangements, put in place to 
ensure that the intended outcomes for stakeholders are 
defined and achieved. 

The Framework says the function of good governance in the 
public sector is to ensure that entities act in the public interest 
at all times, which requires:

A. Strong commitment to integrity, ethical values, and the rule 
of law; and

B.  Openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
In addition to the requirements for acting in the public 
interest, achieving good governance in the public sector also 
requires:

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, 
social, and environmental benefits;

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the 
achievement of intended outcomes;

E. Developing the capacity of the entity, including the 
capability of its leadership and the individuals within it;

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal 
control and strong public financial management; and

G. Implementing good practices in transparency and 
reporting to deliver effective accountability.

These core principles for good governance in the public sector 
are high level and bring together a number of concepts.

  1An overview of how the proposed International Framework maps to this literature is 

available on the IFAC website. Members of the International Reference Group are listed 

Good Governance in the Public Sector.
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Practical Guidance for Implementation

The Framework takes each of the principles and provides an 
explanation of the underlying rationale, together with 
supporting commentary for each of the key elements of that 
principle andsupportingsub-principles. Each principle is 
followed by practical examples and evaluation questions for 
entities to consider in assessing how they live up to the 
Framework as well as in developing action plans to make 
necessary improvements.

The Frameworkalsoincludes a limited list of relevant 
resources from CIPFA, IFAC, IFAC member bodies, and 
other relevant organizations. To access the Consultation Draft 
and submit a comment, visit the Publications and 
Resourcessection of the IFAC website at www.ifac.org. 
Comments on the consultation draft are requested by 
September 17, 2013.

About CIPFA

CIPFA is the professional body for people in public finance. 
Its 14,000 members work throughout the public services, in 

national audit agencies, in major accountancy firms, and in 
other bodies where public money needs to be effectively and 
efficiently managed.

About IFAC

IFAC is the global organization for the accountancy 
profession dedicated to serving the public interest by 
strengthening the profession and contributing to the 
development of strong international economies. IFAC is 
comprised of 173 members and associates in 129 countries 
and jurisdictions, representing approximately 2.5 million 
accountants in public practice, education, government service, 
industry, and commerce.

Copyright © July2013 by the International Federation of 
Accountants (IFAC). All rights reserved. Used with 
permission of IFAC. Contact permissions@ifac.org for 
permission to reproduce, store, or transmit this document.
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ICMAB News

National Council News

Discussion Session on ICMAB Strategic Development 
Plan 2013-2020

A Discussion Session on ICMAB Strategic Development 
Plan 2013-2020 was organized by the Institute on July 05, 
2013 at ICMAB Ruhul Quddus Auditorium, ICMA Bhaban, 
Dhaka. President Mr. AKM Delwer Hussain, FCMA, 
presided over the meeting.

The world economic order and financial discipline in the 
present days has been facing spectacular changes and 
challenges over the last decade specially in the last few years. 
In order to face this challenges, IFAC urged upon its member 

bodies to bring about possible radical changes in the education 
and examination system keeping in view of the need of the 
trade, business, commerce and the society at large.

In the South Asian Region, all the SAFA Member bodies are 
also working to update their Institutions through the process of 
capacity building and adoption new style and procedures both 
in long term and short term perspective to provide 
required accounting professional services to the 
society. 
We would like to draw your kind attention to the fact 
that in the face of national and global competition our 
profession has to make it's seat stable acquiring all 
required strength to thwart the possible weakness or 
deficiencies. You will be pleased to know that to this 
direction National Council has in the meantime 
adopted "ICMAB Strategic Development Plan 

2013-2020" for ICMAB where it's vision and mission has been 
well demonstrated. Moreover, in order to achieve those, the 
total task has been split into different phases on long term and 
short term basis. Out of those activities, some vital issues 
directly related to the professional image and development viz. 
(a) renaming of the Institute, (b) predetermination of 
qualification at the entry level, (c) revision of the number of 
examination and (d) introduction of electronic/online voting 
system of ICMAB National Council election need sharing of 
knowledge and exchange of views with general members of the 
Institute. 

The ICMAB Council Members, Past Presidents, 
Fellow & Associate Members were present in the 
session and took part in the discussion. The role of 
the Institute for the development of CMA profession, 
Cost Audit, CMA Syllabus, Class and Examination 
procedures, students' demand, reshaping of CMA 
profession in the light of international standard and 
other relevant issues were widely discussed in the 
meeting. The Members of the Institute provided 
valuable inputs and suggested for giving more 
emphasis on Strategic Plan so that members can face 
the challenges of the ever-changing world.

Among others, Vice Presidents Mr. Mohammed Salim, 
FCMA and Mr. Md. Jasim Uddin Akond, FCMA, also spoke 
on the occasion.

ICMAB delegation called on the Secretary, 
Ministry of Social Welfare 
A delegation of the Institute headed by its President Mr. 

A.K.M. Delwer Hussain FCMA called Ms. Suraiya 
Begum ndc, Secretary, Ministry of Social Welfare, 
Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh 
at his office on July 24, 2013. The ICMAB 
President apprised the Secretary of the role of Cost 
and Management Accountants in industrial sectors 
and  over all economic and financial activities of the 
Country. In this respect the delegates tried to put 
emphasis on maintenance and effective application 
of accounting standards required for establishing

m
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Branch Council NewsBranch Council News

DBC News

DBC's Training Program on "Income Tax & VAT" 

Five-days long training programs on "Income Tax & VAT" 
were organized by the DBC at ICMA Bhaban, Nilkhet, Dhaka. 
The programs were held on July 04-07, 2013 & August 18-22, 
2013. The programs presided over by DBC Chairman Mr. Md. 
Akhtaruzzaman, FCMA. The programs were moderated by 
Mohammad Alamgir, FCMA. In each program, there were ten 
technical sessions. Resource persons of the programs were 
Professor Dr. Swapan Kumar Bala, FCMA, Chief Executive 
Officer, Dhaka Stock Exchange Ltd., Mr. Ranjan Kumar 
Bhowmik, FCMA, Commissioner of Taxes, NBR, Dr. Md. 
Abdur Rouf,  First Secretary (VAT), NBR, Dhaka, Mr. Kamrul 
Hoque Maruf, ACMA, Joint Director, Central Intelligence Cell, 
NBR, Dhaka, Mr. Md. Abdur Rahman Khan, FCMA, First 
S e c r e t a r y  ( T a x ) ,  

NBR, Mr. Md. Al-Amin Pramanik, Commissioner of (Vat) , 
NBR, and Mr. Md. Lutfor Rahman, Additional Commissioner 
of Customs, NBR and Large number corporate executives 
including ICMAB members attended the training programs.

govt. policies as to accountability and transparency through 
introduction and enactment of proposed Financial Reporting 
Act. The Secretary also assured the delegates providing 
assistance and taking action in proper perspective. Among the 
delegates Vice President Md. Jasim Uddin Akond, FCMA and 
Executive Director of the Institute A.K.M Nazrul Islam FCMA 
were present.
ICMAB delegation called on the Secretary, Ministry of 
Information and Communication Technology

A delegation of the Institute ICMAB headed by its President 
AKM Delwer Hussain FCMA called Mr. Md. Nazrul Islam 
Khan, Secretary, Ministry of Information and Communication 
Technology, Government of the People's Republic of 
Bangladesh at his office on July 22, 2013.The ICMAB 
President apprised the Secretary of the role of Cost and 
Management Accountants and their contribution towards 
establishment of transparency, accountability and corporate 
governance in the business and industrial sectors of our country. 
The delegation sought active support and guidance of the 
Secretary for long range development of IT facilities of the 
institute leading to overall Professional development. The 
Secretary assured of all possible help and assistance IT in this 
regard. Among the delegates Executive Director of the Institute 
A.K.M Nazrul Islam FCMA and other Officers were present.

ICMAB delegation called on the Executive Chairman, Board 
of Investment 

A delegation of the Institute of Cost and Management 
Accountants of Bangladesh (ICMAB) headed by its President 
AKM Delwer Hussain FCMA called D. S A Samad, Executive 
Chairman, Board of Investment at his office on August 04, 2013. 
The ICMAB President apprised the Executive Chairman of the 
role of Cost and Management Accountants in industrial sectors 
and over all economic and financial activities of the Country. The 
Executive Chairman assured the delegates providing assistance 
and taking action in proper perspective. Among the delegates 
Vice Presidents Mohammed Salim FCMA, Md. Jasim Uddin 
Akond, FCMA and Executive Director of the Institute A.K.M 
Nazrul Islam FCMA were present.

Corrigendum of ICMAB News on CAPA meeting 
published in May-June 2013 issue
Under the caption of "ICMAB delegate attended CAPA Events" of 
ICMAB News column it was inadvertently published that ICMAB 
President Mr. A.K.M. Delwer Hussain, FCMA attended CAPA Board 
and other meeting/events at Vancouver, Canada which is regretted. The 
real position goes like that due to some complication and delay in visa 
processing CAPA Board and other meeting could not attended by the 
President but considering the appealing demand of the large number of 
overseas members of Canada Chapter, the President as per predetermined 
schedule had to rush to Canada to attend a bilateral meeting with them on 
some vital professional issues. At that time the President also met CMA 
President, Torento, Canada to discuss on professional other matters. It is 
felt that the visit of the President, ICMAB to Canada was very timely and 
contributory to the decision making process in respect of some vital 
Strategic Planning of the Institute. 
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Discussion Session on "Business Ethics: The 
Perspective of Islam, Mahe Ramadan" and Iftar Party

The DBC of the Institute organized a discussion session on 
"Business Ethics: The Perspective of Islam, Mahe Ramadan" 
and Iftar Party on July 27, 2013 at ICMA Bhaban, Nilkhet, 
Dhaka. Prof. Dr. A.N.M. Raisuddin, Department of Islamic 
Studies and Prof. Dr. Md. Abdul Hannan Mia, FCMA, 

Department of Management Information Systems of Dhaka 
University sciences was present as the Guest Speaker and Key 
Resource Person. The program was presided over by DBC 
Chairman Mr. Md. Akhtaruzzaman, FCMA. The President, 
Vice-Presidents, Council Members and Past Presidents of 
ICMAB, Past Chairmen, current office bearers and other 
council members of DBC and a large member of fellow and 
associate members of ICMAB were present on the occasion. 
The discussion session was followed by an Iftar party.

IFRS Learning Model Launching program'13

The Dhaka Branch Council (DBC) of ICMAB organized 
IFRS Learning Model Launching Program'13 and Study 
Material Distribution among the learners on August 04, 2013 
at ICMA Bhaban, Nilkhet, Dhaka. Mr. Md. Akhtaruzzaman 
FCMA, Chairman of DBC presided over the session. 
Muhammad Zahangir Alam ACA, ACMA spoke on the 
session as the Resource Person. Mr. Zillur Rahman, ACMA 
gave the welcome address and introduced the Resource 
Person. A good number of members were present and 
actively participated in the session. 

DBC's Training Program on "Project Management" 
Two-days training programs on "Project Management" was 
organized by the DBC at ICMA Bhaban. The programs were 

held on August 16 & 17, 2013. The programs were 
moderated by DBC Treasurer Mr. Md. Mushfiqur Rahman 
FCMA. In the program, there were seven technical sessions. 
Resource persons of the programs were Ms. Shamima 
Begum , PMP (PMI, USA), CSSBB (ASQ, USA) TQM 
(Japan), & Mr. Mohammad Nizam Uddin FCMA, Director-
Finance & OE, LM Ericsson Bangladesh Limited and Large 
number corporate executives including ICMAB members 
attended the training programs.

Discussion Session and Do'a Mahfil on the occasion 
of National Mourning Day-2013
On August 21, 2013 DBC organized Discussion Session and 
Do'a Mahfil on the occasion of National Mourning Day-
2013" at ICMAB Ruhul Quddus Auditorium, Nilkhet, 
Dhaka. Md. Akhtaruzzaman, FCMA Chairman of DBC 
presided over the program. Mr. Hasanul Haq Inu, M.P, 
Hon'ble Minister, Ministry of Information, Govt. of the 
People's Republic of Bangladesh was present in the program 
as the Chief Guest. Mr. M. Hamid, Director General, 
Bangladesh Television was present in the program as 
Special Guest. Mr. Rafiq Ahmad FCMA, Past President of 
the Institute was present in the program as Chief discussant. 
Among others Institute's President Mr. A.K.M. Delwer 
Hussain FCMA spoke in the program. They gave a brief 
overview of the checkered life-sketch of the Father of the 
Nation Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman. DBC 
Council Member Mr. Abdur Rahman Khan, FCMA gave the 
Vote of thanks. A large numbers of members & students of 
the Institute were present in the program.
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CBC News
4th CPD & Iftar Mahfil

Chittagong Branch Council (CBC) of ICMAB organized its 
4th CPD Program on 2nd August 2013 on the topic "Salient 
Features of Bank Company Act, Recent Amendments & 
Issues" at Silver Spoon Restaurant,  Agrabad, Chittagong. 
Mr. Md. Nader Khan, Chairman, the Prime Bank Ltd. 
attended the program as Chief Guest while Mr. A.K.M. 
Delwer Hussain, FCMA, President, ICMAB was present as 
Guest of Honor. Mr. Imtiaz Alam, ACA, FCMA, Past 
Chairman CBC & CFO Mostafa Group of Industries, 
Chittagong presented the paper.

Mr. Ahmad Dawood, FCA, FCMA Chairman, Chittagong 
Branch Council and Chief Financial Officer, Chittagong 
Stock Exchange Ltd. chaired the program. Welcoming the 
guests & members, he highlighted the importance of the 
topic for the professional development of the members as 
well as in national economy. In his paper, Mr. Imtiaz Alam 
highlighted banking regulations and recent amendments 
thereon and made valuable observations thereon. Mr. Shaifur 
Rahman Mazumder, FCA, FCMA and Mr. Mohammad 
Shahed, FCA, FCMA also made valuable comments on the 
topic. The ICMAB President Mr. A.K.M. Delwer Hussain, 
FCMA lauded the initiative of CBC. He highlighted the role 
of the members of ICMAB at home and abroad in the field 
of trade and commerce including bank and financial sector. 
In his speech, the Chief Guest Mr. Md. Nader Khan, 
Chairman highly appreciated the role of ICMAB for 
spreading knowledge in the society. He particularly thanked 
the paper presenter and commentators and agreed with their 
views on the subject. Mr. Mohammed Nurul Huda 

Siddiquee, FCMA, Secretary, Chittagong Branch Council 
conducted the whole program. Qazi Abul Kashem, FCMA 
Chairman, CPD Committee of CBC offered vote of thanks. 
The session was followed by an Iftar Mahfil.

Class Orientation Program of ICMAB, Chittagong 
Branch for July-December 2013 session 

The class Orientation Program of Foundation Level for July-
December, 2013 session of Chittagong Branch of CMAB 
was held on 23rd August 2013 at CMA Bhaban, Agrabad, 
Chittagong. Mr. Ahmad Dawood FCA, FCMA, Chairman, 
Chittagong Branch Council presided the Orientation 
Program and greeted the audience with his address of 
welcome. Mr. A.K.M. Delwer Hussain, FCMA, President, 
ICMAB honored the occasion as Chief Guest & Mr. 
Mohammed Salim, FCMA & Mr. Md. Jasim Uddin Akond, 
FCMA, Vice Presidents were present as Special Guests 
while Mr. Arif Khan, CFA, FCMA, Secretary was present as  
Guest of Honor. A good number of Chittagong based 
members as well as newly admitted students and senior 
CMA students were present on the occasion. Some of the 
Fellow Member gave valuable speech in order to motivate 
the students for further advancement and advised them to be 
attentive about their studies. The Chief Guest in his speech 
said that all FCMAs & ACMAs in Bangladesh are playing 
crucial role in commerce, industries as well as whole 
economy in the society. He advised the students to take this 
profession with due importance. Mr. Farid Uddin Ahmed, 
FCMA introduced the members with the newly admitted 
students. Finally, the vote of thanks was offered by Mr. 
Mohammed Monoarul Hoque, ACMA, Vice Chairman, 
Chittagong Branch Council. The whole function was nicely 
conducted by Mr. Mohammed Nurul Huda Siddiquee, 
FCMA, Secretary, Chittagong Branch Council.

Discussion Program with the Deputy 
Commissioner, Chittagong 

ICMAB Chittagong Branch Council arranged a discussion 
program with the Deputy Commissioner, Chittagong on the 
31st August, 2013 with Chittagong Based members of the 
Institute. Mr. Md. Abdul Mannan, Deputy Commissioner, 
Chittagong attend the Program as Chief Gust and Mr. 
A.K.M. Delwer Hossain, FCMA President-ICMAB attended



the program as Special Guest. Mr. Ahmad Dawood, FCA, 
FCMA, Chairman-CBC presided over the meeting and 
welcomed the guest and members. Senior member Mr. Md. 
Salamat Ullah, FCMA greeted the Chief Guest by presenting 
a flower bouquet on behalf of ICMAB members of 
Chittagong region. A good number of Fellow & Associate 
members of Chittagong region of the Institute attended the 
discussion program. Among other, Mr. Md. Mohiuddin, 
FCMA, Past President, Mr. M. Solaiman, FCMA spoke on 
the occasion. They draw the attention of the Chief Guest on 
various issues of CMA and of its Chittagong Branch. In the 
discussion program special guest Mr. A.K.M. Delwer 
Hossain, FCMA President-ICMAB, pointed out some 
important issues relating to ICMAB and ICMA Chittagong 
Branch for consideration of the Chief Guest. The Chief 
Guest in his speech point out that, to ensure transparency 
and accountability ICMAB members can play a vital role. It 
is also our constitutional duty to ensure accountability, he 
added. He assured that he will extend all kinds of support 
and cooperation for the development of the institute. At the 
end of discussion program, Mr. A.K.M. Delwer Hossain, 
FCMA President-ICMAB presented a crest to the Chief 
Guest. The CBC Chairman Mr. Ahmad Dawood, FCA, 
FCMA presented a mementos to the Chief Guest on behalf 
of CBC.

KBC News

KBC Fellowship Night 2013

KBC of the Institute organized the Fellowship Night at Hotel 
Royal In'l, Khulna on June 06, 2013. KBC Chairman Mr. 
Md. Mokbul Ahmed, FCMA, presided over the program. 
Mr. AKM Delwer Hussain, FCMA President of the Institute 

graced the occasion as the Chief Guest. Institute's Vice 
President, Mr. Md. Jasim Uddin Akond, FCMA, Engineer 
Md. Abul Kalam Azad, Managing Director, WZPDCL, and 
Mr. Anisuzzaman, Manager, Prime Bank Ltd., Khulna 
Branch were present as Special Guests. Members of ICMAB 
residing in Khulna region and their spouses were present in 
the program.

Iftar Party
KBC arranged an Iftar Party on August, 02, 2013 at CMA 
Bhaban, Khulna. KBC Chairman, Mr. Md. Mokbul Ahmed, 

FCMA presided over the program. Office Bearers and Faculty
of Branch and students were also present in the Iftar Party. A
discussion was also held on the importance of Holy Ramadan.

Member's AchievementMember's Achievement

Prof. Md. Salim Uddin has been appointed as 
Independent Director of Premier Bank Limited

Prof. Md. Salim Uddin, FCMA, a 
fellow member of ICMAB, has 
recently been appointed as Independent 
Director of Premier Bank Ltd. He is 
also Independent Director of 
Chittagong Stock Exchange. Prof. 
Salim is also a fellow member of 
ICAB. He is a faculty member in the 
Department of Accounting & 
Information Systems, University of 
Chittagong. He did MBA from the 

University of Brussels the grade of distinction. He has been 
working as Financial Consultant/Adviser in different 
organisations since 1993 and gathered vast experiences in 
the fields of designing accounting system, project 
management, project financing through debt and equity, 
business negotiation and regulatory compliance.
His main areas of interest are International Accounting, 
IAS/IFRS, Forensic Accounting, Creative Accounting and 
Capital Market. He has more than fifty research publications 
at home and abroad in various fields of Accounting and 
Finance.
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Studnets' Section

Passed Professional Level-IV: 1510, 1705, 1830, 2214, 2263 =05.

Passed Professional Level-III: 1518, 1596, 1681, 1863, 2093, 2110, 2199, 

2211, 2218, 2224, 2263, 2361, 2366, 4700 = 14.

Passed Professional Level-II: 1572, 1611, 1819, 1931, 2054, 2275, 2334, 2593, 

2722, 2729, 2807, 2833, 2892, 2988, 3238, 4537, 4593 = 17.

Passed Professional Level-I: 1530, 2466, 2756, 3089, 3368, 3371, 3505, 4514, 

4518, 4762 =10.

Passed Foundation Level: 2024, 2228, 2236, 2320, 2459, 2485, 2532, 2577, 

2621, 2663, 2840, 2941, 2993, 3018, 3064, 3080, 3082, 3106, 3207, 3265, 

3274, 3304, 3307, 3326, 3339, 3354, 3382, 3388, 3391, 3394, 3416, 3435, 

3464, 3467, 3509, 3531, 3533, 3563, 3600, 3624, 3625, 3646, 3668, 3669, 

3678, 3679, 3682, 3691, 4631, 4690, 4704, 4727, 4733, 4746, 4754, 4769, 

4772, 4817, 5532, 5549, 5556, 7528 = 62.

Mr. Abul Basar 

(2214)

Mr. Md. Nizam Uddin

(4700)

Mr. Md. Tipu Sultan

(2263)

 Mr. Md. Atiqur Rahman

(1510)
Mr. Md. Aktaruzzaman

(1596)

Mr. M. M. Al-Imran

(1705)

Mr. Mohammad Ansar  Ahammed

(1830)

Mr. Mohammad Azharul Islam

(2110)

Mr. Abu Zafar Md. Abdulla

(2093)

   Students News and Announcements

CMA  April-2013 Examination Results

The Institute has published the results of the CMA April-2013 Examination held at Dhaka, Chittagong, Khulna, Rajshahi & 
Comilla & Doha(Qatar) centers. The Names & Roll numbers of the students who have passed CMA Final Examination and 
the roll numbers of the students who have passed different Levels are given below:

Passed CMA Final Examination:



The Cost and Management, July-August, 201356

Discipline
Discipline in corporate governance means that the senior 
management should be aware of and committed to adhere to 
behavior that is universally recognized as correct and proper.

Transparency
Transparency is the measure of how easy it is for outsiders 
to find out and analyze a company's financial and non-
financial fundamentals. Companies should make this 
information available in timely and accurate press releases to 
give outsiders a true picture of what is happening within the 
company.

Independence
For good corporate governance, it is important that all 
decisions are made objectively with the best interest of the 
enterprise in mind and without any undue influence from 
large shareholders or an overbearing chief executive officer. 
This requires putting in place mechanisms such as having a 
diversified board of directors and external auditors to avoid 
any potential conflict of interest.

Accountability
People who make decisions in a company must be held 
accountable for their decisions and mechanisms must exist 
to allow effective accountability. In public companies, 
investors hold individuals running the company accountable 
for their actions by carrying out routine inquiries to assess 
the actions of the board.

Responsibility
In a corporation, managerial responsibility means that the 
management be responsible for their behavior and have 
means for penalizing the mismanagement. It also means 
putting in place a system that puts the company on the right 
path when things go wrong.

Fairness
The company must be fair and balanced and take into the 
account the interest of all of the company's stakeholders. In 
this sense, the rights of each of the groups of stakeholders 
must be recognized and respected.

Social Responsibility
A well-managed company must also be ethical and be 
responsible with regard to environmental and human rights 
issues. As such, a socially responsible company would be 
non-exploitative and non-discriminatory.

Read more: http://www.ehow.com/info_8371727_seven-
characteristics-good-corporate-governance.html#ixzz2fb3MSfz4

Seven Characteristics of Good Corporate Governance

By Kunal Kunal, eHow Contributor

In 1992, the King Committee of Corporate Governance was formed in South Africa with the intent 
of laying down recommendations for highest standards in corporate governance with a South 
African perspective. The Committee published its first report in 1994 which established 
recommended standards for the board of directors of certain listed companies. In 2002, the second 
King's report was published which updated the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct. The 
second King's report also listed seven characteristics of good corporate governance. 






